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APPENDIX 4E – PRELIMINARY FINAL REPORT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

The Directors of Link Administration Holdings Limited (Company) (ASX: LNK) present the results of Link Group 
(Link Administration Holdings Limited and its controlled entities) for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 as 
follows: 

Results for announcement to the market 30 June 
 2020 
$’000 

30 June 
 20191 
$’000 

Revenue from ordinary activities Down (12%) 1,230,401 1,403,465 

(Loss)/Profit from ordinary activities after tax Down (136%)2 (113,898) 318,140 

(Loss)/Profit for the period attributable to owners 
of the Company Down (137%)2 (115,996) 316,892 

Earnings per share 

Basic earnings (cents per share) (21.81) 59.59 

Diluted earnings (cents per share) (21.67) 59.30 

Net tangible assets3 

Net tangible assets per security (cents per share) (7) 11

Link Group defines net tangible assets as net assets less intangible assets.  A large proportion of Link Group’s 
assets are classified as intangible assets including goodwill, client lists, software and deferred tax assets (net of 
deferred tax liabilities).  Intangible assets have been excluded from the calculation of net tangible assets, resulting 
in a negative net tangible asset per security. 

Dividends 

Dividends paid by the Company during the financial year ended 30 June 2020 were: 

Cents per 
share 

Total 
amount 

Franked/ 
Unfranked 

Record date Payment date 

Final 2019 
Interim 2020 

12.5 
6.5 

$66,743,828 
$34,503,849 

Franked at 100% 
Franked at 100% 

5 September 2019 
5 March 2020 

10 October 2019 
9 April 2020 

On 27 August 2020, the Directors of Link Group approved a final dividend of $18,561,496, which equates to 3.5 
cents per share, franked at 50% in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2020. A provision has not been 
recognised in the financial statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 as the dividend approval is 
considered a subsequent event.  The record date for determining entitlements to the dividend is 2 September 
2020.  Payment of the Final Dividend will occur on 25 September 2020. 

Link Administration Holdings Limited 
ABN 27 120 964 098 



The Link Group Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) will operate in respect of the 2020 final dividend. The DRP 
election deadline is 3 September 2020. 

On-Market Buy-Back 
On 27 August 2020, the Board resolved to cease the on-market buy-back announced to the ASX on 29 August 
2019. 

Commentary on results for the period 

Commentary in relation to operating performance, earnings per share, segment results, returns to shareholders 
and trends in performance can be found in the attached Annual Financial Report, which includes the Directors’ 
Report (predominantly the Operating and Financial Review section) and audited financial statements. 

Additional commentary on results for the period can be found in the Media Release and Investor Presentation 
also announced to ASX today (27 August 2020). 

Other information 

The information in this Appendix 4E should be read in conjunction with Link Group’s attached Annual Financial 
Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020, which includes the financial statements.  The financial 
statements have been audited by KPMG. 

Entrance to UK pension market - Smart Pension Limited 

On 13 November 2019, Link Group announced a strategic global partnership and minority investment in Smart 
Pension – a leading UK workplace pension provider. As at 30 June 2020, the partnership included Link Group 
acquiring an ownership interest of 17.4% in Smart Pension Limited for £37.0 million (£40 million, net of £3 million 
allocated to the purchase of Link Pension Administration Limited (formerly Smart Pension Administration 
Limited)). Link Group’s investment in Smart Pension provides Link Group with access to Smart Pension’s platform 
in the UK, with exclusive utilisation of this platform in certain jurisdictions across Europe and Asia. Link Group has 
taken on the administration for Smart’s UK workplace pension operation, including the administration of the fast 
growing Smart Pension Master Trust. 

Acquisition of Pepper European Servicing 

On 31 January 2020, Link Group entered into a binding agreement to acquire Pepper European Servicing (PES) 
from Pepper Group for an upfront consideration of $277 million, with a further €35 million deferred consideration 
payable dependent on PES meeting certain thresholds and growth milestones. PES provides end-to-end loan 
servicing, advisory and asset management services across both residential and commercial segments in the UK, 
Ireland and continental Europe. The transaction is subject to mandatory regulatory approvals. 

Further information about the results is included in the Full Year Results Presentation and can be obtained via the 
ASX website or by visiting the Link Group website at www.linkgroup.com. 

1 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. 
2 Decrease largely attributable to the impairment loss relating goodwill in the current year of $107.8 million. The comparative period is also higher 
as it includes a one-off $124.3 million after-tax gain on revaluation of Link Group’s investment in PEXA, and a one-off $107.4 million profit on the 
sale of the Corporate and Private Client Services (CPCS) business on 28 June 2019. 
3 The net tangible assets for the year ended 30 June 2020 include right-of-use assets as defined by AASB 16. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

DIRECTORS AND COMPANY SECRETARIES 

The Directors present their report together with the consolidated financial statements of Link Group, being Link 
Administration Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its Controlled Entities, for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 
and the auditor’s report thereon. 

The Directors of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

DIRECTOR EXPERIENCE AND BACKGROUND 

Michael Carapiet 
Independent Chair and 
Non‑Executive Director 

Appointed 26.06.2015 

Michael Carapiet was appointed as a Director and Chair of the Company in 2015. He is an 
ex-officio member of all Board Committees. 

Michael is Chair of Insurance & Care NSW (icare), Smartgroup Corporation Limited and 
Adexum Capital Limited. He was previously Chair of SAS Trustee Corporation and a 
Director of Southern Cross Media Group Limited. 

Michael has also served on Commonwealth Government boards including Infrastructure 
Australia, Clean Energy Finance Corporation and Export Finance Insurance Corporation. 

Michael has over 30 years of experience in banking and financial services and holds 
a Master of Business Administration from Macquarie University, Sydney. 

John McMurtrie, AM 
Managing Director 

Appointed 16.02.2007 

John McMurtrie joined Link Group in 2002 as Managing Director. 

John has over 40 years of business experience, more than 35 of which have been in the 
financial services industry, covering both the public and private sectors.  

John’s previous senior appointments include Executive General Manager of ASX’s 
Investors and Companies division and Chief Executive Officer of UBS Australia. He was 
previously Chair of Sydney Water Corporation and was the inaugural Chair of the National 
Electricity Code Administrator (NECA). 

John holds a Master of Economics and Bachelor of Economics (Hons) from the University 
of Adelaide. In January 2019, John was awarded a Member of the Order of Australia for 
significant service to the community through philanthropic initiatives, and to the finance 
industry. 

On 7 August 2020, Link Group announced that John will retire as Executive and Managing 
Director in early 2021. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

DIRECTOR EXPERIENCE AND BACKGROUND 

Glen Boreham, AM 
Independent 
Non‑Executive Director 

Appointed 23.09.2015 

Glen Boreham was appointed a Non‑Executive Director of the Company in 2015. He is 
Chair of the Technology & Operations Committee and a member of the Human Resources 
and Remuneration Committee. 

Glen is a Director of Cochlear Limited and Southern Cross Media Group Limited and 
Chair of the Advisory Board of IXUP Limited. 

Previously, Glen was the Managing Director of IBM Australia and New Zealand. He has 
also previously served as Chair of Screen Australia, Advance and the Industry Advisory 
Board for the University of Technology, Sydney, as well as Deputy Chair of the Australian 
Information Industry Association and as a Director of the Australian Chamber Orchestra. 

Glen holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Sydney and an Honorary 
Doctorate from the University of Technology Sydney. In January 2012, Glen was awarded 
a Member of the Order of Australia for services to business and the arts. 

Andrew (Andy) 
Green, CBE 
Independent 
Non‑Executive Director 

Appointed 09.03.2018 

Andy Green was appointed a Non‑Executive Director of the Company in 2018. He is Chair 
of the Risk Committee and a member of the Technology & Operations Committee. 

Andy is Chair of Simon Midco Ltd the holding company of Lowell Group and Senior 
Independent Director of Airtel Africa plc. 

He is a Commissioner at the UK’s National Infrastructure Commission and Vice Chair of 
The Disasters Emergency Committee and a trustee of WWF UK. 

Andy’s earlier career at BT Group (formerly British Telecom) spanned more than 20 years, 
including as CEO of Global Services. He also previously served as Group Chief Executive 
of IT and management consultancy company Logica plc, and as Senior Independent 
Director at ARM Holdings plc. 

Andy holds a Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering with first class honours from 
Leeds University. 

Peeyush Gupta, AM 
Independent 
Non‑Executive Director 

Appointed 18.11.2016 

Peeyush Gupta was appointed Non‑Executive Director of the Company in 2016. He is a 
member of each of the Risk and Audit Committees. 

With over 30 years of experience in the wealth management industry, Peeyush was 
previously co-founder and the inaugural CEO of IPAC Securities Limited, a wealth 
management firm spanning financial advice and institutional portfolio management. He 
has extensive corporate governance experience, having served as a Director on listed 
corporate, not-for-profit, trustee and responsible entity boards since the 1990s. 

Peeyush is currently the Chair of Charter Hall Direct Property Management Limited and 
Long Wale REIT and a Non‑Executive Director of National Australia Bank, Insurance 
& Care NSW (icare), SBS and Quintessence Labs Pty Ltd. He is also a member of the 
Western Sydney University Board of Trustees. 

Peeyush holds a Masters of Business Administration (Finance) from the Australian Graduate 
School of Management and has completed the Advanced Management Program at Harvard 
Business School. He is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. In January 
2019, Peeyush was awarded a Member of the Order of Australia for significant service 
to business, and to the community, through governance and philanthropic roles. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

DIRECTOR EXPERIENCE AND BACKGROUND 

Anne McDonald 
Independent 
Non‑Executive Director 

Appointed 15.07.2016 

Anne McDonald was appointed a Non‑Executive Director of the Company in 2016. She is 
a member of each of the Audit Committee and Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee. 

Previously a partner at Ernst & Young for 15 years, Anne has over 35 years of business 
experience in finance accounting, auditing, risk management and governance. She is an 
experienced director and has pursued a fulltime career as a Non‑Executive Director since 
2006. 

Anne is the Chair of Water New South Wales, a Non‑Executive Director of St Vincent’s 
Health Australia Limited and a Non-Executive Director of Transport Asset Holdings Entity 
of New South Wales. She was previously Chair of Specialty Fashion Group, and 
a Non‑Executive Director of Spark Infrastructure Group, GPT Group and a number 
of other businesses. 

Anne is a Chartered Accountant, a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of Sydney. 

Sally Pitkin 
Independent 
Non‑Executive Director 

Appointed 23.09.2015 

Dr Sally Pitkin was appointed a Non‑Executive Director of the Company in 2015. She is 
Chair of the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee and a member of the Risk 
Committee. 

Sally has 20 years of experience as a Non‑Executive Director and board member across 
a wide range of industries in both private and public sectors, including listed companies, 
highly regulated industries, professional services and commercialisation of new 
technology. 

Sally is Chair of Super Retail Group Limited and a Non‑Executive Director of The Star 
Entertainment Group Limited. She is also a Directors of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and a Member of the Senate of the University of Queensland. 

Formerly a senior corporate partner at a national legal firm, Sally has extensive corporate 
and banking law experience. She holds a PhD in Governance from the University 
of Queensland and a Master and Bachelor of Laws from the Queensland University 
of Technology.  

Fiona 
Trafford‑Walker 
Independent 
Non‑Executive Director 

Appointed 23.09.2015 

Fiona Trafford-Walker was appointed a Non‑Executive Director of the Company in 2015. 
She is Chair of the Audit Committee and a member of the Technology & Operations 
Committee. 

Fiona was most recently an Investment Director at Frontier Advisors (Frontier). She was 
the inaugural Managing Director at Frontier and held that role for 11 years until 2011 when 
she became the Director of Consulting until 2017. Fiona played a critical role in growing 
Frontier and has over 28 years of experience in advising institutional investors on 
investment and governance-related issues. 

Fiona is a Director of Perpetual Limited and Prospa Group Ltd, and Chair of Prospa’s 
Audit and Risk committee. Fiona is also a Director of Victorian Funds Management 
Corporation.  

Fiona holds a Master of Finance from RMIT University and a Bachelor of Economics from 
James Cook University. Fiona is also a Graduate of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

Company Secretaries 
Janine Rolfe was appointed General Counsel and Joint Company Secretary on 1 May 2017. Link Group announced that 
Janine resigned as Joint Company Secretary on 5 August 2020, but will continue as General Counsel until 2021. In 
2006, Janine established Company Matters Pty Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Link Group, a leading governance 
and company secretarial service consultancy. Prior to this, Janine was a company secretary and legal counsel at Qantas 
Airways Limited and before that a solicitor at Mallesons Stephen Jaques (now King & Wood Mallesons). Janine holds 
a Bachelor of Economics and a Bachelor of Laws (Hons) from the University of Sydney. 

Emma Lawler was appointed Joint Company Secretary on 13 May 2019. Emma has more than 20 years’ corporate 
governance and company secretarial experience in public and private, listed and unlisted entities. Emma’s previous role 
was Senior Governance Consultant with Company Matters Pty Limited. Emma’s roles prior to joining Company Matters 
in 2008, included Head of Strategy & Consolidation Risk Solutions, BT Financial Group, Company Secretary at Westpac 
Banking Corporation and Company Secretary for the former NSW State Rail Authority. Emma holds a Bachelor of 
Business from the University of Technology and a Graduate Diploma of Applied Corporate Governance. Emma is also 
a Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

Directors’ Meetings 
The number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of Directors) and number of meetings attended by each of the Directors of the Company during the 
financial year are: 

BOARD 
RISK AND AUDIT 

COMMITTEE 1 
RISK 

COMMITTEE 1 
AUDIT 

COMMITTEE 1 

HUMAN RESOURCES 
AND REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE 

TECHNOLOGY AND 
OPERATIONS 
COMMITTEE 

NOMINATION 
COMMITTEE 

H A H A H A H A H A H A H A 

M Carapiet 2 14 14 - 2* 2 2 2 2 5 5 3 3 1 1 

J McMurtrie 14 13 - 2* - 2* - 2* - 5* - 3* 1 - 

G Boreham 14 14 - 2* - - - - 5 5 3 3 1 1 

A Green 14 14 - 2* 2 2 - 2* - 5* 2 3* 1 1 

P Gupta 14 14 2 2 2 2 2 2 - 3* - 1* 1 1 

A McDonald  14 14 2 2 - 2* 2 2 3 5* - 3* 1 1 

S Pitkin 14 14 2 2 2 2 - 2* 5 5 - 2* 1 1 

F Trafford-Walker 14 14 2 2 - 2* 2 2 - 5* 3 3 1 1 

H Number of meetings held during the period in which the Director or Committee Member was appointed to the Board or Committee. 
A Number of meetings attended by the Director. All Directors are entitled to attend Committee meetings in an ex-officio capacity and attendance in an ex-officio capacity has been noted with an asterisk (*). 

The Managing Director, John McMurtrie is a Member of the Nomination Committee but is not a Member of any other Committee given he is an Executive Director. 

The Board also convenes Special Committee meetings from time to time as may be required. There were two special purpose Board Committee meetings held during 
the year.  The members were Michael Carapiet and John McMurtrie who both attended each meeting. 

1 The Risk & Audit Committee was replaced with a separate Risk Committee and Audit Committee effective 1 December 2019. Committee membership was also changed at this time.  
2 Michael Carapiet is an ex-officio member of each of the Board Committees and a member of the Nominations Committee.
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01 Directors’ Report 

EXECUTIVE KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP) 

The Executive KMP of the Company at any time during or since the end of the financial year are: 

CONTINUING EXECUTIVE KMP  EXPERIENCE AND BACKGROUND 

John McMurtrie, AM 
Managing Director 

See Directors section for more detail. 

Andrew MacLachlan 
Chief Financial Officer 

Andrew MacLachlan was appointed Chief Financial Officer on 1 January 2019. 

Andrew joined Link Group in 2009 and was Deputy Chief Financial Officer from 2013 to 
2018. 

Andrew has over 25 years’ of experience in Finance and Accounting. His previous roles 
include Chief Financial Officer at Fero Group Pty Limited, Chief Financial Officer at Evans 
and Tate Limited and various roles at Singtel Optus and KPMG. 

Andrew is a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand and holds 
a Bachelor of Economics (Accounting and Finance) from Macquarie University. 

Paul Gardiner 
Chief Technology 
& Operations Officer 

Paul Gardiner was appointed Chief Technology & Operations Officer in 2019. 

Prior to this Paul was CEO of both Corporate Markets and Technology & Innovation. 
Paul joined Link Group in 2006 when Orient Capital was acquired by Link Group from 
ASX Limited. 

Paul has over 15 years’ of experience in operations, data analytics and digital technology, 
having joined Orient Capital in 2001. 

Paul holds a Bachelor of Commerce and a Higher Diploma in Marketing Practice from the 
National University of Ireland, Galway and a Masters of Business Studies (Management 
Information Systems) from University College, Dublin. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

CONTINUING EXECUTIVE KMP  EXPERIENCE AND BACKGROUND 

Chris Addenbrooke 
Chief Executive Officer, Fund 
Solutions 

Chris Addenbrooke was appointed as Global Chief Executive Officer of Fund Solutions in 
July 2019. Prior to this Chris was CEO of the fund solutions business having joined Link 
Group in November 2017 when Capita Asset Services was acquired by Link Group from 
Capita plc. 

Previous positions include Technical Director of BWD Rensburg (now part of Franklin 
Templeton) from 1987 to 2001. In 1988 Chris formed both Northern Registrars and 
Northern Administration and was Managing Director until 2003. Following the acquisition 
of Northern Administration and Northern Registrars by Capita, Chris was appointed CEO 
of Capita Registrars. 

Chris has over 30 years in financial services, operations, IT, transfer agency, registration 
and fund governance, having joined the Water Authorities Superannuation Fund in 1979. 

Chris represents Link Group on a number of industry committees including the UK 
Markets Advisory Group and the TA Forum. 

Robbie Hughes 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Banking & Credit 
Management 

Robbie Hughes is the Chief Executive Officer of Banking & Credit Management. Robbie 
joined Link Group in November 2017 when Capita Asset Services was acquired by Link 
Group from Capita plc. 

Robbie has over 30 years’ experience in the financial services industry, which began in 
the pensions industry before moving to banking. His previous roles include Managing 
Director at Capmark Services, which was acquired by Capita PLC in 2009, where his 
focus was on growth through international expansion and acquisitions. He also held senior 
positions at GMAC Commercial Mortgage Europe, and Bank of Ireland. 

Robbie holds a Master of Business Administration from Dublin City University. 

Dee McGrath 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Retirement & Superannuation 
Solutions 

Dee McGrath joined Link Group as Chief Executive Officer of Retirement & 
Superannuation Solutions in May 2019. 

Dee has over 20 years’ of experience in the financial services and technology industry. 
Dee’s previous senior appointments include National Australia Bank, Visa and HP, 
and prior to joining Link Group was Managing Partner, Global Business Services at IBM. 

Dee was a Member of the Board of IBM Australia, Bluewolf Australia and Oniqua 
Holdings. Dee‘s qualifications include business studies, economics and strategic planning 
and is currently a member of Chief Executive Women. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

CONTINUING EXECUTIVE KMP  EXPERIENCE AND BACKGROUND 

Lysa McKenna 
Co-Chief Executive Officer, 
Corporate Markets 

Lysa McKenna was appointed Co-Chief Executive Officer of Corporate Markets in 
January 2020. 

Lysa joined Link Group in 2006 and was Chief Executive Officer of Link Market Services 
from 2017 to 2019, before taking overall responsibility of Corporate Markets, Asia Pacific 
in 2019. 

Lysa has over 20 years’ experience in the financial services industry, including positions 
at Computershare, Doyle Pension Management and Mercer. 

Lysa is a Qualified Financial Advisor (QFA) and Fellow of the Life Insurance Association 
of Ireland, and a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD). Lysa 
holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences, Politics and Social Policy and a Higher Diploma in 
Business Studies, from University College Dublin. 

Susan Ring 
Co-Chief Executive Officer, 
Corporate Markets 

Susan Ring was appointed Co-Chief Executive Officer of Corporate Markets in January 
2020. 

Susan joined Link Group in November 2018. Her entire career has been in the financial 
services industry, with over 25 years’ experience across insurance, pensions, and 
employee benefits. Her previous roles include Chief Executive Officer at Capita Employee 
Solutions and Unum Limited. 

Susan holds a BA (Hons) Degree and is professionally qualified as a Chartered Director, a 
Fellow of the Institute of Directors and also Pensions Management Institute. 

EXECUTIVES THAT CEASED 
TO BE KMP EXPERIENCE AND BACKGROUND 

Anthony O’Keeffe 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Link Asset Services 

Anthony O’Keeffe was the Chief Executive Officer of Link Asset Services (LAS) and held 
the position until 30 June 2019. 

Anthony joined Link Group in November 2017 when Capita Asset Services was acquired 
by Link Group from Capita plc. 

Anthony has over 25 years’ of experience in the financial services industry via his 
previous employment with Royal & Sun Alliance and subsequently Capita. He previously 
sat on the Capita plc Executive Board as Executive Officer of Capita Asset Services. 

Anthony holds a BA (Hons) Degree in Business Studies and is professionally qualified 
as a member of the Institute of Internal Auditors. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

Link Group’s principal activities during the course of the financial year were connecting people with their assets including 
equities, pension and superannuation, investments, property and other financial assets. Link Group does this by 
partnering with thousands of financial market participants to deliver services, solutions and technology platforms that 
enhance the user experience and make scaled administration simple. 

There were no significant changes in the nature of the activities of Link Group during the year. 

DIVIDENDS 

Dividends paid by the Company during the financial year were: 

CENTS PER SHARE TOTAL AMOUNT FRANKED/UNFRANKED DATE OF PAYMENT 

Final 2019 12.5 $66,743,828 100% franked 10.10.2019 
Interim 2020 6.5 $34,503,849 100% franked 09.04.2020 

In addition, dividends approved or paid by the Company since the end of the financial year were $18,561,496, which 
equates to 3.5 cents per share, 50% franked. The record date for determining entitlements to the final dividend is 2 
September 2020. Payment of the final dividend will occur on 25 September 2020. 

The Link Group Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRP) will operate in respect of the 2020 final dividend. The DRP election 
deadline is 3 September 2020. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

The net loss of Link Group for the financial year was $113.9 million (2019: net profit of $318.1 million 3). 

Operating EBITDA, which excludes certain significant items, for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 was $293.8 
million (2019: $394.6 million 3). A reconciliation of Operating EBITDA to the net profit of Link Group is included in Note 4 
to the financial statements and further explanation of the results is included in the Operating and Financial Review 
section within this report.  

Operating NPATA, which excludes certain significant items and acquired amortisation, for the financial year ended 
30 June 2020 was $144.0 million (2019: $197.8 million 3).  

Notwithstanding the net loss after tax, Link Group showed resilience in response to the challenges brought on by the 
COVID-19 pandemic across all global markets.  During this period, Link Group maintained a focus on safeguarding the 
well-being of employees, clients and other stakeholders as well as ensuring continuity of service for clients as outlined in 
the Operating and Financial Review. 

3 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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01 Directors’ Report 

Operating and Financial Review 

1. HIGHLIGHTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
This OFR1,2 is designed to assist shareholders’ understanding of Link Group’s business performance and the factors 
underlying our financial results and financial position.  It complements the financial disclosures in the Financial Statements. 
The OFR covers the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 (FY2020), including a comparative prior year (FY2019).  A 
full reconciliation of the adjustments made to the statutory results is disclosed in more detail in section 5.2. 

Consistent with previous disclosures, Link Group uses certain measures to manage and report on the business that are 
not recognised under Australian Accounting Standards or International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), collectively 
referred to as ‘non-IFRS financial measures’.  These non-IFRS financial measures are summarised in Appendix 1 of this 
OFR.  

Given the extent of Significant items in the current and prior year statutory results, the Directors believe it will assist the 
readers’ understanding of performance to compare year-on-year results on an Operating before Significant items basis. 
Therefore, unless otherwise stated, all of the analysis is presented on an Operating basis, with reconciliation back to 
statutory results provided in section 5.(b). 

1 All financial amounts contained in this OFR are expressed in Australian Dollars and rounded to the nearest $0.1 million, unless otherwise stated.  Some 

numerical figures included have been subject to rounding adjustments.  Any discrepancies between totals and sums of components in figures or tables 

contained in this OFR are due to rounding.

2 All prior year comparatives have been restated to reflect Link Group’s new global structure, specifically, realigning the acquired ‘Link Administration 

Services (LAS) Group’ to Link Group’s  existing business units and introducing Banking and Credit Management and Fund Solutions as standalone 

business units. 

Operating NPATA 

$144m 
Down 27% from FY2019 

Revenue 

$1,230m 
Down 12% from FY2019 

Operating EBITDA 

$294m 
Down 26% from FY2019 

Statutory NPAT 

($113.9m) 
Down 136% from FY2019 

Basic earnings per share 

(21.8) cps 
Down 136% from FY2019 

Net Operating Cash Flow 
Conversion 

108% 
Strong conversion rate up 11 
points from FY2019 
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01 Directors’ Report 

Operating and Financial Review 

3. OVERVIEW OF RESULTS
FY2020 was an unprecedented year of rapid change for Link Group, during which we showed resilience in the face of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and moved to a global operating model with solid progress made on the Global Transformation 
program, culminating in the establishment of two strategic hubs in Leeds and Mumbai, augmenting existing hubs in Sydney, 
Melbourne, and Maynooth.  In addition to the pandemic-related impact largely felt in the 4th quarter (Q4), lower financial 
measures compared to FY2019 also reflect the divestment of Corporate and Private Client Solutions (CPCS) in June 2019, 
the impact of regulatory change and client losses in Retirement and Superannuation Solutions and the effect of Brexit-
related uncertainty on Non-Recurring Revenue activity in Corporate Markets. 

The net loss of Link Group for FY2020 was $113.9 million, which was down 136% on FY2019’s net profit of $318.1 million.  
This reduction in net profit was largely the result of including an impairment charge of $107.8 million in relation to Corporate 
Markets EMEA and the impact of one-off gains in the prior year (related to the profit on sale of CPCS and the fair value 
revaluation gain on PEXA) not repeated in FY2020.  

In addition, in Q4, lower equity markets had a direct impact on pre-tax earnings as a result of depressed asset values, 
adverse impact on capital markets related revenue and new business pipelines and delays in realising cost savings from 
the Global Transformation program. 

Notwithstanding this statutory loss after tax, Link Group showed resilience in response to the challenges brought on by the 
COVID-19 pandemic across all global markets.  During this period, we maintained a focus on safeguarding the well-being 
of employees, as well as ensuring continuity of service for clients.  Link Group’s response was aided by the following. 

• The majority of contracted revenue is with large financial institutions derived from non-discretionary services.
• A resilient earnings profile supporting operating cash flow, with approximately 80% of revenue recurring in nature,

however, some business units saw market volatility impacting Non-Recurring Revenue.
• A liquidity position supported by cash reserves and committed, undrawn credit facilities.
• Debt serviceability and leverage remained comfortably within existing bank covenants.
• Additional initiatives were implemented to reduce costs and support operating cash flow recognising the increased 

activities in Retirement and Superannuation Solutions.

Link Group’s revenue by geographic region (as illustrated below in Figure 1) reflects our position as a global business with 
revenue derived from outside Australia and New Zealand (ANZ) at 44% compared to 49% in FY2019, largely as a result 
of the disposal of CPCS in FY2019. 

Figure 1: Revenue by region 

Link Group continued to execute on other elements of our growth strategy in FY2020 as follows. 

• Increased sales of products and services to existing clients to help mitigate the impact of previously announced
client losses in Retirement and Superannuation Solutions and competitive pressures in Corporate Markets.
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• New investment in technology platforms and innovative products and services with capital expenditure increasing
by 33% to $107.3 million during the year.

• Extending our UK and European footprint with entry into the UK pensions market through an investment in Smart
Pension (Retirement and Superannuation Solutions) and the announced acquisition of Pepper European
Servicing (PES) (Banking and Credit Management), the latter being subject to regulatory approval.

• Savings related to the Global Transformation program continued to be realised and are on track to achieve our
medium term forecast operating cost reductions.

• Property Exchange Australia Limited (PEXA) beginning to make a material contribution to Link Group’s Operating
NPATA as volumes continue to grow and operational leverage is realised.
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4. GROWTH STRATEGY
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5. SOLID FINANCIAL RESULTS AND PLATFORM FOR FURTHER GROWTH
Link Group delivered a satisfactory overall financial performance despite the adverse impact of the global pandemic.   The 
Retirement and Superannuation Solutions division quickly and effectively responded to the Federal Government’s Early 
Release of Superannuation scheme whilst also delivering a better revenue performance than previous guidance.  In 
addition, we continued to win new annuity business in Corporate Markets, Fund Solutions and Banking and Credit 
Management and we remain committed to delivering previously announced savings from the Global Transformation 
program by the end of FY2022. 

We have also maintained a prudent financial position.  The financial year ended with comfortable leverage, substantial 
debt serviceability capacity and high levels of cash-flow generation.  Consistent with our stated objectives and the needs 
of the market and client base, Link Group continued to invest in our technology platforms and product and service 
innovation during FY2020.  Table 1 below contains an overview of Link Group’s financial results. 

Table 1:  Statutory & Operating financial results 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 Variance (%) 

Statutory 
Results 

Revenue 1,230.4 1,403.5 (12) 
(Loss)/profit before tax (101.4) 413.9 (124) 
Statutory NPAT (113.9) 318.1 (136) 
Earnings per share (cents) (21.8) 59.6 (136) 

Operating 
Results 

Operating EBITDA 293.8 394.6 (26) 
EBITDA after significant items 246.3 336.8 (27) 
Operating EBIT 179.7 291.5 (38) 
NPATA (37.8) 374.5 (110) 
Operating NPATA 144.0 197.8 (27) 
Operating Earnings per share (cents) 27.1 37.2 (27) 

(a) Statutory NPAT

Statutory Net Profit after Tax (Statutory NPAT) reflected a loss of $113.9 million compared to a prior year Statutory NPAT 
result of $318.1 million.  The lower Statutory NPAT result in FY2020 reflects: 

• prior year post-tax effect fair value gain of $124.6 million ($178.0 million pre-tax) relating to Link Group’s
investment in PEXA;

• prior year post-tax effect profit of $103.6 million ($107.4 million pre-tax) on disposal of the CPCS business;
• recognition of an impairment charge relating to Corporate Markets EMEA of $107.8 million;
• lower Operating EBIT contribution from all business units; and
• partially offset by a reduced equity accounted loss after tax relating to PEXA as it grew revenue and underlying

earnings substantially during the year.

(b) Operating NPATA

Link Group considers Operating NPATA to be a meaningful measure of after-tax profit as it excludes the impact of 
Significant items (including the impairment loss and prior year profit on sale of CPCS and PEXA fair value gain) and the 
large amount of non-cash amortisation of acquired intangibles reflected in NPAT.  The measure includes the tax-effected 
depreciation and amortisation expense relating to all capital expenditure and the original cost of acquired software that is 
integral to the ongoing operating performance of the business. 
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Operating NPATA of $144.0 million was down 27% on the prior year result of $197.8 million reflecting: 
• lower Operating EBIT performance in all Business Units; and
• higher depreciation and amortisation;

partially offset by: 
• stronger PEXA performance reflecting revenue growth as penetration increased and operational leverage was

realised; and
• lower interest and tax expense.

Figure 2 below provides a reconciliation of Operating NPATA to Statutory NPAT. 

Figure 2: Reconciliation of Operating NPATA to Statutory NPAT 3,4 

(c) Financial Performance by Division

Link Group’s Operating EBITDA result was $293.8 million, which was down 26% on the prior year result of $394.6 million.  
Operating EBITDA margins of 23.9% compared to 28.0% in FY2019 reflects the impact of a changing revenue mix (i.e. 
lower levels of higher margin Non-Recurring Revenue) resulting from client losses and regulatory change, temporary 
market uncertainty driven by the COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit, coupled with increased cost of investment in IT and data 
security and transition to cloud-based IT infrastructure. 

3 ‘Significant Items (other) after tax’ includes significant items both above and below the EBITDA line. 

4 This reconciliation reflects significant items after tax. Note Table 8 reflects significant items before tax. 
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Table 2:  FY2020 Revenue and Operating EBIT by reporting segment 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Variance 

(%) 
Revenue 
Retirement and Superannuation Solutions 518.6 550.8 (6) 
Corporate Markets 358.0 368.8 (3) 
Fund Solutions 173.0 162.7 6 
Banking and Credit Management 165.7 168.7 (2) 
Technology & Operations 372.2 334.0 11 
Corporate and Private Client Solutions 0.0 140.7 (100) 
Gross Revenue 1,587.4 1,725.7 (8) 
Eliminations (357.0) (322.3) 11 
Total Revenue 1,230.4 1,403.5 (12) 
Recurring Revenue % 83% 80% 

Operating EBIT 
Retirement and Superannuation Solutions 65.4 108.3 (40) 
Corporate Markets 61.7 79.9 (23) 
Fund Solutions 22.1 26.5 (16) 
Banking and Credit Management 8.2 12.0 (32) 
Technology & Operations 34.2 44.9 (24) 
Corporate and Private Client Solutions 0.0 31.9 (100) 
Head Office (11.8) (12.1) (2) 
Total Operating EBIT 179.7 291.5 (38) 
Operating EBIT margin % 15% 21% 

Retirement and Superannuation Solutions 

Retirement and Superannuation Solutions revenue decreased 6% year-on-year to $518.6 million resulting from a reduction 
in both Recurring Revenue and Non-Recurring Revenue.   

Notwithstanding some previously announced client losses that adversely impacted results for the year, overall client 
retention5 remained above 94%. 

5 Client retention represents the proportion of annual revenue from clients that have not been lost in the last 12 months. 
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Table 3:  Retirement and Superannuation Solutions Revenue, Operating EBITDA and Operating EBIT 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Variance 

(%) 
Revenue 518.6 550.8 (6) 
Operating Expenses (440.2) (429.3) (3) 
Operating EBITDA 78.4 121.5 (36) 
Depreciation & Amortisation (13.0) (13.2) 2 
Operating EBIT 65.4 108.3 (40) 
Recurring Revenue  87% 87% 
Operating EBITDA margin 15% 22% 
Operating EBIT margin 13% 20% 

Recurring Revenue of $450.0 million (or 86.8% of the total Retirement and Superannuation Solutions revenue) was down 
$30.8 million or 6% on the prior year.   

Key contributing factors in FY2020 include: 

• full year and part year impact of some client exits and mergers with non-Link Group administered funds;
• initial in year revenue impact of the ‘Protecting Your Superannuation’ (PYS) legislation on member numbers;
• fee discounts provided to a small number of clients on renewal;
• growth in overall member numbers (excluding eligible rollover fund activity) of 1.7%6 and an increase in our top four

clients’ members (who represented approximately 66% of the total) of 5.6%;
• part-year impact of client wins;
• indexation-linked price increases; and
• addition of UK pensions business.

Non-Recurring Revenue of $68.6 million represents 13% of total Retirement and Superannuation Solutions revenue 
decreasing by 2% compared to the prior year largely resulting from a one-off revenue relating to early termination and 
eligible rollover fund activity not repeated in FY2020, partly offset by higher project revenue driven by legislative change 
activity.  This is a strong result and consolidates the considerable growth achieved in recent years. 

Funds regularly work with Link Group to enhance their product offerings and boost engagement with members or to meet 
regulatory and compliance objectives.  These activities are referred to as fee-for-service projects and represent the bulk of 
Non-Recurring Revenue in Retirement and Superannuation Solutions.  

Fee-for-service revenue projects completed during FY2020 included significant regulatory and legislative change programs 
particularly related to PYS legislation, ‘Putting Members’ Interests First’ (PMIF) legislation, Early Release of 
Superannuation scheme, insurance changes and unitisation. 

Retirement and Superannuation Solutions’ Operating EBIT was $65.4 million, which was $42.9 million or 40% lower than 
the prior year.  The decrease on the prior year largely reflects the full year impact of previously announced client exits and 
fund mergers (including AustSafe, CareSuper, TWU Super and EISS) and the initial in year PYS revenue impact.  Cost 
efficiencies achieved in the prior year and the part-year impact of cost savings made during FY2020 helped offset 
reductions to recurring revenue (as discussed above) and some additional costs related to fee for service activities and an 
increased share of T&O and Group function costs. 

6 Based on growth in total billable members excluding lost clients, eligible rollover funds and redundancy trusts from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020. 
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Corporate Markets 

The Corporate Markets revenue model is centred on providing an integrated suite of products and services to Corporate 
Markets clients across the various jurisdictions where Link Group has a presence, with overseas jurisdictions accounting 
for approximately 67% of total Corporate Markets revenue in FY2020. 

Table 4:  Corporate Markets Revenue, Operating EBITDA and Operating EBIT 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Variance 

(%) 
Revenue 358.0 368.8 (3) 
Operating Expenses (274.7) (267.3) 3 
Operating EBITDA 83.3 101.5 (18) 
Depreciation & Amortisation (21.6) (21.6) (0) 
Operating EBIT 61.7 79.9 (23) 
Recurring Revenue 70% 68% 
Operating EBITDA margin 23% 28% 
Operating EBIT margin 17% 22% 

During FY2020, Corporate Markets revenue was $358.0 million.  That was 3% lower than the prior year mainly reflecting 
a reduction in Non-Recurring Revenue activity. 

Recurring Revenue of $251.1 million was $1.6 million ahead of prior year, increasing as a proportion of Total Revenue to 
70%.  Recurring Revenue performance can be attributed mainly to the following factors: 

• solid organic growth within our client base of ~9% in our major regions; and
• strong client retention of >95%;

partially offset by:

• impacts of Brexit and COVID-19 on Non-Recurring Revenue; and
• continued competitive fee pressure.

Corporate Markets services approximately 6,550 clients across all of its jurisdictions as at 30 June 2020, up from 6,350 in 
the prior year, due to organic growth from client wins.  Providing investors with a broader range of digital communications 
has been a key focus for Corporate Markets, and this has been supported by the increased adoption of virtual meetings 
during COVID-19. Globally in FY2020, Link Group has facilitated more than 100 virtual meetings. Globally, Corporate 
Markets won 452 new clients from competitors as a result of expanding our product range, and from new IPOs, with Link 
Group winning 19 out of 41 IPOs (during a low period of IPOs in the market).   

Non-Recurring Revenue decreased to $106.9 million, which is a $12.4 million reduction on the previous year, reflecting 
lower levels of corporate actions, share dealing, margin income, investor relations support services and European treasury 
debt service activity, partly due to the impact of COVID-19 and prior to that, ongoing Brexit uncertainty.  Additionally, 
FY2019 included two large corporate actions in the UK (Sky/Comcast and Standard Life Aberdeen) not repeated in 
FY2020. 

Operating EBIT decreased to $61.7 million, which was $18.3 million or 23% down on the previous year, due to the 
impact of reduced levels of higher margin Non-Recurring Revenue, continued pricing pressure in core registry services 
across all jurisdictions and higher operating costs. Operating EBIT was adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The main impacts seen relate to reductions in margin income (due to interest rate reductions), corporate actions, 
cancelled dividends and AGM postponements, coupled with higher levels of doubtful debts provisioning. 
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Technology & Operations 

Technology & Operations revenue of $372.2 million comprises internal revenue (from IT recharges to Retirement and 
Superannuation Solutions, Corporate Markets, Fund Solutions and Banking and Credit Management) of $260.3 million and 
external revenue of $111.9 million from value-added services (including data analytics, digital solutions and digital 
communications) and licensing in-house administration software.   

Table 5:  Technology & Operations Revenue, Operating EBITDA and Operating EBIT 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Variance 

(%) 
Revenue 372.2 334.0 11 
Operating Expenses (281.1) (246.3) 14 
Operating EBITDA 91.1 87.6 4 
Depreciation & Amortisation (56.9) (42.7) 33 
Operating EBIT 34.2 44.9 (24) 
External Revenue 29% 27% 
Operating EBITDA margin 24% 26% 
Operating EBIT margin 9% 13% 

Technology & Operations’ total revenue grew to $372.2 million which was 11.5% higher than the previous year.  The growth 
on the prior year is due to strong growth in both internal and external revenue, with higher external revenue from increased 
sales of products and services to both existing and new customers across its various business lines, including: 

• increase in fee-for-service project-related work for new projects and products;
• increased volumes of new e-communications and traditional print services related to regulatory and Federal budget

work; and
• new business wins.

As a percentage of overall Technology & Operations revenue, external revenue increased from 27% to 29%.  

Technology & Operations Operating EBIT fell to $34.2 million, which was $10.7 million or 24% lower than the prior year. 
The reduction in Operating EBIT compared to the prior year reflects: 

• higher costs related to the internal restructure and centralisation of IT services;
• increased investment in IT and data security;
• transition to cloud based IT infrastructure; and
• higher depreciation and amortisation including right of use amortisation related to the new Mumbai hub;
partially offset by:

Global Transformation program savings (albeit lower than internal expectations) 
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Fund Solutions 

Fund Solutions has performed well under challenging circumstances in FY2020, underpinned by growth in average assets 
under management (AuM) resulting from new clients, new funds and growth in existing funds.  Higher AuM has been the 
main driver of increased revenue of $173.0 million, up 6% from $162.7 million in the prior year.  

Table 6:  Fund Solutions Revenue, Operating EBITDA and Operating EBIT 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Variance 

(%) 
Revenue 173.0 162.7 6 
Operating Expenses (143.0) (131.0) 9 
Operating EBITDA 30.0 31.8 (6) 
Depreciation & Amortisation (7.9) (5.3) 48 
Operating EBIT 22.1 26.5 (16) 
Recurring Revenue 92% 92% 
Operating EBITDA margin 17% 20% 
Operating EBIT margin 13% 16% 

Recurring revenue was up 7% on prior year mainly attributable to higher average AuM in the UK and Ireland.  During the 
period, Fund Solutions earned revenue from 27 new fund launches across the UK and Ireland, of which 6 sub-funds relate 
to the provision of the operator service to the Wales Pension Partnership and ACCESS (Local Government Pension 
Schemes).  Over the same period, there were also 16 fund closures or transfers out which broadly reflect the cessation of 
unsustainable funds with sub-optimal Net Asset Value sizes. Assets under management at 30 June 2020 amounted to 
£102.5 billion and reflect Fund Solutions’ position as the leading independent authorised fund manager in the UK. 

Fund Solutions’ Operating EBIT for the period was $22.1 million with a margin of 13%, which was down on the prior year. 
The decrease in Operating EBIT compared to prior year largely reflects higher costs associated with the ongoing Woodford 
investigation.  Operating EBIT was also adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic in Q4 due to the impact on UK 
and global equity markets, which reduced average AuM and revenue. Net new money flows were also down as a result of 
economic uncertainty and poor investor sentiment. 
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Banking and Credit Management 

Banking and Credit Management has continued to add new portfolios during FY2020, partially offsetting portfolio run-off, 
the sale of a debt portfolio by one of its clients and the impact of COVID-19 in Q4 on the new business pipeline.   

Table 7:  Banking & Credit Management Revenue, Operating EBITDA and Operating EBIT 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Variance 

(%) 
Revenue 165.7 168.7 (2) 
Operating Expenses (143.7) (145.4) (1) 
Operating EBITDA 22.0 23.3 (6) 
Depreciation & Amortisation (13.8) (11.4) 21 
Operating EBIT 8.2 12.0 (32) 
Recurring Revenue 89% 87% 
Operating EBITDA margin 13% 14% 
Operating EBIT margin 5% 7% 

Banking and Credit Management revenue of $165.7 million was down 2% from $168.7 million in the prior year due to: 

• lower revenue in the UK and Ireland mostly as a result of portfolio run-off and sale of a debt portfolio, partially offset
by the on-boarding of a new client portfolio;

• lower liquidations and one-off fees particularly in Q4 due to COVID-19; and
• lower new business pipeline opportunities in Q4 due to COVID-19;
partially offset by:
• higher revenue owing to the full year impact of the NHL and Flexfront acquisitions in the Netherlands where strong

growth in mortgage origination volumes (resulting from the historically low interest rate environment) was also
experienced.

Assets under administration at 30 June 2020 amounted to $131.9 billion. 

Banking and Credit Management’s Operating EBIT for the period was $8.2 million which represented a margin of 5%, 
which is 2% points down on the prior year.  The decrease in Operating EBIT compared to prior year reflects the revenue 
result discussed above coupled with higher depreciation and amortisation charges including client migration related 
amortisation.  Operating EBIT was also adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic due to the impact on the new 
business pipeline and some impact on loan origination activity following market volatility. 
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(d) Significant items

Total Significant items expense of $258.0 million was lower than the prior year gain of $120.3 million.  The table below 
reflects the impact of significant items on each line item. 

Table 8:  Summary of Significant items 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Variance 

(%) 
Significant Items / One-off costs 
Business Combinations Costs (13.6) (18.3) (26) 
Global Transformation Program (31.3) (38.7) (19) 
Global RSS Tender Costs (2.6) - nmf7

Client migration costs - (0.8) nmf
Total Significant Items (impacting EBITDA) (47.5) (57.8) (18) 
Depreciation and amortisation (5.3) (0.9) nmf 
Acquired amortisation (52.9) (54.4) (3) 
Impairment of Intangibles (107.8) 0.0 nmf 
Total Significant Items (impacting EBIT) (213.5) (113.1) 89 
Net finance expense (1.8) (0.6) nmf 
(Loss) / Gain on Assets Held at Fair Value (23.0) 178.0 nmf 
(Loss) / Gain on Disposal of Subsidiary 0.0 107.4 nmf 
(Loss) / Profit from Equity Accounted Investments (35.0) (14.4) nmf 
Total Significant Items (impacting NPBT) (273.2) 157.3 nmf 
Tax benefit / (expense) 15.2 (37.0) nmf 
Total Significant Items (impacting NPAT) (258.0) 120.3 nmf 

The decrease in Significant items impacting EBITDA was largely due to a natural decline in Global Transformation Program 
costs.  Business combination costs included $13.6 million in FY2020. 

The increase in Significant items impacting EBIT includes a higher depreciation and amortisation expense from duplicate 
rent costs resulting from having excess capacity during the premises consolidation process in the UK, coupled with an 
impairment expense of $107.8 million recognised in relation to the Corporate Markets EMEA CGU.  This CGU comprises 
of Link Group’s Corporate Markets business in the UK and Channel Islands, Ireland and Germany, but excludes South 
Africa, given it is currently held for sale.  The value in use has reduced from prior periods following a reduction in forecast 
cash flows, primarily as a result of reduced capital markets related revenue streams and lower interest rates expected 
following the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The increase in Significant items impacting NPBT includes the tax effected acquired amortisation and other one off items in 
PEXA ($35.0 million) and the loss on assets held at fair value ($22.9 million) which reflects the revaluation of Link Group’s 
13.1% ownership interest in Leveris Limited.  As at 30 June 2020, the investment had a fair value of $16.6 million (compared 
to $39.1 million in the prior year) after accounting for the revaluation and foreign exchange fluctuations. 

The gain on assets held at fair value in FY2019 related to Link Group’s investment in PEXA which was revalued from 
$5.00 per share to $11.72 per share, whilst the gain on disposal of a subsidiary in FY2019 reflected the profit on sale of 
the CPCS business in June 2019. The income tax benefit reflects the tax effect of the above items. 

7 ‘nmf’ denotes a % variance that is not meaningful. 
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(e) Other expenses below EBITDA

Table 9:  Other expenses below EBITDA 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Variance 

(%) 
EBITDA after Significant Items 246.3 336.8 (27) 
Depreciation and Amortisation 119.3 104.1 16 
EBITA 127.0 232.7 (45) 
Acquired Amortisation (52.9) (54.4) (3) 
Impairment of Intangibles (107.8) 0.0 nmf 
EBIT (33.7) 178.4 nmf 
Net Finance Expense (33.2) (37.4) (11) 
(Loss) / Gain on Assets Held at Fair Value (23.0) 178.0 nmf 
(Loss) / Gain on Disposal of Subsidiary 0.0 107.4 nmf 
(Loss) / Profit from Equity Accounted Investments (11.4) (12.5) (9) 
NPBT (101.4) 413.9 (125) 
Tax Expense (12.5) (95.8) (87) 
NPAT (113.9) 318.1 (136) 
Add Back Acquired Amortisation and Impairment of Intangibles 76.1 56.4 35 
NPATA (37.8) 374.5 (110) 
Add Back Significant Items After Tax 181.8 (176.7) (203) 
Operating NPATA 144.0 197.8 (27) 

Depreciation and Amortisation 
Depreciation and amortisation expense increased by 16% to $119.3 million compared with the prior year largely due to 
higher levels of capital expenditure in both the current and prior years. 

Acquired amortisation reflects the amortisation of client lists and the revaluation impact of acquired intangible assets 
resulting from business combinations.  Acquired amortisation decreased by 3% to $52.9 million compared with the prior 
year.  This reflected assets from prior year acquisitions reaching the end of their useful lives in FY2019 and FY2020. 

Net Finance Expense 
Net finance expense of $33.2 million is lower by $4.2 million on the previous year’s net finance expense due to a 
combination of higher interest income (on higher levels of cash), lower interest expense, and an FX gain in the current year 
(compared to a loss in the prior year).  Lower interest expense reflects a lower average level of debt and lower interest 
rates. 

Profit / (Loss) from Equity Accounted Investments 
Loss from equity accounted investments decreased by 9% to $11.4 million compared with the previous year’s loss, 
reflecting Link Group’s 44.2% share of the stronger operating result of Torrens Group Holdings Pty Ltd (PEXA’s parent 
entity). 

Tax Expense 
Tax expense of $12.5 million is 87% lower than the prior year’s tax expense.  The effective tax rate of (12.3%) is lower 
than the prior year reflecting the impact of the $107.8 million impairment charge and $23.1 million fair value adjustment. 
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6. SOLID BALANCE SHEET AND CASH FLOW CONVERSION
Link Group maintained a solid balance sheet in FY2020 with a moderate level of gearing (31.8%8) as at 30 June 2020.  
The business generates high levels of cash while also maintaining a substantial ongoing investment in enhancing our 
proprietary systems and in new products and services. 

(a) Balance Sheet

The cash balance of $264.1 million as at 30 June 2020 reflects the impact of pre-emptive drawdowns across March and 
April totalling $188.9 million, bolstering short-term liquidity given the volatile economic conditions which resulted from the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  In addition, cash is retained to cover short-term investment management payables related to the 
Fund Solutions business in the UK.  Cash balances in the prior year were elevated reflecting the completion of the CPCS 
sale in late June 2019. 

Table 10:  Summary Balance Sheet 
As at 30 June 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Assets 
Cash 264.1 560.2 
Trade & Other Receivables 238.9 244.8 
Other Current Assets 675.6 1,023.5 
Total Current Assets 1,178.6 1,828.5 

Deferred Tax Asset 56.5 52.0 
Other Non Current Assets 3,104.4 3,233.4 
Total Non Current Assets 3,160.8 3,285.4 
TOTAL ASSETS 4,339.5 5,113.9 

Liabilities 
Trade & Other Payables 275.2 261.3 
Interest Bearing Liabilities 35.9 30.0 
Other Current Liabilities 678.6 1,052.8 
Total Current Liabilities 989.7 1,344.2 

Interest Bearing Liabilities 1,227.0 1,393.5 
Deferred Tax Liability 145.4 150.4 
Other Non Current Liabilities 62.1 74.4 
Total Non Current Liabilities 1,434.5 1,618.3 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,424.2 2,962.5 
NET ASSETS 1,915.3 2,151.4 

Equity 
Contributed Equity 1,889.7 1,909.1 
Reserves 16.7 15.3 
Retained Earnings 4.3 223.7 
Non-Controlling Interest 4.6 3.2 
TOTAL EQUITY 1,915.3 2,151.4 

8 Gearing ratio calculated as Senior Debt / (Market Capitalisation + Senior Debt). Senior Debt consists of long-term borrowings and excludes right-of-use 

liabilities. 
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Interest-bearing liabilities have decreased by $160.7 million compared with the prior year.  This largely reflects prior year 
increases in debt drawn to fund our equity accounted investment in PEXA in January 2019 and prior to the repayment of 
debt with the proceeds of the CPCS business sale.   

Total contributed equity decreased to $1,889.7 million from $1,909.1 million in the prior year as a result of the on-market 
buyback of shares during FY2020. 

(b) Cash flow

Cash flow conversion continues to be a key focus of the business and Link Group achieved a strong operating cash 
conversion rate of 108%, up by 11% on the previous year. 

Table 11:  Summary Pro forma cash flow 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 Variance (%) 
Operating EBITDA 293.8 394.6 (26) 
Changes in Fund Assets & Liabilities (0.8) (12.7) nmf 
Changes in Working Capital 25.6 1.5 nmf 
Net Operating Cash Flow 318.6 383.4 (17) 
Cash Impact of Significant Items (51.7) (49.4) 5 
Tax (44.7) (69.2) (35) 
Interest (32.6) (35.0) (7) 
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 189.6 229.8 (17) 
Capital Expenditure (107.3) (80.7) 33 
Right of use asset payments (29.8) (33.2) (10) 
Free Cash Flow (available for capital management) 52.5 115.9 (55) 
Other investing activities (87.0) (52.7) 65 
Dividends Paid (101.8) (81.3) 25 
Other financing Activities (149.6) 311.7 nmf 
Net (decrease) / Increase in Cash (285.8) 293.7 nmf 

Net Operating Cash Flow Conversion 108% 97% 

Working capital movement of $25.6 million reflects favourable movement in trade and other payables (including investment 
management fee invoices in FS), higher provisions (doubtful debts and claims), and improved trade and other receivables 
performance, partially offset by lower employee provisions (increased annual leave usage) and higher contract fulfilment 
assets (client on boarding spend). 

Capital expenditure is a key driver of future productivity, product growth and cost efficiency.  The business uses a 
benchmark of 3-5% of Link Group revenue to guide capital expenditure initiatives.  In FY2020, capital expenditure was 
$107.3 million, representing 9% of revenue and above our benchmark.  The main reasons for the increase in capital 
expenditure include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• Fit-out of 2 new global hubs in Mumbai, India and Leeds, UK;
• Software investment projects across Retirement and Superannuation Solutions and Corporate Markets including our

core CRM, contact centre, CX datahub and miraqle™ platforms;
• Re-platforming project in the Australian Fund Solutions business; and
• New banking software technology implementation in Banking and Credit Management (Netherlands).
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(c) Net debt

The total leverage ratio has increased to 2.7 times.  This reflects the impact of a lower Operating EBITDA performance 
discussed previously, coupled with an increase in net debt arising from acquisition related costs (i.e. investment in Smart 
Pension in the UK) and higher levels of capital expenditure.  The interest cover ratio has increased to 12.1 times, reflecting 
lower Operating EBITDA performance which has been more than offset by lower interest costs. 

Link Group has $420.7 million of undrawn committed facilities available, with a further $250.0 million uncommitted AUD 
facility.  This level of cash and available facilities provides capacity for various growth activities in FY2021. 

Table 12:  Summary of net debt 

IN $M FY2020 FY2019 
Cash and Cash Equivalents (264.1) (560.2) 
Long Term Debt 1,014.5 1,157.1 
Net Debt 750.4 596.9 

Pro forma debt ratios 
Total leverage ratio9 2.7x 1.9x 
Interest cover ratio10 12.1x 11.5x 

9 Leverage calculated in accordance with Link Group’s debt agreement. 

10 Interest cover calculated in accordance with Link Group’s debt agreement.
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7. PRO-ACTIVE MANAGEMENT OF RISKS
Risk Management Framework 
Link Group’s risk management framework is aligned to international risk management guidelines (ISO 31000:2018). 
The framework promotes the achievement of Link Group’s objectives by integrating policies, processes, procedures and 
systems with our structures and people. The Board’s Risk Committee oversees, reviews and supervises the framework, 
and promotes a risk management culture. 

The framework provides a consistent approach for identifying, analysing, evaluating, treating and monitoring risks and 
understanding the risk environment within which Link Group operates. It supports the integration of risk into decision 
making and operational processes.  

The following diagram illustrates the key elements of the risk management framework. 
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(a) Changes to the Risk Profile
Link Group continues to focus on identifying and adopting global best practices used to identify, assess, manage, and 
control risks across our businesses. The following changes to our organisation and risk profile occurred during FY2020. 

Move towards Global Centres of Excellence: 
• Supports integration and transformation initiatives;
• Facilitates development of global best practice;
• Increases reliance on locations where Link Group has historically had a smaller presence; and
• Enables a truly global organisation.

Governance Enhancements:
• Separated the Board’s Risk and Audit Committee into a Risk Committee and an Audit Committee in order to allow

more time to overview, review, and supervise the Risk Management Framework;
• Installed an Executive Risk Committee to assess, review, and recommend mitigation strategies for risks across Link

Group;
• Established a Business Initiatives Committee to review and approve new business initiatives that impact Link

Group’s risk profile;
• Implemented a global Project Approval Committee to approve allocation of funding to projects and initiatives and to

track their implementation and monitor realisation of expected benefits;
• Further embedded the Link Group Approvals Framework across the business globally.

Control Enhancements:
• Enhanced information and cyber security controls and monitoring address increased level of risk resulting from an

increase in cyber threats and from the remote working environment established in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Key Management Personnel: 
• Reduced key person risk.

The Directors and Management understand and continually reassess existing and emerging risks (both short-term and 
long-term) that may be applicable to the Link Group’s business, including climate risk.  While Link Group considers that 
climate change is unlikely to have a direct, material impact on our financial performance or financial outcomes described, 
we acknowledge that its impact may increase in future, and that it is increasing in its significance for clients, investors and 
regulators globally.  For more information about how we manage environmental, social, governance and climate-related 
risk, please refer to our Sustainability Report. 

(b) Key Risks
Some of the more significant risks faced by Link Group and how they are being managed are considered below in more 
detail. In addition to these key risks, there are other generic risks inherent to all businesses, including Link Group’s, such 
as: 

• our exposure to the macro-economic environment, political and regulatory risk;
• our systems, technology and operational quality;
• pandemic; and
• our ability to attract and retain key personnel.

Link Group considers these key risks in operating our business and actively manages them. 

(c) COVID-19 Risk Factor
The COVID-19 pandemic event will continue to have profound global health, social and economic impacts.  Link Group is 
not immune from this and considers COVID-19 to be a material risk factor that has the potential to alter (positively or 
negatively) almost all other risks that Link Group faces.  

For example: 
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• Regulatory Change – In response to the COVID-19 threat, we have seen authorities in all of the jurisdictions
that Link Group operates impose new health regulations (such as social distancing) that we must comply with
and that impacts the way we conduct business.  Negative impacts might include reduced office capacity, or
further lockdowns might reduce our operational capacity and hinder our Global Transformation. A positive
impact might be relaxation of regulations to permit Annual General Meetings to be conducted digitally, a core
service offering for Link Group, and this could increase revenue opportunities.

• Macro Economic Environment – COVID-19 is not the only risk factor that impacts markets. However, its impacts
precipitated an economic crisis in FY20, and its ongoing impacts remain a source of uncertainty and volatility
that continues to influence demand, supply, revenues, cash flow, employment, dividends and markets globally.
That volatility may increase or decrease the volume of corporate actions and/or Link Group’s Non-Recurring
Revenue opportunities in FY21 and beyond.

• Information and Cyber security – Individuals / Groups using the COVID-19 pandemic opportunistically to
develop new methods of attack and continue to use traditional methods and common attack vectors (such as
malware, viruses, e-mail attachments, web pages, pop ups, instant messages, text messages, social
engineering, etc), increasing the risk of fraud.  Our ability to prevent, detect and mitigate these changes can
impact Link Group’s reputation and financial performance.

This is not intended to be an exhaustive list or to replace our description of material risks. Rather, it is intended to convey 
that COVID-19, as a material risk factor, has the potential to impact any and all of the risks we disclose, which if negative 
and materialise, could adversely affect the achievement of the financial performance or financial outcomes described. 

RISK CATEGORY DESCRIPTION OF THE RISK AND ITS IMPACT HOW WE RESPOND 

Information and 
Cyber security 

Description 
Link Group’s core products and services 
inherently involve appropriate management 
of information. 

Link Group’s ability to ensure the 
confidentiality, integrity and availability of 
information that it holds, may provide 
a competitive advantage or may be detrimental 
to Link Group, as it attempts to enable efficient 
and secure businesses. 

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in an 
increase to our Information and Cyber security 
risks as the majority of our people were 
required to work remotely and perpetrators 
looked to take advantage of the uncertainty and 
graphically dispersed workforce. 

Impact 
Clients expect Link Group to securely store and 
make use of accurate information irrespective 
of whether our people are working in our offices 
or remotely. Failure to meet these expectations 
may result in breach of confidence, contract or 
regulation, which may have a negative impact 
on Link Group’s reputation, financial 
performance and ability to achieve our strategic 
objectives. 

Link Group has in place a global information 
security management system aligned to the 
international best practice standard ISO27001, 
APRA CPS234 and the NIST cyber security 
resilience framework at a cost of over $10 
million per annum. Some key controls include: 
• employing ‘privacy by design’ principles

in the design, development and
deployment of policies, processes,
procedures, systems, infrastructure,
products and services;

• proactive management of identified
vulnerabilities, with controls in place to
prevent, detect, mitigate and report
breaches, including privacy and data
breach response plans and regulatory
reporting mechanisms;

• monitoring of internal and external
system traffic;

• regular external penetration testing;
• user access controls to restrict access

to premises, information and systems; and
• mandatory privacy and information

security training to all staff at least
annually.

Link Group maintains close ties with the 
information and cyber security community and 
government authorities in a number 
of jurisdictions in which it operates.  
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RISK CATEGORY DESCRIPTION OF THE RISK AND ITS IMPACT HOW WE RESPOND 

Political and 
regulatory 
environment 

Description 
Link Group’s businesses are influenced and 
affected by laws, regulations and government 
policy in each of the jurisdictions in which our 
clients operate.  

Political and/or regulatory change, and Link 
Group’s ability to comply with regulations, could 
enable or inhibit our business objectives. 

Impact 
Changes could affect the ability to achieve 
business objectives and financial performance. 
For example, by: 
• limiting or removing authority to operate;
• changing how a business operates; and/or
• altering resource requirements, operating

efficiency and profitability.

Changes may also provide an opportunity for 
Link Group to generate additional revenue 
streams by supporting its clients in their 
regulatory compliance obligations including the 
following. 

1. In Australia, legislative changes permitting
early withdrawal from super funds has had
and will continue to have a material impact
on operating volumes and the numbers of
members administered by Link Group.

2. In Australia, the Protecting Your
Superannuation Legislation continues to
have a material impact on operating
volumes, the number of members
administered by Link Group and operating
margins in the Retirement and
Superannuation Solutions division.

3. Certain proposed regulatory changes in
Australia and other jurisdictions in which
Link Group operates provide opportunities
to develop additional products and services
for our clients.

4. Regulations requiring changes to the capital
requirements and structure of banks,
particularly in Europe, could lead to selling
of portfolios of non-performing loans that
would provide opportunities in our Banking
and Credit Management business.

Link Group: 
• engages with government, regulatory

authorities and industry;
• actively monitors, assesses and manages

the impacts of changes to laws, regulation
and government policy;

• designs processes, procedures and
systems consistent with the stated policy
principles within each jurisdiction;

• works with clients to assist in preparation
for, and mitigation of, the impact of
change; and

• has a diversified geographic and
jurisdictional presence.

Link Group’s businesses are supported by 
specialist Risk & Compliance professionals 
in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate.  
We are supported by internal and external legal 
counsel and expert third party advisors, as 
required.   

Link Group has a regulatory change framework 
in place to identify our clients’ regulatory 
requirements and, where feasible, develop and 
implement solutions to assist them.  To manage 
legislative change in superannuation, including 
Protecting your Superannuation and the Early 
Release of Superannuation scheme, Link 
Group collaborates with clients and applies 
selected commercial contractual protections 
(e.g. volume clauses). 

Principal risk Description 
Link Group’s ability to comply with relevant 
obligations may result in regulatory and 
consumer exposures, contrary to our objectives 

Link Group mitigates this risk through: 
• robust risk management and compliance

frameworks focused on identifying,
assessing, monitoring and controlling risk;
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RISK CATEGORY DESCRIPTION OF THE RISK AND ITS IMPACT HOW WE RESPOND 

to operate profitable, risk managed, compliant 
businesses. 

Impact 
Link Group primarily provides services to/for 
clients as an agent (where we are indirectly 
accountable), but also provides services to 
clients as principal (where we are directly 
liable). The Fund Solutions business acts as 
principal, primarily in Europe, and has direct 
regulatory obligations. Willingness to assume 
principal risk may provide a high barrier to 
entry, which could be a competitive advantage 
for Link Group. However, material failure by 
Link Group to discharge our principal 
obligations may negatively affect financial 
performance (compensation, pecuniary 
penalties, lost earnings) and reputation. It may 
also give rise to regulatory penalties or removal 
of authority to operate the relevant business. 

• skilled and qualified staff;
• documented processes and procedures;
• assurance programs and Internal

Audit function;
• professional lines of insurance;
• proactive engagement with regulators;
• in the case of Fund Solutions, governance

mechanisms and processes are in place to
ensure its fiduciary obligations are
being fulfilled;

• at least annual compliance training for
impacted staff;

• effective internal complaints mechanism
and dispute resolution systems to identify
consumer concerns;

• ensuring compensation is appropriate with
the level of risk taken in services and
products provided; and

• a strong corporate governance structure
and culture, including local legal entity
boards with direct regulatory accountability
as required.

Client base, 
retention and 
arrangements 

Description 
Link Group may experience greater or less 
success in attracting new clients, cross-selling 
products and services, retaining existing clients 
and scope of services on commercial terms 
and benefit from client merger activity 
than expected/desired.  

Some factors may include: 
• scope and quality of service;
• increased competition;
• industry consolidation;
• business and regulatory environment;
• strength of relationships; and/or
• technological disruption and innovation.

Impact 
The key industries in which Link Group 
operates are all competitive markets and are 
expected to remain competitive. This may 
affect organic growth capability and the scope 
and quality of products and services. It may 
also influence resourcing, margins and financial 
performance. 

Link Group manages this risk through: 
• development of long-term relationships

premised on strategic partnership;
• competitive, diversified and integrated

product and service offerings;
• dedicated client relationship managers;
• market and product benchmarking

and evaluations;
• reputation and brand equity;
• management of contracted service

delivery, including prompt rectification of
issues; and

• commercial contractual protections.

Link Group actively monitors and invests in 
innovation and new technologies. It has 
invested over $400 million in delivering 
technology-driven solutions for our clients and 
continues to partner with industry leaders to 
expand the range of value-added services for 
clients to further enhance competitive 
advantage. 
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Benefit realisation 
from acquisition, 
integration and 
transformation 

Description 
The benefits of investment, acquisition, 
integration, migration, relocation, consolidation 
or transformation in a timely and commercial 
manner could be less than or greater 
than expected.  

Some factors may include: 
• appropriateness of each plan;
• accuracy of the calculation

of expected benefits;
• quality and efficiency of execution;
• market conditions and client receptivity; and 
• unexpected intervening events.

Impact 
The extent to which expected synergies and 
other benefits are realised can affect Link 
Group’s financial performance, organisational 
efficiency, allocation of resources and 
strategic plans. 

Having successfully executed and integrated 
more than 40 business combinations over the 
past 15 years, Link Group has significant 
experience delivering on the expected benefits. 
This is achieved principally through: 
• established and robust processes

encapsulating people, systems, products
and clients;

• partnering with organisations and
employing people with appropriate skills,
expertise, and experience to optimise
each specific opportunity;

• disciplined project governance controls;
• initial strategic and financial analysis;
• contingency factoring;
• sound due diligence practices; and
• contractual protections.
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8. FY2021 OUTLOOK

Delivering uninterrupted service to our clients. Focused cash flow management and prudent cost control. 

Trading Update 
• July 2020 trading continuing momentum from Q4 2020.

Resilience remains a feature
• Global transformation activity in advancing
• Early Release Super program is expected to conclude by

end of CY 2020. To date the program has resulted in
c.83,000 account closures

• HESTA contract renewed

 Strategy Update 
• PEXA: shareholders loans in place, cash returns expected 

1H 2021
• BCM: PES expected to complete in January 2021, subject

to ongoing regulatory approval process
• CM: South Africa divestment expected to complete 1H

2021, subject to regulatory approval

Priorities 

Service Delivery 

Global 
Transformation 

Balance Sheet and 
Capital Management

Execute on 
shareholder  value 
initiatives 

John McMurtrie will retire as Managing Director of Link Group in early 2021 and will be succeeded by Vivek Bhatia. 
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9. APPENDIX 1:  NON-IFRS DEFINITIONS

Link Group uses a number of non-IFRS financial measures in this OFR to evaluate the performance and profitability 
of the overall business. The principal non-IFRS financial measures that are referred to in this OFR are as follows. 

FY is financial year ended 30 June (in the applicable year). 

Recurring 
Revenue 

is revenue arising from contracted core administration servicing and registration services, 
corporate and trustee services, transfer agency, stakeholder engagement services, share 
registry services and shareholder management and analytics services that are unrelated to 
corporate actions. Recurring Revenue is expressed as a percentage of total revenue. Recurring 
Revenue is revenue the business expects to generate with a high level of consistency and 
certainty year‑on‑year. Recurring Revenue includes contracted revenue which is based on fixed 
fees per member, per client or shareholder. Clients are typically not committed to a certain total 
level of expenditure and as a result, fluctuations for each client can occur year-on-year 
depending on various factors, including number of member accounts in individual funds or the 
number of shareholders of corporate market clients. 

Non-Recurring 
Revenue 

is revenue the business expects will not be earned on a consistent basis each year. Typically, 
this revenue is project related and can also be ad hoc in nature. Non-Recurring Revenue 
includes corporate actions (including print and mail), call centre, capitals markets investor 
relations analytics, investor relations web design, extraordinary general meetings, share sale 
fees, off‑market transfers, employee share plan commissions and margin income revenue. 
Non‑Recurring Revenue also includes fee for service (FFS) project revenue, product revenue, 
revenue for client funded FTE, share sale fees, share dealing fees, one-off and other variable 
fees. 

Gross Revenue is the aggregate segment revenue before elimination of intercompany revenue and recharges 
such as Technology and Innovation recharges for IT support, client-related project development 
and communications services on-charged to clients. Link Group management considers 
segmental Gross Revenue to be a useful measure of the activity of each segment. 

Operating 
EBITDA 

is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and Significant items. 
Management uses Operating EBITDA to evaluate the operating performance of the business 
and each operating segment prior to the impact of Significant items, the non-cash impact of 
depreciation and amortisation and interest and tax charges, which are significantly impacted by 
the historical capital structure and historical tax position of Link Group. Link Group also presents 
an Operating EBITDA margin which is Operating EBITDA divided by revenue, expressed as 
a percentage. Operating EBITDA margin for business segments is calculated as Operating 
EBITDA divided by segmental Gross Revenue, while Link Group Operating EBITDA margin is 
calculated as Operating EBITDA divided by revenue. Management uses Operating EBITDA to 
evaluate the cash generation potential of the business because it does not include Significant 
items or the non-cash charges for depreciation and amortisation. However, the Company 
believes that it should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net Operating free 
cash flow. 

EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation. 
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Operating 
NPATA 

is net profit after tax and after adding back tax affected Significant items and acquired 
amortisation. Acquired amortisation comprises the amortisation of client lists and the revaluation 
impact of acquired intangibles such as software assets, which were acquired as part of business 
combinations. Link Group management considers Operating NPATA to be a meaningful 
measure of after-tax profit as it excludes the impact of Significant items and the large amount of 
non-cash amortisation of acquired intangibles reflected in NPAT. This measure includes the tax 
effected amortisation expense relating to acquired software which is integral to the ongoing 
operating performance of the business. Link Group also presents Operating NPATA margin 
which is Operating NPATA divided by revenue, expressed as a percentage. Operating NPATA 
margin is a measure that Link Group management uses to evaluate the profitability of the overall 
business. 

Operating 
earnings per 
share 

is Operating NPATA divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for 
the period. Link Group management considers Operating earnings per share to be a meaningful 
measure of after-tax profit per share as it excludes the impact of Significant items and the large 
amount of non-cash amortisation of acquired intangibles reflected in basic earnings per share. 
This measure includes the tax effected amortisation expense relating to acquired software which 
is integral to the ongoing operating performance of the business. 

Significant items refer to items which are considered to have a material financial impact and are not part of the 
normal operations of the Group. Significant items are used in both profit and loss and cash flow 
presentation. These items typically relate to events that are considered to be ‘one-off’ and are not 
expected to re-occur. Significant items are broken down into; Business combination/acquisition & 
divestment costs, Global Transformation costs, and other one-offs costs. 

Although Link Group believes that these measures provide useful information about the financial performance of Link 
Group, they should be considered as supplemental to the information presented in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and not as a replacement for them. Because these non-IFRS financial measures are not based on 
Australian Accounting Standards, they do not have standard definitions, and the way Link Group calculated these 
measures may differ from similarly titled measures used by other companies. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT 

Introduction from the Chair of the Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 
Dear Shareholder, 

On behalf of the Board, I present the Remuneration Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. This Report has 
been prepared on a consistent basis to previous years for ease of reference. 

Our Remuneration Report received a vote in favour of 97.96% at the 2019 AGM. We have taken into account 
shareholder feedback in presenting the FY2020 remuneration outcomes and proposed changes for FY2021. Our aim is 
to continue to align remuneration structures and decisions with sustainable shareholder value creation. 

FY2020 was significantly impacted by the unprecedented challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic.  While over 
80% of Link Group’s earnings are recurring in nature, some areas of the business were negatively affected by equity 
market volatility and impact on business confidence.  Against this backdrop, Operating NPATA was $144.0 million 
representing a 27% reduction on the prior year.  

This Operating NPATA performance did not meet the Short Term Incentive (STI) target and therefore the gateway for 
STI payments was not met. While pre-financial related performance against individual Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
of Executive KMP was generally strong, including safeguarding the well-being of our employees and supporting our 
clients, other stakeholders and operations across all business units during the pandemic, no KMP received a STI payment 
in FY2020. 

In FY2020, the remuneration measures foreshadowed in the FY2019 Remuneration Report were implemented and 
additional key remuneration issues were addressed, principally in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. These are 
summarised below:  

• The Managing Director and Executive KMP were not awarded any Fixed Pay increases for FY2020;

• The previously agreed annual 2.5% increase to Non-Executive Director fees for FY2019, FY2020 and FY2021 were
suspended for FY2020 and therefore there was no increase to the base Non-Executive Director fees for FY2020;

• The maximum STI opportunity for the Managing Director and Executive KMP was reduced to 150% of Target STI
from 200% of Target STI;

• Operating NPATA was used as the STI gateway measure to reflect underlying earnings and to align to the LTI
measure. In addition, a managing risk & compliance gateway was introduced for Executive KMP;

• The Chairman took a 50% fee reduction and the Managing Director a Fixed Pay reduction of 50% for up to six
months effective 1 May 2020;

• Non-Executive Directors took a fee reduction of 20% for up to six months effective 1 May 2020;

• The Executive Leadership Team including Executive KMP took a Fixed Pay reduction of 20% for up to six months
effective 1 May 2020;

• Senior Leaders and other employees took a Fixed Pay reduction of between 10% and 15% for up to six months
effective 1 May 2020 and 1 June 2020 respectively;

• No LTI vested from the FY2018 grant as EPS and TSR performance hurdles were not met;

• Executive KMP were not awarded any STI payments in FY2020.  Should any STI be awarded in FY2021, 50% of
any STI awarded to the Executive Leadership Team (ELT), including the Managing Director, will be deferred for up
to two years into Link Group shares;

• Chris Addenbrooke, Chief Executive Officer, Fund Solutions and Robbie Hughes, Chief Executive Officer, Banking &
Credit Management are included as Key Management Personnel (KMP) following the implementation of the global
operating model and structure effective 1 July 2019; and

• Susan Ring and Lysa McKenna are included as KMP following their appointments as co-CEOs of Corporate Markets
effective 1 January 2020.

The following will apply for FY2021: 

• In order to recognise their contribution, employees who accepted a temporary pay reduction (implemented in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic), excluding the Managing Director, will receive a one off equity grant of Link
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Group ordinary shares equivalent to the amount of the salary foregone.  The grant to Executive KMP will be subject to 
a service condition of up to two years; 

• No Executive KMP will be awarded any Fixed Pay increases relating to FY2021;

• The Board is committed to competitive market pay and the attraction and retention of key employees and as such will
consider reviews of remuneration to support this when appropriate;

• The Board will take the impact of COVID-19 into consideration in the determination of any STI award with the
finalisation of financial targets delayed to October 2020; and

• The previously approved annual 2.5% increase to Non-Executive Director fees for FY2019, FY2020 and FY2021 will
remain suspended for FY2021 and therefore there will be no increase to the base Non-Executive Director fees for
FY2021.

We welcome your feedback on our FY2020 Remuneration Report. 

Yours sincerely, 

Sally Pitkin 
Human Resources & Remuneration Committee Chair 
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ABOUT THIS REMUNERATION REPORT 

The Remuneration Report (Report) summarises the remuneration of Link Group’s KMP; namely Directors and Executive 
KMP that are named in this Report for the year ended 30 June 2020. This Report has been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 and has been audited. 

1. OVERVIEW OF THE EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION APPROACH

1.1 Remuneration principles & philosophy 
Link Group applies the following principles when developing and implementing remuneration decisions. The decisions 
made about remuneration should: 
• support competitive market pay;
• support the attraction and retention of capable and committed employees;
• reinforce the alignment of behaviours and outcomes to Link Group values and strategic imperatives;
• align remuneration with sustainable shareholder value creation and returns;
• align remuneration with prudent risk taking and Link Group’s long-term financial soundness;
• motivate individuals to pursue Link Group’s long-term growth and success;
• demonstrate a clear relationship between Link Group’s overall performance and the performance of individuals;
• support gender pay equity; and
• comply with all relevant legal, tax and regulatory provisions.
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1.2 FY2020 remuneration framework 
Link Group’s remuneration framework is designed to reward Executive KMP for achievement of Link Group strategy and 
shareholder value creation. Figure 1 outlines the components of Executive KMP remuneration and their purpose. 

Figure 1: FY2020 Executive KMP remuneration framework 

FY2020 EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION FRAMEWORK 

Fixed Remuneration 
Cash, superannuation, 

non-monetary 

STI  
50% received as Cash  

STI 
50% deferred into Link shares 

(holding lock of 1 year for 50% of deferred STI and 
2 years for remaining 50%) 

LTI 
Performance rights convert to shares after 3 years (50% shares delivered) 

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 

FY2020 EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION COMPONENTS 

Fixed Variable ‘at risk’ 

Fixed remuneration Short-term incentive (STI) Long-term incentive (LTI) 

PURPOSE AND ALIGNMENT 

Market competitive, to attract and retain key 
talent to Link Group. 

To drive achievement of the short-term 
financial, strategic and operational objectives 

as agreed by the Board.

To support alignment to creation of 
sustainable shareholder value through 

deferral.

To reward and incentivise Executive KMP to 
drive the sustainable creation of shareholder 

value, within Link Group’s prudent risk 
management framework. 

VALUE TO INDIVIDUAL DETERMINED BY 

Fixed remuneration is targeted around the 
median of the market.  The market is defined 

around similar listed companies (based on 
revenue, comparable industries, and business 

size) in the country where the Executive is 
based. 

Fixed remuneration may deviate from the market 
median depending on individual alignment to 

corporate values, experience, capabilities, 
performance, and location.

Operating NPATA gateway determines capacity 
to pay. 

Awards based on Link Group and business unit 
financial performance and individual 
performance against specified KPIs. 

KPIs include financial and pre-financial targets. 
Board discretion to moderate award for factors 

such as alignment to corporate values and 
prudent risk taking. 

Stretch STI up to 150% of target based on 
stretch Operating NPATA targets. 

Vesting is based on achievement of: 
Operating earnings per share (EPS) 

performance against targets 
(75% of opportunity). 

Total shareholder return (TSR) relative 
to constituents of a S&P/ASX index 

(25% of opportunity).

1 year 
holding lock 

(25% shares delivered) 

2 year 
holding lock 

(25% shares delivered) 
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EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION IN FY2020 

What changes to 
executive remuneration 
have been made 
in FY2020 and why? 

The Board reviewed FY2020 remuneration for the Executive KMP in the context of the 
scale, complexity and geographical reach of Link Group, and market benchmarking data. 
As foreshadowed in the FY2019 Remuneration Report, no Executive KMP received a 
Fixed Pay increase in FY2020.   

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Managing Director and all Executive KMP 
accepted a Fixed Pay reduction for up to 6 months of 50% and 20% respectively effective 
1 May 2020.  

For FY2020, 50% of any STI payment would have been delivered as Link Group shares 
and would have been subject to a holding lock of up to 2 years.  No STI payments were 
made for FY2020. 

How is Link Group’s 
performance reflected 
in FY2020 remuneration 
outcomes? 

In FY2020 the Operating NPATA gateway on the STI was not achieved and therefore the 
Managing Director and Executive Leadership Team, which includes Executive KMP, 
will not receive any STI for FY2020.  

The FY2018 LTI grant was tested at the end of FY2020, resulting in no vesting of the 
relative TSR component and no vesting of the EPS component, as these performance 
hurdles were not achieved.  

A critical component of Link’s growth strategy is through acquisitions, which require 
a disciplined application to the Group’s acquisition framework and the successful 
integration of the business and realisation of efficiency benefits. Many of the acquisitions 
are dilutive in the short term but provide for future growth. The impact of transactions is 
considered on a case by case basis in line with agreed transaction principles outlined 
in Section 3.1. 

The Board considered the impact of the equity investment in Property Exchange Australia 
(PEXA) against these transaction principles and determined that no adjustments would 
be made to FY2019 or subsequent financial year LTI targets or the number of PSRs on 
issue. In addition, it was agreed that the acquired amortisation, net of tax, be added back 
to the NPATA contribution from PEXA in determining the Operating NPATA for Link 
Group and that the fair value gain be excluded.  

In respect of the sale of the CPCS business, there was no adjustment to the targets for 
the FY2018 PSRs granted in calendar year 2017 on the basis that CPCS did not 
influence the base year and the CPCS business was sold prior to the commencement of 
FY2020.  Given that CPCS was sold in FY2019, the Board further determined that any 
CPCS contribution be excluded from the base year target for the FY2019 PSRs granted 
in calendar year 2018 and the FY2020 PSRs granted in calendar year 2019.  

Further detail on performance outcomes is provided in Section 2.2. 

How is fixed 
remuneration 
determined and how 
is it positioned relative 
to the market? 

Fixed remuneration generally includes base salary, superannuation and may include 
non‑monetary benefits. 

Fixed remuneration is targeted around the median of the market. The market is defined 
as companies of similar size and/or industry in the country in which the Executive is 
based. Consideration is generally given to listed companies with market capitalisation 
50% to 200% of Link Group’s 12‑month average market capitalisation.  

Fixed remuneration is generally reviewed against the market annually, however, there 
is no guaranteed annual increase. 

What proportion of 
target remuneration is 
‘at risk’ and why is it 

Target total remuneration is positioned between the median and 75th percentile of the 
market. 
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EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION IN FY2020 

considered appropriate 
for the business? 

A significant portion of Executive KMP remuneration is ‘at risk’ subject to both short and 
long-term performance hurdles. The ‘at risk’ components directly align executive pay with 
our strategic imperatives and shareholder value creation. 

The proportion of total target remuneration ‘at risk’ for Executive KMP ranges from 55% 
to 73%. 

Is clawback available 
on ‘at-risk’ 
remuneration? 

The Board has the discretion to determine that some portion or all of an employee’s 
unvested or vested short-term incentive (STI) and long-term incentive (LTI) awards be 
forfeited if, in the Board’s opinion, adverse circumstances affecting the performance, 
reputation or risk profile of Link Group have come to the Board’s attention which, had 
they been known at the time when the STI or LTI was made, would have caused the 
Board to make a different award or no award.  
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EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION IN FY2020 

What is the target 
remuneration mix for 
each executive KMP 
for FY2020? 

EXECUTIVE KMP 

TOTAL FIXED 
REMUNERATION 

% 

TARGET 
STI  

% 

LTI 
GRANT 

% 

TOTAL 
VARIABLE 

REMUNERATION 
% 

John McMurtrie 30% 30% 40% 70% 
Chris Addenbrooke 35% 35% 30% 65% 
Paul Gardiner 40% 30% 30% 60% 
Robbie Hughes 27% 28% 45% 73% 
Andrew MacLachlan 40% 30% 30% 60% 
Dee McGrath 45% 33% 22% 55% 
Lysa McKenna 45% 33% 22% 55% 
Susan Ring 37% 36% 27% 63% 

What are the 
performance measures 
(including gateway) on 
the STI plan and how do 
they align with the 
business strategy? 

An Operating NPATA gateway must be met before any STI is paid. The Board 
determines an annual Operating NPATA target, taking into consideration our longer-term 
growth strategy. 

Operating NPATA, which reflects the underlying earnings of the business and excludes 
the impact of non-cash acquired amortisation and the after-tax impact of one off 
significant items, is a key measure of success for our business and part of our growth 
strategy. Including Operating NPATA as a gateway supports affordability of the plan in 
a given year.  

Payments made under the STI plan are subject to the achievement of a balanced 
scorecard of individual measures comprising both financial and pre-financial measures 
aligned to our strategic imperatives. 

Measures vary by role and across financial years but broadly fall under the categories 
of Business, Financial & Strategy, Customer & Stakeholder, People & Leadership and 
Operational Excellence. 

The Board has discretion to moderate payment for factors such as alignment to corporate 
values, compliance and prudent risk taking. The finalisation of the FY2021 financial 
targets has been delayed to October 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Further detail is included in Section 2.2. 

What is the target and 
maximum STI 
opportunity each 
Executive KMP can earn 
under the STI plan? 

The target STI opportunity for Executive KMP represents an opportunity to earn around 
32% of total target remuneration. Target STI ranges from 75% to 100% of fixed 
remuneration. 

Executive KMP have the opportunity to earn up to 150% of their target STI where the 
Operating NPATA is 110% of budget. This represents the maximum STI. 

What percentage of STI 
is deferred and for how 
long? 

50% of any STI awarded to the ELT, including the Managing Director, will be deferred into 
Link shares. The deferred shares are subject to a holding lock, half of which are 
deliverable after one year and the remainder after two.  
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EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION IN FY2020 

How is the LTI aligned 
to the business 
strategy? 

The Omnibus Equity Plan measures performance over a three-year period against 
Operating EPS targets (75%) and relative TSR performance targets (25%), with 
no re‑testing.  

The Operating EPS measure strongly aligns to the purpose of the plan to support our 
growth strategy and has strong alignment to sustainable shareholder value. Our key focus 
is on delivering earnings growth to our shareholders. The use of Operating EPS 
as a performance measure is further reinforced by Link’s growth strategy being 
underpinned by a disciplined approach to acquisitions as well as organic growth in our 
existing businesses. This strategy requires dealing effectively with the inherent complexity 
in managing an acquisition’s pipeline and the need to integrate well and achieve synergies. 

Link Group acknowledges that TSR performance relative to a basket of constituents 
is important to some investors. However, in the absence of a sizeable group of comparable 
industry peers, we also acknowledge that comparison to a broad S&P/ASX index 
constituents group can give arbitrary results that are not reflective of the Company’s 
performance. The lower weighting on TSR is reflective of this possibility.  

One-half of any vested award is available to the participant at the end of the performance 
period. The remaining vested award is subject to an additional holding lock, of which 50% 
is available after a further year and 50% after two years. The Board has determined that 
the combination of the three-year vesting period and subsequent two-year holding lock 
provides participants alignment to Link Group’s long-term growth strategy. 

The relative TSR component of the LTI granted in FY2020 is measured against 62 
constituents of the S&P/ASX 100, excluding materials, utilities, industrials and energy 
companies. The Board retains discretion to make adjustments for any unintended 
remuneration outcomes arising from a relative TSR measure. 

Further detail is included in Section 3.1. 

How are EPS targets 
determined? 

The Operating EPS targets in relation to LTI grants are set with reference to the Group’s 
growth strategy. The macroeconomic environment, market and industry peer practice and 
stakeholder expectations are also considered. The target range set provides appropriate 
stretch to executives and achievement provides strong returns to shareholders. 

For the purpose of the LTI, Operating EPS is calculated by dividing the Group’s Operating 
NPATA by the undiluted weighted average number of shares on issue throughout the 
Performance Period. Operating NPATA reflects the underlying earnings of the business 
and excludes the impact of non-cash acquired amortisation and the after-tax impact of 
one off significant items, The Board has discretion to include or exclude items from the 
calculations. A reconciliation of the Operating NPATA to statutory NPAT is set out in 
Figure 2 of the Operating and Financial Review. 

What are the minimum 
shareholding 
requirements for 
Executive KMP? Have 
Executive KMP met the 
requirements? 

Executive KMP are required to hold a minimum shareholding of one year’s fixed 
remuneration within five years of the date they are appointed as a KMP. Deferred STI and 
vested LTI subject to a holding lock count towards this requirement. All Executive KMP 
with five or more years in an Executive KMP role are in compliance with the minimum 
shareholding requirement. See Table 12 for further detail. 
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EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION IN FY2020 

Are there any Fixed Pay 
changes to Executive 
KMP remuneration 
proposed in FY2021? 

The temporary Fixed Pay reductions that came into effect on 1 May 2020 as a result of 
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic for the Managing Director and Executive KMP will 
continue into FY2021. 

We will not be awarding any Fixed Pay increases to the Managing Director and Executive 
KMP for FY2021 notwithstanding that the current Fixed Pay for the Managing Director 
is below market. 

What are the One-Off 
Equity Grant conditions 
for Executive KMP?   

Executive KMP (excluding the Managing Director) will receive a grant of restricted shares 
to recognise their contribution to agreeing to a temporary pay reduction and to support 
retention.  The grant will be made once the temporary pay reductions cease. 

The award value at grant for Executive KMP will be no more than the actual Fixed Pay 
reduction and will be subject to a service condition with 50% being delivered one year 
after being awarded and the remaining 50% after two years.   

The number of restricted shares granted is based on the value available to each 
participant divided by the five trading day volume weighted average market price 
(VWAMP) for Link Group shares from the date of announcement of Link Group’s full year 
results. 

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR REMUNERATION IN FY2020 AND FY2021 

Were there any changes 
to Non‑Executive 
Director remuneration 
in FY2020?  
Are there any proposed 
changes in FY2021? 

Non-Executive Director (NED) base fees were last adjusted in FY2019. NED base fees 
were increased by 2.5% from 1 July 2018 as part of a three-year program to increase 
fees by 2.5% in FY2019, FY2020 and FY2021. The Board has decided in light of the 
COVID-19 pandemic to continue the FY2020 suspension of the increase to base fees for 
FY2021.  

Following a review of the committee structures, changes were implemented to separate 
the audit and risk responsibilities into separate committees to increase the focus on risk 
management. 

Committee fees, which were effective from 1 December 2019, are detailed in Table 10. 

The Chair fee reflects a single payment, with no additional fees paid to the Chair for 
Committee work. 

There will be no changes to the NED fee pool in FY2021. 

What are the minimum 
shareholding 
requirements for 
Non‑Executive 
Directors?  

NEDs are required to hold a minimum shareholding of one time the NED annual base fee 
(not including Committee membership or the higher fee for the Committee Chair) within 
three years after the date of their appointment. 

Have Non-Executive 
Directors met the 
requirements? 

All NEDs are in compliance with the minimum shareholding requirement. 
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2. SUMMARY INFORMATION

2.1 Key Management Personnel 
The names and titles of KMP are set out below. There have been no other changes to KMP following the end of the 
financial year. 
NAME POSITION STATUS TERM AS KMP 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 
Michael Carapiet Independent Chair and Non-Executive Director Full year 

Glen Boreham, AM Independent Non-Executive Director Full year 

Andrew (Andy) Green Independent Non-Executive Director Full year 

Peeyush Gupta, AM Independent Non-Executive Director Full year 

Anne McDonald Independent Non-Executive Director Full year 

Sally Pitkin Independent Non-Executive Director Full year 

Fiona Trafford-Walker Independent Non-Executive Director Full year 

EXECUTIVE KMP 
John McMurtrie, AM Executive Director and Managing Director Full year 

Chris Addenbrooke Chief Executive Officer, Link Fund Solutions Full year 

Paul Gardiner Chief Executive Officer, Technology and Operations Full year 

Robbie Hughes Chief Executive Officer, Banking and Credit 
Management 

Full year 

Andrew MacLachlan Chief Financial Officer Full year 
Dee McGrath Chief Executive Officer, Retirement & Superannuation 

Solutions 
Full year 

Lysa McKenna Co-Chief Executive Officer, Corporate Markets (APAC) Part year Commenced 1 January 
2020 

Susan Ring Co-Chief Executive Officer, Corporate Markets (EMEA) 
and CEO Retirement & Superannuation Solutions 

Part year Commenced 1 January 
2020 
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2.2 FY2020 Overview – alignment between performance and Executive KMP remuneration 
In FY2020, our Executive KMP remuneration consisted of fixed remuneration, short-term incentives (STIs) and a grant 
of Performance Share Rights (PSRs) under the LTI plan. The short and long-term incentive plans align remuneration 
outcomes to Link Group’s strategic objectives, and reward superior business performance and sustainable shareholder 
value creation. Given the Operating NPATA STI gateway was not achieved, no STIs were awarded to Executive KMP in 
FY2020. In addition to the above remuneration elements, the Executive KMP presently hold an estimated 3% of Link 
Group’s share capital. 

Tables 1, 2 and 3 provide further detail of our performance against our strategic goals in FY2020. 

For FY2020, Executive KMP performance has been contextualised by the strong leadership demonstrated during the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  No STI payments were awarded as the Operating NPATA gate was not met, and the Board did 
not elect to exercise any upward discretion to make awards. 

Table 1: KPI Performance of Executive KMP 

MEASURE OUTCOME DESCRIPTION 

Company Financial 
Performance  

Below target Link Group reported Operating NPATA was $144.0 million in FY2020 
($197.8 million in FY2019). The Operating NPATA gateway of $151.7 
million was not met in FY2020. 

Divisional Financial 
Performance 

Below target All divisions performed below their target Operating EBITDA budget. 

Strategy At target The global operating model and organisation structure was implemented. 

R&SS business expanded internationally with the investment in and 
partnership with SMART Pension.  From 1 January 2020, Link Group is 
administering for approximately 0.5 million members of the SMART Master 
Trust in the UK. 

FY2020 was Link Group’s first full year with a 44% stake in PEXA which 
provides exposure to the property market, Australia’s single largest asset 
class.  PEXA’s performance in FY2020 was driven by strong uptake across 
multiple states, with national transfer market penetration at 77% in June 
2020. 

Announcement of Pepper European Servicing (PES) acquisition, subject to 
regulatory approval in FY2021, will grow the BCM business in both existing 
and new European jurisdictions. 

Customer and 
Stakeholder 

At target Business development through new clients and new services are key 
drivers of Link Group’s growth strategy.  Key highlights included:  

- Launching first virtual only AGM for clients in Australia, the United
Kingdom (UK) and Germany;

- Completing the rollout of the digital platform for our largest Funds
Solutions client in the UK;

- Managing one of Australia’s largest employee share scheme
grants during COVID-19;

- Retaining major clients across all businesses;

- Processing over 1.35 million requests for early access
superannuation payments valued at over $9 billion; and

- Continuing global development of Link Group’s brand.
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MEASURE OUTCOME DESCRIPTION

execution of the Link Group corporate governance framework to drive good 
corporate governance principles in how we operate to create sustainable 
value for shareholders. 

People and 
Leadership 

At target Link Group recognises its people are paramount to the ongoing success of 
the business.  In FY2020: 

- there was lower employee turnover;

- the wellbeing of our employees was addressed effectively,
particularly in response to the COVID-19 pandemic;

- progress was made against diversity targets with balanced gender
participation achieved at management and ELT level;

- a talent management and succession planning process was
implemented for senior roles;

- Link Academy was launched providing on-line training solutions to
all employees;

- the Link Wellness hub rollout was extended to all jurisdictions
globally; and

- a global performance management process and scorecard was
implemented.

Operational 
Excellence 

At target Rapid response to COVID-19 pandemic included continuity of service to 
clients with 83% of employees able to consistently work remotely.  

Despite the impact of COVID-19, the global transformation program 
achieved operational efficiency savings in excess of $14.7 million with the 
hub strategy being progressed including the build out of Leeds and Mumbai 
hubs.  Mumbai hub operations commenced with capacity for up 1,200 seats 
to be filled over the next 2 years.  As at 30 June 2020, around 230 FTEs 
were in place. 

Continued rollout of productivity and workflow automation systems and 
tools across various business units to improve efficiency and accuracy. 

Table 2: FY2020 STI Outcomes Summary 

EXECUTIVE KMP 

GATEWAY 
NOT MET STRATEGIC GOALS

COMPANY 
FINANCIAL 

DIVISIONAL 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY 

CUSTOMER 
AND 

STAKEHOLDER 
PEOPLE AND 
LEADERSHIP 

OPERATIONAL 
EXCELLENCE 

TOTAL STI 
AWARDED 

John McMurtrie Not Met N/A Largely Met Largely Met Largely Met Partially Met 0 

Chris Addenbrooke Not Met Not Met Largely Met Largely Met Largely Met Partially Met 0 

Paul Gardiner Not Met Not Met Largely Met Largely Met Largely Met Partially Met 0 

Robbie Hughes Not Met Not Met Largely Met Largely Met Largely Met Partially Met 0 

Andrew MacLachlan Not Met N/A Largely Met Largely Met Largely Met Partially Met 0 

Dee McGrath Not Met Not Met Largely Met Largely Met Largely Met Partially Met 0 

Lysa McKenna Not Met Not Met Largely Met Largely Met Largely Met Partially Met 0 

Susan Ring Not Met Not Met Largely Met Largely Met Largely Met Partially Met 0 
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Table 3: STI amounts awarded  

EXECUTIVE KMP 
STI TARGET 

($) 
STI ACHIEVED  

(% OF TARGET) 

STI 
FORFEITED 

(%) 
STI STRETCH 
COMPONENT 

STI TO BE 
PAID IN 

CASH ($) 

John McMurtrie $1,100,000 0 100% N/A 0 

Chris Addenbrooke $452,918 0 100% N/A 0

Paul Gardiner $502,500 0 100% N/A 0

Robbie Hughes $460,808 0 100% N/A 0

Andrew MacLachlan $450,000 0 100% N/A 0

Dee McGrath $468,750 0 100% N/A 0

Lysa McKenna $300,000 0 100% N/A 0

Susan Ring $384,891 0 100% N/A 0 

Chris Addenbrooke and Susan Ring are based in the UK and accordingly are remunerated in GBP. Robbie Hughes is 
based in Ireland and is remunerated in EUR.  Their STI Targets reflect historic arrangements and have been converted 
to AUD using the prevailing exchange rates that were used to prepare the financial statements for FY2020. 
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FY2018 LTI Grant Outcome  
The Omnibus Equity Plan measures performance over a three-year period against Operating EPS targets (75%) and 
relative TSR performance targets (25%). 

FY2018 EPS Grant Outcome 
EPS PSRs are subject to a compound annual growth rate in Operating EPS of between a threshold target of 7% and 
a stretch target of 12%.  

Table 4: FY2018 EPS Grant Outcome 

2020 2017 
CAGR 

% 

Operating NPATA ($millions) 144.0  123.8  5.2% 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (millions) 531.7 359.8 13.9% 

Operating EPS (cents) 27.1 34.4 (7.7)% 

Using the vesting scale outlined in section 3.1, 0% of the PSR’s subject to the EPS hurdle vested in FY2020. The Board considered the 
impact of various transactions using the agreed transactions principles and, in regards to the major transactions during the performance 
period, decided not to make any adjustment to the FY2018 targets for the equity investment in PEXA, the LAS acquisition, the disposal 
of the CPCS business and equity raising activities during FY2018. 

FY2018 TSR Grant Outcome 
TSR takes into account the change in Link Group’s share price over the relevant performance period, as well as the 
dividends paid (dividends are assumed to be reinvested in Link Group shares). 

Over the performance period, Link Group was ranked in the 17th percentile within the peer group. Using the vesting 
scale outlined in section 3.1, no PSR’s subject to the TSR hurdle vested in FY2020. 

Table 5 outlines the financial performance of Link Group. 

Table 5: Five-year performance of Link Group 

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 

EPS (cents) (21.81) 59.6 27.86 22.59 12.11 

Operating EBITDA ($millions) 293.8 394.6 368.3 219.0 190.6 

Operating NPATA            ($millions) 144.0 197.8 203.2  123.8  95.1 

Net Profit (loss) after tax ($millions) (113.9) 318.1 139.8 85.2 42.5 

Change in share price to 30 June ($) (0.90) (2.33) (0.57) 0.03 1.80 

Declared Dividends (cps) 19.0 20.5 20.5 14.0 8.0 

Note that FY2018 and FY2019 Operating EBITDA comparatives have been re-stated to comply with AASB16 Leases and assist with 
comparability to FY2020. 

Actual Remuneration Received 
Table 6 shows the actual cash remuneration paid or payable to Executive KMP for services provided in FY2020 and 
FY2019 and deferred payments received. The table below does not include the accounting value of equity that was 
expensed, but not realised, under the LTI. 
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Table 6: Actual remuneration received in FY2020 and FY2019  

Year 
Fixed 

Remuneration  

($) 

STI Awarded1, 2  

Deferred 
STI 

Realised 
LTI 

Realised 
Termination 

benefits 
Total 

Remuneration  

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 

EXECUTIVE KMP 3 

John McMurtrie 
2020 1,005,886 - - 553,784 N/A 1,559,670 

2019 1,035,217 - - - N/A  1,035,217 

Chris Addenbrooke4 
2020 497,799 237,474 - -  N/A 735,273 

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Paul Gardiner 
2020 626,664 - - 165,182 N/A 791,846 

2019 662,315 - - - N/A  662,315 

Robbie Hughes4 
2020 448,485 231,975 - - N/A 680,460 

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Andrew MacLachlan4 
2020 551,553 - - 97,342 N/A 648,895 

2019 297,162 - - N/A N/A 297,162 

Dee McGrath4,5 
2020 598,735 - - 137,603 N/A 736,338 

2019 78,220 - N/A N/A N/A 78,220 

Lysa McKenna4 
2020 176,165 - - - N/A 176,165 

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Susan Ring4 
2020 188,403 - - - N/A 188,403 

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

1 Chris Addenbrooke was eligible to participate in a retention bonus of GBP 379,500 (gross), payable in 3 equal payments in April 2018, April 2019 and April 
2020.  The amount reflected represents the final tranche of this incentive. 

2 Robbie Hughes was eligible to participate in a retention bonus of EUR 422,400 (gross), payable in 3 equal payments in April 2018, April 2019 and April 
2020.  The amount reflected represents the final tranche of this incentive. 

3 Chris Addenbrooke and Susan Ring are based in the UK and accordingly are remunerated in GBP. Robbie Hughes is based in Ireland and remunerated in 
EUR.  Their LTI targets reflect historic arrangements. Remuneration has been converted to AUD using the prevailing exchange rates that were used to 
prepare the financial statements for FY2020. 

4 Remuneration for KMP is included from the date they are designated as KMP.  For Chris Addenbrooke and Robbie Hughes, this is 1 July 2019.  For Dee 
McGrath, this is her commencement date of 20 May 2019. For Lysa McKenna and Susan Ring, this is 1 January 2020. For Andrew MacLachlan, his 
commencement date was 1 January 2019. 

5 Dee McGrath was issued with 65,325 shares on commencement. The amount included under LTI Realised reflects 25,453 restricted shares which were 
released from a holding lock.   The remainder of the shares are held under a holding lock.
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2.3 Executive KMP statutory remuneration table 
Table 7 presents the remuneration for Executive KMP for FY2020 and comparative information for FY2019. The 
information presented in Table 7 has been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards and 
accordingly differs from the information presented in the actual remuneration received in Table 6 in Section 2.2. 

Table 7: Executive KMP statutory remuneration  

NAME  YEAR 
SALARY AND 

FEES 

SHORT-TERM BENEFITS 
POST- 

EMPLOYMEN
T BENEFITS 

OTHER 
LONG-
TERM 

BENEFITS 

EQUITY 
BASED 

PAYMENTS 
% OF 

REMUN-
ERATION 
RELATED 

TO 
PERFORM-

ANCE 

VALUE OF 
PSRS AS 

A % OF 
REMUN-

ERATION 

STI 6 
OTHER 

BENEFITS 

SUPER-
ANNUATION 

BENEFITS 

LONG 
SERVICE 

LEAVE 

TERMIN-AT
ION 

BENEFITS LTI TOTAL 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

John 
McMurtrie 

2020 1,005,886  -   12,936  21,003  19,880  N/A 280,975  1,340,680  0% 21% 

2019 1,035,217 - 12,529 25,000 - N/A 265,823 1,338,569 0% 20% 

Chris 
Addenbrooke
7

2020 461,072  79,158  74,383  5,541  -   N/A 74,067  694,221  11% 11% 

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Paul Gardiner 
2020 626,664 - 12,397 21,003 12,117 N/A 98,620 770,801 0% 13% 

2019 662,315  -   12,298  20,531  33,127  N/A 84,595  812,866  0% 10% 

Robbie8 
Hughes 

2020 448,485  77,325  37,876  67,273  -   N/A 143,990  774,949  10% 19% 

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Andrew 
MacLachlan 

2020 551,553 - 12,904 25,000 23,082 N/A 87,407 699,946 0% 12% 

2019 297,162 - 6,396 13,617 8,574 N/A (25,896) 299,853 0% (9%) 

Dee McGrath9 
2020 598,735 - 8,489 21,003 - N/A 377,160 1,005,387 0% 38% 

2019 78,220  -   946  5,133  58  N/A 68,478  152,835  0% 45% 

Lysa 
McKenna 

2020 176,165 - 6,560 10,501 3,895 N/A 34,159 231,280 0% 15% 

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Susan Ring 
2020 188,403 - 917 9,418 - N/A 46,122 244,860 0% 19% 

2019 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Anthony 
O’Keefe10 

2020 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

2019 556,468  405,505  342,366  76,434 -  30,718 39,783  1,451,274  0% 3% 

Total 
2020 4,056,963  156,483  166,462  180,742  58,974  -   1,142,500  5,762,124  3% 20% 

2019 2,629,382  405,505  374,535  140,715  41,759  30,718 432,783  4,055,397  0% 11% 

6  No Executive KMP received a Company STI in relation to FY2020. 
7 Chris Addenbrooke was eligible to participate in a retention bonus of GBP 379,500 (gross), payable in 3 equal payments in April 2018, April 2019 and 

April 2020.  The Incentive amount under the STI in the table represents the company expense for this payment in FY2020.  He also received a Cash in 
Lieu of Pension payment shown in Other Benefits relating to both FY2019 and FY2020, which is a mechanism in the UK for those whose annual 
contributions are above the Pension Annual Allowance. 

8  Robbie Hughes was eligible to participate in a retention bonus of EUR 422,400 (gross), payable in 3 equal payments in April 2018, April 2019 and April 
2020.  The Incentive amount under the STI in the table represents the company expense for this payment in FY2020. 

9  The amount included in LTI for Dee McGrath includes restricted shares issued to her on commencement. The shares were issued under a holding lock. 
10 Anthony O’Keeffe ceased as a KMP on 30 June 2019.  Figures included in the table are for year on year comparison.  STI amount for Mr O’Keefe 

includes an accrued cash retention bonus and the expense relating to an STI adjustment from the prior year. 
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3. DETAILED REMUNERATION INFORMATION

3.1 Detail of Executive KMP remuneration framework 
Table 8 outlines the detail of the FY2020 STI and LTI arrangements. 

Table 8: FY2020 approach 

STI 

Opportunity Any STI awarded is subject to the achievement of annual targets. 

The target STI opportunity for Executive KMP represents an opportunity to earn around 32% of total 
target remuneration. Target STI ranges from 75% to 100% of fixed remuneration. 

Executive KMP have the opportunity to earn up to 150% of their target STI where the Operating 
NPATA is 110% of budget. This represents the maximum STI.  A sliding scale applies between 100% 
and 110% achievement of the Operating NPATA target to determine the STI pool accrual.  The actual 
STI pool as well as the quantum of an individual KMP’s STI is performance based and subject to 
Board discretion. 

50% of any STI paid is delivered as cash with the remaining 50% awarded in the form of Link Group 
shares with a holding lock of up to 2 years.  

Gateway A minimum level of Operating NPATA must be achieved before any STI is paid. This level is set 
by the Board annually once the Budget is approved. 

In FY2020, the STI Gateway Operating NPATA target for Executive KMP was $151.7 million.  This 
gateway was not adjusted for any COVID-19 impact. 

As the STI gateway target was not met, no Executive KMP received a STI in FY2020. 

Performance 
measures 

Allocation of the STI is by achievement of a balanced scorecard of relevant corporate, business unit 
(where relevant) and individual measures aligned to our strategic objectives comprising 
a combination of Operating NPATA, business Operating EBIT and individual strategic goals. Goals 
vary by role and across financial years but broadly fall under the categories of Company 
Performance, Strategic Priorities, Divisional Financial Performance, Customer & Stakeholder, 
People & Leadership and Operational Excellence.  

In providing a final assessment of performance against goals, the Board may in their discretion also 
take into consideration the Executive KMP’s alignment to Link Group’s core values and culture, 
behaviours, compliance, and prudent risk taking. The Board may in their discretion also take into 
consideration the impact of circumstances either positive or negative that arise through the 
reviewing period such as an acquisition or disposal event, fraud, information security or privacy 
breach, reputational damage, client wins or losses and other events.  

For FY2020, the weighting of financial (Operating NPATA and Operating EBITDA) to pre-financial 
goals (Strategic and Operational goals) was 55%/45% for the Managing Director and 60%/40% for 
other Executive KMP. Further detail is provided in Section 2.2. 

STI Deferral In FY2020, deferral of 50% of any earned STI into equity is mandatory for Executive KMPs. Deferral 
is into Link Group shares which are subject to a holding lock for a period of up to two years. 
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Clawback The Board has the discretion to determine that some portion or all of an employee’s unvested or 
vested short-term incentive (STI) and long-term incentive (LTI) awards be forfeited if, in the Board’s 
opinion, adverse circumstances affecting the performance, reputation or risk profile of Link Group 
have come to the Board’s attention which circumstances, had they been known at the time when the 
STI or LTI was made, would have caused the Board to make a different award or no award. No 
Board discretion in relation to clawback was applied in FY2020. 

Termination The Board has the discretion to determine the treatment of deferred STI in the event an Executive 
KMP ceases employment during the vesting period.  

LTI – OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN 

Award 
vehicle 

Awards are delivered in the form of PSRs. No dividends are paid during the performance period. 
Participants are entitled to receive dividends and to exercise voting rights attaching to those shares 
post-vesting while the shares are subject to the holding lock. 

A cash-settled alternative (through the issue of indeterminate rights) is included in the Omnibus 
Equity Plan. 

Opportunity The maximum grant value of LTI opportunities represents 22% to 45% of the total target 
remuneration package for Executive KMP, or 50% to 161% of fixed remuneration. 

The number of performance rights granted is determined based on the opportunity available to each 
participant divided by the five trading day VWAMP for Link Group shares from the date of 
announcement of Link Group’s full year results. 

Performance 
measures 

The following performance measures apply for FY2020 grants under the LTI: 

Operating EPS (75%) – EPS is calculated by dividing Link Group’s Operating NPATA by the 
undiluted weighted average number of shares on issue throughout the performance period. 
The Board has discretion to include or exclude items from the calculations. Franking credits are 
excluded from the calculations. Operating NPATA is a measure consistently used internally and by 
which both Management and the market tracks Link Group’s performance. Operating NPATA reflects 
the underlying earnings of the business and excludes the impact of non-cash acquired amortisation 
as well as the after tax impact of one off significant items. While an internal measure, it receives 
assurance at each level within the business. The use of EPS as a performance measure reinforces 
Link’s growth strategy which is underpinned by a disciplined approach to acquisitions as well as 
organic growth in our existing businesses. This strategy requires dealing effectively with the inherent 
complexity in managing an acquisitions pipeline and the need to integrate well and achieve 
synergies. PSRs are subject to a compound annual growth rate in EPS of between a threshold target 
of 7% and a stretch target of 12%. This target range provides appropriate stretch to executives, 
is competitive against the ranges set by industry peers and achievement should result in strong 
returns to shareholders.  

Our key focus is on delivering earnings growth to our shareholders. The EPS measure strongly 
supports the aim of the LTI principles in supporting our growth strategy.  

TSR (25%) – relative to the constituents of the S&P/ASX 100, excluding materials, utilities, 
industrials and energy companies. Our starting comparator group, before consideration of any 
corporate actions during the vesting period, is 55 companies for the FY2020 grant. 

TSR takes into account the change in Link Group’s share price over the relevant performance period, 
as well as the dividends paid (dividends are assumed to be reinvested in Link Group shares). 

Link Group acknowledges that TSR performance relative to a basket of constituents is important 
to some investors. However, in the absence of a sizeable group of comparable industry peers, we 
also acknowledge that comparison to a broad S&P/ASX index constituents group can give arbitrary 
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LTI – OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN 

results that are not reflective of the Company’s performance. The lower weighting on TSR is 
reflective of this. 

Vesting 
schedule 

The vesting schedule for the EPS portion is as follows: 

EPS PERFORMANCE OUTCOME 
PERCENTAGE OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 
THAT WILL VEST 

Compound annual growth rate of less than 7% 0% 
Compound annual growth rate of 7% 50% 
Compound annual growth rate between 7% 
and 12% Pro-rata between 50% and 100% 
Compound annual growth rate of 12% or more 100% 

The vesting schedule for the TSR portion is as follows: 

LINK GROUP’S RELATIVE TSR RANKING 
PERCENTAGE OF PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 
THAT WILL VEST 

Link Group ranks below the 50th percentile 0% 
Link Group ranks at the 50th percentile 50% 
Link Group ranks between the 50th and 
75th percentile 

Pro-rata between 50% (at 50th percentile) 
and 100% (at 75th percentile) 

Link Group ranks at or above the 75th percentile 100% 

Transaction 
impact 

As a framework for assessing the treatment of transactions, the Board uses a number of principles 
against which to assess the impact of a transaction on the LTI: 
1. preserve the value of the awards held by employees;
2. reward for the success of the transaction;
3. maintain the level of stretch expected when the original targets were set;
4. be consistent with general market/shareholder expectations; and
5. maintain the integrity of each year’s remuneration as awarded.

Each transaction is assessed against these criteria on a case by case basis.

Performance 
period and 
holding lock 

Performance is measured over a three-year period. Awards lapse at the end of three years to the 
extent performance measures are not met. There is no retesting of awards. 

One-half of any vested award is available to the participant at the end of the performance period. 
A holding lock applies to the remaining 50%; one-half of which is then available after a further one 
and two years respectively. Shares are delivered upon PSRs vesting and are held by a trustee while 
the holding lock applies. 

Clawback Under the Omnibus Equity Plan, the Board has the discretion to determine that some portion or all 
of an employee’s unvested or vested short-term incentive (STI) and long-term incentive (LTI) awards 
be forfeited if, in the Board’s opinion, adverse circumstances affecting the performance, reputation or 
risk profile of Link Group have come to the Board’s attention which circumstances, had they been 
known at the time when the STI or LTI was made, would have caused the Board to make a different 
award or no award.  
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LTI – OMNIBUS EQUITY PLAN 

Termination In the event of a cessation of employment for a ‘qualifying reason’ (for example, death, serious injury, 
disability or illness, genuine retirement or retrenchment), equity will be retained ‘on-foot’ and will 
be tested against performance hurdles at the original vesting date alongside other participants, 
having regard to the portion of the performance period served, unless otherwise determined by the 
Board. 

Change 
of control 

The Board has the discretion to vest outstanding awards taking into account the portion of the 
vesting period and performance against hurdles at the time of the change of control and any 
replacement equity offered by third parties. There is no acceleration of awards in respect 
of a potential change of control. 

Treatment 
of dividends 

Participants are not eligible to receive dividends on PSRs until rights are vested and converted into 
shares. Dividends apply to shares subject to a holding lock. 

Hedging 
policy 

Executive KMP are not permitted to hedge unvested award nor awards subject to a holding lock. 

Minimum 
Shareholding 
Requirement 

Executive KMP are required to hold a minimum of one year’s annual fixed remuneration within five 
years of the date that they are appointed as a KMP. Deferred STI and vested LTI subject to a holding 
lock count towards this requirement. 
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3.2 Key terms of employment contracts 
The key employment terms for the Executive KMP are summarised in Table 9. All Executive KMP have continuing 
contracts. 

Table 9: Employment terms 

ANNUAL LEAVE 
ENTITLEMENT 

NOTICE PERIOD 
COMPANY AND 

EMPLOYEE 

EXECUTIVE KMP 
John McMurtrie 30 days 12 months 

Chris Addenbrooke 25 days 12 months 

Paul Gardiner 20 days 12 months 

Robbie Hughes 29 days 6 months 

Andrew MacLachlan 20 days 12 months 

Dee McGrath 20 days 6 months 

Lysa McKenna 20 days 6 months 

Susan Ring 27 days 6 months 

All employment contracts contain: 
• total remuneration packages (including mandatory superannuation or pension contributions), plus car parking and

any related FBT liability (where applicable) as a discretionary benefit that can be removed at any time;
• express provisions protecting Link Group’s confidential information and intellectual property; and
• post-employment restrictions covering non-competition, non-solicitation of clients and non-poaching of employees

for a maximum of 12 months.

Under the terms of all employment contracts, either party is entitled to terminate employment by giving written notice 
in accordance with the relevant contract notice period. Link Group may, at its election, make a payment in lieu of that 
notice based on the Executive KMP’s base remuneration package. 

Link Group may also terminate employment immediately and without further payment where the employee commits 
serious misconduct and on other similar grounds. 

Any termination payments are paid within applicable legislative requirements. 

3.3 Non-Executive Director fees and statutory remuneration table 

Non-Executive Director fee policy 
The pool for payment of Non-Executive Directors’ (NED) fees is capped by the Company at $2 million per annum. NED 
fees are set with reference to relevant market data. The Board reviews fees annually and seeks benchmarking data 
using the same comparator groups used for the Executive KMP, being Australian-listed companies of similar size and/or 
industry. Consideration is given to S&P/ASX 200 entities with market capitalisation 50% to 200% of Link Group’s 12-
month average market capitalisation and specific peer companies. The Board also reviews NED remuneration with 
reference to the scale, complexity and geographical reach of Link Group. 

NEDs receive an annual fee for Board membership and for service as the Chair or a Member of Board Committees. 
The Chair of the Board does not receive any fees for serving as a Member of Board Committees and NEDs do not 
receive fees for serving on the Nominations Committee. NEDs are eligible to receive a travel allowance for overseas 
board meetings. In FY2020, only UK based Andy Green received a travel allowance for his return trips to Australia. NEDs 
do not participate in any variable or incentive plans and do not receive retirement benefits other than superannuation.  

Following a review of the committee structures, the audit and risk responsibilities were separated to enable a greater 
focus on risk management.  The committee structures and fees effective from 1 December 2019 are detailed in Table 10. 
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Table 10: Non-Executive Director fees 11, 12 

2020  
(FROM 1 DEC 2019) 

2019 

CHAIR FEE MEMBER FEE CHAIR FEE MEMBER FEE 

Base fees $365,600 $168,100 $365,600 13 $168,100 

Committee 
Risk and Audit Committee14 N/A N/A $35,875 $17,938 
Risk Committee $32,000 $16,000 N/A N/A 
Audit Committee $32,000 $16,000 N/A N/A 
Human Resources and Remuneration Committee $32,000 $16,000 $28,700 $14,350 
Technology and Operations Committee15 $32,000 $16,000 $28,700 $14,350 
Nominations Committee – – – – 

Fees paid to NEDs during FY2020 and FY2019 were: 

Table 11: Statutory remuneration for Non-Executive Directors 

NAME YEAR 
FEES 

$ 

SUPERANNUATION 
BENEFITS 

$ 
TOTAL 

$ 

Michael Carapiet 
2020 336,797 - 336,797 
2019 365,600 - 365,600 

Glen Boreham 
2020 206,834 - 206,834 
2019 211,150 -   211,150 

Andrew (Andy) Green 16 
2020 277,241 - 277,241 
2019 289,755 -   289,755 

Peeyush Gupta 
2020 171,298 16,273 187,571 
2019 169,898 16,140 186,038 

Anne McDonald 
2020 171,298 16,273 187,571 
2019 169,898 16,140 186,038 

Sally Pitkin 
2020 209,022 -   209,022 
2019 214,738 -   214,738 

Fiona Trafford-Walker 
2020 209,824 - 209,824 
2019 218,325 -   218,325 

Total 
2020 1,582,314 32,546 1,614,860 
2019 1,639,364 32,280 1,671,644 

Minimum shareholding requirements 
The Board has adopted a Minimum Shareholding Policy to assist in aligning the interests of all Directors with our 
shareholders. Each NED must hold a minimum number of shares, equivalent to one times the NED annual base fee 
(not including Committee membership or the higher fee for the Committee Chair). The minimum shareholding requirement 
must be met within three years after the date of their appointment. At the time of publication of this Report, all NEDs with 
three or more years’ service are in compliance with the minimum shareholding requirements.

11 Amounts are exclusive of GST and inclusive of any required superannuation payments (where applicable). 
12 Amounts are full fees, prior to any temporary reduction applied as a result of COVID-19 measures. 
13 The Chair’s fee is delivered as a single payment. The Chair receives no additional fees for any Committee work undertaken. 
14 The Risk and Audit Committee was separated into two separate committees from 1 December 2019 to increase the focus on risk management. 
15 The Technology and Operations Committee was previously named the Technology and Innovation Committee. 
16 Andy Green is based in the UK and accordingly is remunerated in GBP. His annual fee for serving as a Director of the Company is £102,500. In 

addition, he receives a travel allowance of £5,575 for each return trip to Australia to attend Board meetings.  Mr Green also received an annualised fee of 
£40,000 for serving as Chair of the Link Asset Services (LAS) Advisory Forum, which advised the Board on strategic, operational and risk matters in 
relation to the LAS business. The LAS Advisory Forum was disbanded on 1 December 2019, and the respective fee ceased.  
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3.4 Remuneration governance 

The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee (the Committee) assists the Board with oversight of Link Group’s 
human resources and remuneration strategies and supporting policies and practices for our employees and NEDs and 
monitoring the implementation and effectiveness of the strategy, policies and practices. 

Figure 3 outlines the relationship between the Board, Committee, Management and external advisors. The Committee 
comprises independent NEDs appointed by the Board. 

Figure 3 

During FY2020, no remuneration recommendations were provided by any external advisors. 
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3.5 Additional required disclosures 

Table 12 outlines the grant of PSRs for Executive KMP in FY2020. 

Table 12: PSRs 

TOTAL 
NUMBER 
OF PSRS 
AS AT 1 

JULY 2019 

PSRS 
GRANTED 
IN FY2020 

GRANT DATE 
EXPIRY DATE 

FOR PSRS 
GRANTED IN 

FY2020 

EXERCISE 
PRICE 
FOR 

PSRS 
GRANTED 
IN FY2020 

FAIR VALUE OF 
PSRS GRANTED IN 

FY2020 

TOTAL 
NUMBER 
OF PSRS 
VESTED 
DURING 

THE 
YEAR 

TOTAL 
NUMBER OF 

PSRS 
FORFEITED 

/LAPSED 
OR 

EXPIRED 
DURING 

THE YEAR 

TOTAL 
NUMBER 
OF PSRS 
AS AT 30 

JUNE 
2020 

EPS TSR 

EXECUTIVE KMP17 

John McMurtrie 472,142 269,009 18.12.2019 18.12.2026 Nil 5.01 2.80 75,835 52,157 613,159 

Chris Addenbrooke 99,614 72,902 18.12.2019 18.12.2026 Nil 5.01 2.80 - - 172,516 

Paul Gardiner 161,197 92,166 18.12.2019 18.12.2026 Nil 5.01 2.80 22,620 15,559 215,184 

Robbie Hughes 176,195 134,911 18.12.2019 18.12.2026 Nil 5.01 2.80 - - 311,106 

Andrew MacLachlan 93,449 82,537 18.12.2019 18.12.2026 Nil 5.01 2.80 13,330 9,168 153,488 

Dee McGrath - 57,317 18.12.2019 18.12.2026 Nil 5.01 2.80 - - 57,317 

Lysa McKenna 70,886 - N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A - - 70,886 

Susan Ring 89,963 - N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A - - 89,963 

All PSRs granted during FY2020 vest over a service period covering 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2022. 

17 Lysa McKenna and Susan Ring were designated as KMP on 1 January 2020. Their share rights have been included from this date.

61



01 Directors’ Report 

Movements in shareholdings 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in Link Administration Holdings 
Limited held, directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each NED and Executive KMP, including their related parties, is 
set out in Table 13. 

Table 13: Shareholding movement 

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 
2019 

RECEIVED ON 
EXERCISE OF 

OPTIONS/ 
RIGHTS 

PURCHASED/ 
ACQUIRED DISPOSED 

BALANCE AT 
30 JUNE 2020 

Michael Carapiet   1,647,160  -   320,000  -   1,967,160  

Glen Boreham   100,989  -  19,532  -   120,521  

Andrew (Andy) Green  26,030  - - -  26,030  

Peeyush Gupta  44,885  - 1,843  -  46,728  

Anne McDonald  32,267  - 604 -  32,871  

Sally Pitkin  70,517  -  15,000  -  85,517  

Fiona Trafford-Walker  29,944  - 1,229  -  31,173  

John McMurtrie, AM 13,881,830   75,835    200,000  - 14,157,665  

Chris Addenbrooke  48,041  - - -  48,041  

Paul Gardiner   463,538   22,620    291,900  -   778,058  

Robbie Hughes  49,850  - - -  49,850  

Andrew MacLachlan  68,067   13,330   14,735  -  96,132  

Dee McGrath18  65,325  - - -  65,325  

Lysa McKenna  48,639  - 4,008  -  52,647  

Susan Ring - - - - - 

Loans to Key Management Personnel and their related parties 
There were no loans to KMP during the year. 

Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 
A number of Link Group’s NEDs are directors of other entities, which will, from time to time, transact with Link 
Group. The terms and conditions of the transactions with these entities were no more favourable than those 
available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-key management 
personnel-related entities on an arm’s length basis. Those transactions are the provision of Link Group services 
to companies of which some of the NEDs were directors, such as registry services. 

From time to time, Directors of Link Group, or their related entities, may purchase services from Link Group. 
These purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Link Group employees or 
clients and are engaged on an arm’s length basis. These services relate to some NEDs being members of 
superannuation funds to which Link Group provides services. 

18 On commencement Dee McGrath was granted 65,325 restricted shares which vest over four vesting dates, commencing 31 October 2019 and 
ending 30 August 2022.
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OTHER INFORMATION 

Significant Changes in State of Affairs 
Entry in to UK pension market - Smart Pension 
On 13 November 2019, Link Group announced a strategic global partnership and minority investment in Smart Pension – 
a leading UK workplace pension provider. As at 30 June 2020, the partnership included Link Group acquiring an 
ownership interest of 17.4% in Smart Pension Limited and a 100% controlling interest in Smart Pension Administration 
Limited for £40.0 million ($75.0 million). Link Group’s investment in Smart Pension provides Link Group with access to 
Smart Pension’s platform in the UK, with exclusive utilisation of this platform in certain jurisdictions across Europe and 
Asia. Link Group has also taken on the administration for Smart’s UK workplace pension operation, including the 
administration of the fast growing Smart Pension Master Trust. 

Other changes in state of affairs 
In August 2019, Link Group repaid $194.0 million of its AUD non-amortising loan facility and £118.0 million of its GBP 
non-amortising loan facility using proceeds from the sale of the CPCS business on 28 June 2019.  Link Group pre-
emptively drew down $127 million of its AUD non-amortising loan facility and £34.3 million of its GBP non-amortising loan 
facility during March and April 2020 as a precautionary measure to ensure availability of cash during the COVID-19 
pandemic for operations and previously announced acquisitions that are yet to complete given they are subject to 
regulatory approval. 

On 29 May 2020, Link Group extended the term of its fully drawn $275.0 million AUD non-amortising loan facility by 2 
years to 25 January 2024. All other terms and conditions of the facilities remain substantially the same. 

On 29 August 2019, Link Group announced its intention to undertake an on-market buy-back of up to 53,395,062 shares 
(being approximately up to 10% of Link Group’s issued ordinary shares).  During the year ended 30 June 2020, Link 
Group bought-back and cancelled 3,622,175 shares for a total consideration of $19.4 million. 

In the opinion of the Directors, aside from the matters described above, there were no other significant changes in the 
state of the affairs of the Company or Link Group that occurred during the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

Events Subsequent to Reporting Date 
PEXA capital return 
In July 2020, Torrens Group Holding’s Board (i.e. the PEXA Holdco Board) approved a $950 million capital return 
financed by shareholder debt (Link Group’s 44.2% share is approximately $420 million).  This will result in a loan 
receivable being recognised by Link Group in FY2021 (and corresponding reduction in the value of its equity accounted 
investment).  Interest income will accrue on the loan (offsetting the interest expense Torrens Group will recognise). 
Torrens Group is expected to commence refinancing its debt in FY2021 such that it will raise the first tranche external 
debt in order to repay shareholder debt, presently scheduled to be completed by the end of the 2020 calendar year.  

On-market share buy-back 
On 26 August 2020 the Directors resolved to cease the on-market share buy-back announced to the ASX on 29 August 
2019. 

Impact of COVID-19 on post balance date trading 
Whilst the Directors note the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact global markets, including jurisdictions that 
Link Group operates in, Link Group has shown resilience and has been proactive in response to these challenges. The 
future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic remains uncertain. 

Retirement of Managing Director 

On 7 August 2020 Link Group announced that John McMurtrie will retire as Managing Director of Link Group in early 
2021 and will be succeeded by Vivek Bhatia as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. Vivek Bhatia, currently 
QBE Chief Executive Officer, Australia Pacific, was the standout candidate from an extensive international executive 
search as part of a planned succession process. John will work with Vivek over the coming months to ensure a smooth 
transition. 
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Other than the matters described above, in the opinion of the Directors, there has not arisen in the interval between the 
end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, 
in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of Link Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of Link Group, in future financial years. 

Likely Developments 
Further information about the likely developments in the operations of Link Group and the expected results of those 
operations in future financial years has not been included in this report because disclosure of the information would 
be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to Link Group. 

Environmental Regulation 
Link Group’s operations are not subject to any significant environmental regulations under either Commonwealth or State 
legislation. The Board believes Link Group has adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental 
requirements and is not aware of any breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to Link Group. 

Indemnification and Insurance 
The Company has agreed to indemnify, to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001, each Director and officer 
in respect of certain losses and liabilities (including all reasonable legal expenses) which the Director or officer may incur 
as a result of, or by reason of being a Director or officer of Link Group or a related body corporate. 

The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

In accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Company has a Directors’ and officers’ liability policy 
which covers all Directors and officers of Link Administration Holdings Limited and its Controlled Entities. The terms of 
the policy specifically prohibit disclosure of details of the amount of the insurance cover and the premium paid. 

During the financial year, the Company has not paid any premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
Company or any of the auditor’s related entities. 

Corporate Governance 
The Board implements high standards of corporate governance, taking into account the Company’s size, structure and 
nature of its operations. Link Group’s Corporate Governance Statement reports against the Third Edition of the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations. The Corporate Governance Statement is approved 
by the Board and the most current version is available on the Link Group website at http://linkgroup.com/about-us.html. 

Rounding Off 
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191, and in accordance with that Instrument amounts in the financial statements and Directors’ Report have been 
rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

Non-audit services 
During the year KPMG, Link Group’s auditor, performed certain other services in addition to the audit of the financial 
statements amounting to $675,918 (2019: $308,626). The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during 
the year by the auditor and in accordance with written advice provided by resolution of the Audit Committee, is satisfied 
that the provision of those non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, 
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

 All non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by Link Group and have been
reviewed by the Risk and Audit Committees to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor;
and

 The non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out
in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s
own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for Link Group, acting as an advocate for Link Group
or jointly sharing risks and rewards.

Details of the amounts paid to KPMG for audit and non-audit services provided during the year are disclosed in Note 31 
to the financial statements. 
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The Lead Auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set 
out on page 66 and forms part of the Directors’ Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Dated 27 August 2020 at Sydney. 

Michael Carapiet 
Chair 

John McMurtrie 
Managing Director 
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LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
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02 Financial Statements 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2020

 NOTE  
2020 
$’000 

2019 1

$’000 

Revenue – contracts with clients 5 1,230,401 1,403,465 
Expenses: 
Employee expenses (599,171) (692,438) 
Occupancy expenses (28,432) (22,945) 
IT costs (118,417) (108,880) 
Administrative and general expenses 6 (224,611) (223,917) 
Acquisition and capital management related expenses (13,455) (18,466) 

(984,086) (1,066,646) 
Depreciation expense 14 (55,397) (54,015) 
Intangibles amortisation expense 15 (110,133) (99,164) 
Contract fulfilment cost amortisation expenses (6,738) (5,281) 

(172,268) (158,460) 

(Loss)/Gain on financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss 20 (23,179) 177,981 
Share of loss of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 28 (11,385) (12,457) 
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 48 107,449 
Impairment expense 15 (107,751) – 
Finance income 2,009 753 
Finance costs 18 (35,190) (38,196) 
Net finance costs (33,181) (37,443) 
(Loss)/profit before tax (101,401) 413,889 
Tax expense 8(a) (12,497) (95,749) 
(Loss)/profit for the year (113,898) 318,140 
Other comprehensive income 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Defined benefit re-measurement (12) (164) 
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations (2,279) 20,769 
Other comprehensive income, net of tax (2,291) 20,605 

Total comprehensive income for the year (116,189) 338,745 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes 
to the financial statements.

1 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2020 (continued)

NOTE 
2020 
$’000 

2019 2

$’000  

Profit attributable to: 

Owners of the Company (115,996) 316,892 
Non-controlling interest 2,098 1,248 
(Loss)/profit for the year (113,898) 318,140 

Total comprehensive income attributable to: 
Owners of the Company (118,079) 337,461 
Non-controlling interest 1,890 1,284 
Total comprehensive income for the year (116,189) 338,745 

EARNINGS PER SHARE CENTS PER 
SHARE 

CENTS PER 
SHARE 2 

Basic earnings per share 7 (21.81) 59.59 
Diluted-earnings per share 7 (21.67) 59.30 

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is to be read in conjunction with the notes 
to the financial statements. 

2 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
as at 30 June 2020

NOTE  

30 JUNE 
2020 

 $’000  

30 JUNE 
2019 

RESTATED 3 
$’000  

1 JULY 
2018 

RESTATED 3 
$’000  

Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 264,092 560,176 265,512 
Trade and other receivables 9 238,937 244,830 302,348 
Derivative financial assets 20 363 – – 
Other assets 33,849 37,318 36,112 
Current tax assets  18,459 234 5,850 
Fund assets 11 616,982 985,900 576,016 
Assets held for sale 26 5,931 – – 
Total current assets 1,178,613 1,828,458 1,185,838 
Non-current assets 
Investments 20 93,198 51,349 144,230 
Derivative financial assets 20 330 – – 
Equity-accounted investments 28 691,228 702,613 – 
Plant and equipment 14 250,429 268,932 295,525 
Intangible assets 15 2,042,245 2,188,936 2,457,074 
Deferred tax assets  8(d) 56,472 51,976 61,810 
Other assets 26,937 21,611 16,903 
Total non-current assets 3,160,839 3,285,417 2,975,542 
Total assets 4,339,452 5,113,875 4,161,380 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 10 275,154 261,328 285,941 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 17 35,945 30,038 32,521 
Provisions 12 18,391 14,765 18,835 
Employee benefits 13 38,650 44,670 47,551 
Current tax liabilities   4,870 7,773 31,630 
Fund liabilities 11 614,883 985,633 589,312 
Liabilities held for sale 26 1,794 – – 
Total current liabilities 989,687 1,344,207 1,005,790 
Non-current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 10 8,583 29,244 16,986 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17 1,226,952 1,393,515 1,071,132 
Provisions 12 48,074 39,915 45,759 
Employee benefits 13 5,450 5,286 5,761 
Deferred tax liabilities  8(d) 145,435 150,350 117,766 
Total non-current liabilities 1,434,494 1,618,310 1,257,404 
Total liabilities 2,424,181 2,962,517 2,263,194 
Net assets 1,915,271 2,151,358 1,898,186 

Equity 
Contributed equity 21 1,889,733 1,909,140 1,875,538 
Reserves 22 16,669 15,256 17,402 
Retained earnings 23 4,263 223,739 3,208 
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the 
parent 1,910,665 2,148,135 1,896,148 

Non-controlling interest 4,606 3,223 2,038 
Total equity 1,915,271 2,151,358 1,898,186 

The consolidated statement of financial position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

3 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
as at 30 June 2020

SHARE 
CAPITAL 

$’000 
RESERVES 

$’000 

RETAINED 
EARNINGS 

$’000 

TOTAL EQUITY 
ATTRIBUTABLE 

TO EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF 
THE PARENT 

$’000 

NON- 
CONTROLLING 

INTEREST 
$’000 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

$’000 

Balance at 30 June 2019 4 1,909,140 15,256 223,739 2,148,135 3,223 2,151,358 
Net loss after tax – – (115,996) (115,996) 2,098 (113,898) 
Defined benefit 
re-measurement – (12) – (12) – (12) 

Foreign currency translation 
differences, net of tax – (2,071) – (2,071) (208) (2,279) 

Total other comprehensive 
income, net of income tax – (2,083) – (2,083) (208) (2,291) 

Total comprehensive 
income for the interim 
period 

– (2,083) (115,996) (118,079) 1,890 (116,189) 

Transfer from retained 
earnings to reserves – 104,173 (104,173) – – – 

Transactions with 
shareholders 
Dividends declared during the 
year – (101,248) 5 (101,243) (507) (101,750) 

Equity settled share based 
payments – 967 688 1,655 – 1,655 

Treasury shares acquired – (396) – (396) – (396) 
Buy-back and cancellation of 
share capital, net of costs (19,407) – – (19,407) – (19,407) 

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners (19,407) (100,677) 693 (119,391) (507) (119,898) 

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,889,733 16,669 4,263 1,910,665 4,606 1,915,271 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 

4 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
as at 30 June 2020 (continued)

SHARE 
CAPITAL 

$’000 
RESERVES 

$’000 

RETAINED 
EARNINGS 

$’000 

TOTAL EQUITY 
ATTRIBUTABLE 

TO EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF 
THE PARENT 

$’000 

NON- 
CONTROLLING 

INTEREST 
$’000 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

$’000 

Balance at 30 June 2018 - 
Restated 5 1,875,538 17,402 3,208 1,896,148 2,038 1,898,186 

Net profit after tax 5 – – 316,892 316,892 1,248 318,140 
Defined benefit 
re-measurement – (164) – (164) – (164) 

Foreign currency translation 
differences, net of tax 5 – 20,733 – 20,733 36 20,769 

Total other comprehensive 
income, net of income tax 5 – 20,569 – 20,569 36 20,605 

Total comprehensive 
income for the year 5 – 20,569 316,892 337,461 1,284 338,745 

Transfer from retained 
earnings to reserves – 96,462 (96,462) – – – 

Transactions with 
shareholders 
Dividends declared during the 
year – (114,063) – (114,063) (759) (114,822) 

Equity settled share based 
payments – 2,333 101 2,434 – 2,434 

Treasury shares acquired – (3,467) – (3,467) – (3,467) 
Non-controlling interest on 
acquisition of subsidiaries – (3,980) – (3,980) 660 (3,320) 

Issue of share capital, net 
of costs of raising capital 
and tax 

33,602 – – 33,602 – 33,602 

Total contributions by and 
distributions to owners 33,602 (119,177) 101 (85,474) (99) (85,573) 

Balance at 30 June 2019 5 1,909,140 15,256 223,739 2,148,135 3,223 2,151,358 

The consolidated statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 

5 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
for the financial year ended 30 June 2020

NOTE 
2020 
$’000 

2019 6

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Cash receipts in the course of operations 1,369,711 1,587,788 
Cash payments in the course of operations (1,051,088) (1,204,412) 

318,623 383,376 

Cash payments for global transformation, acquisition/divestment and other 
one-off costs (51,718) (49,379) 

Interest received 1,700 2,149 
Dividends received 386 368 
Borrowing costs paid (34,700) (37,491) 
Income taxes paid (44,683) (69,229) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 16(a) 189,608 229,794 
Cash flows from investing activities 
Payments for plant and equipment (33,147) (6,195) 
Payments for software (74,134) (74,468) 
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed – 413,092 
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (5,634) (22,649) 
Acquisition of equity-accounted investments – (404,802) 
Payments for derivatives (633) – 
Payments for investments (69,560) (38,308) 
Proceeds from investments 1,509 – 
Sub-lease receipts 263 – 
Payment of indemnified liabilities (12,926) – 
Net cash used in investing activities (194,262) (133,330) 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from borrowings 308,557 333,000 
Repayment of borrowings (437,615) (16,262) 
Payment of borrowing transaction costs (721) (1,609) 
Repayment of lease liabilities (29,848) (33,188) 
Payment for buy-back of shares (19,407) – 
Payment for purchase of treasury shares (396) (3,467) 
Dividends paid to owners of the Company (101,243) (80,494) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest (507) (759) 
Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities (281,180) 197,221 
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (285,834) 293,685 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 560,176 265,512 
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (8,283) 979 
Cash and cash equivalents reclassified as held for sale 26 (1,967) – 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 264,092 560,176 

The consolidated statement of cash flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements

6 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3.
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03 Notes to the Financial Statements 

PREPARATION OF THIS REPORT 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Link Administration Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  The 
Company’s registered office and principal place of business is Level 12, 680 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000, 
Australia.  The consolidated financial statements of Link Group as at and for the year ended 30 June 2020 comprise the 
Company and its subsidiaries and Link Group’s interest in associates.  Link Group is a for-profit entity.  Link Group is 
a market leading provider of technology-enabled administration solutions. Link Group’s principal activities during the 
course of the year were connecting people with their assets including equities, pension and superannuation, investments, 
property and other financial assets. Link Group does this by partnering with thousands of financial market participants to 
deliver services, solutions and technology platforms that enhance the user experience and make scaled administration 
simple. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001. The consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Notwithstanding the net loss after tax, Link Group showed resilience in response to the challenges brought on by the 
COVID-19 pandemic across all global markets.  During this period, Link Group maintained a focus on safeguarding the 
well-being of employees, clients and other stakeholders as well as ensuring continuity of service for clients. Link Group’s 
response was aided by the following: 

• The majority of contracted revenue is with large financial institutions derived from non-discretionary services.
• A resilient earnings profile supporting operating cash flow, with approximately 80% of revenue recurring in nature.
• A liquidity position supported by cash reserves and committed, undrawn credit facilities.
• Debt serviceability and leverage remained comfortably within existing bank covenants.
• Additional initiatives were implemented to reduce costs and support operating cash flow recognising the increased

activities in Retirement and Superannuation Solutions.
The Directors of the Company consider it probable that Link Group will continue to fulfil all obligations as and when they 
fall due for the foreseeable future and accordingly consider that Link Group’s financial statements should be prepared on 
a going concern basis. 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 August 2020. 

(b) Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments designated 
at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured at fair value. 

(c) Functional and presentation currency
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian Dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 
Link Group’s accounting policies applied in translating the results and financial position of subsidiaries which have 
a functional currency other than Australian Dollars into the presentation currency are described in Note 2(e). 
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(d) Use of estimates and judgements
Preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in the following notes to the financial statements: 
• Note 8(e)  Utilisation of tax losses
• Note 12 Provisions 
• Note 15 Key assumptions in impairment testing for cash generating units (CGUs) containing goodwill 
• Note 20 Fair value of level 3 financial instruments 
• Note 24 Share-based payments; and 
• Note 25 Business combinations 

Whilst COVID-19 has not had an impact on any of Link Group’s accounting policies, the impact of COVID-19 has been 
considered in applying Link Group’s accounting policies including where management has made judgements, estimates 
and assumptions. To the extent relevant, the impact of COVID-19 has been considered and disclosed throughout the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including: 

• Note 9 Assumptions within our expected credit losses on trade and other receivables; 
• Note 15 Impact on cash flows forecasts used for impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill; and 
• Note 20 Impact on the fair value assessment of Level 3 investments 

(e) Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions, assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Link 
Group entities using the following applicable exchange rate: 

FOREIGN CURRENCY AMOUNT APPLICABLE EXCHANGE RATE 

Transactions Date of transaction 
Monetary assets and liability Reporting date 
Non-monetary assets and liability measured at fair value Date fair value is determined 

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

Foreign operations 
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to Australian dollars at the following applicable exchange rates: 

FOREIGN CURRENCY AMOUNT APPLICABLE EXCHANGE RATE 

Asset and liabilities Reporting date 
Income and expenses Date of transaction 

On consolidation, foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in equity in the Foreign Currency Translation Reserve. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation, the 
settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form part of a net investment 
in a foreign operation and are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in equity in the Foreign 
Currency Translation Reserve. 

(f) Rounding off
The Company is of a kind referred to in ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 
2016/191, and in accordance with that Instrument all financial information presented in Australian dollars has been 
rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise stated. 
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3. CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted by Link Group are consistent with those of the previous financial year, except 
for the adoption of new and amended accounting standards on 1 July 2019 as set out as set out below. 

This note explains the impact of the adoption of AASB 16 Leases on Link Group’s consolidated financial statements and 
discloses any changes in accounting policies that have been applied from 1 July 2019 where they are different to those 
applied in prior periods. 

(a) Nature of revised accounting policies

Classification
At the inception of a contract, Link Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a "lease" in accordance with the 
requirements of AASB 16. Criteria include that: 
• the contract must convey the right to control the use of an identifiable asset;
• Link Group must have right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from the asset; and
• Link Group must have the right to direct the use of the asset.

Measurement 
As a lessee 
Link Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement date. Right-of-use assets are initially 
measured at cost, which comprises: 

• the right-of-use lease liability;
• plus identifiable initial direct costs incurred to enter the lease;
• less lease incentives received; and
• plus estimated costs to dismantle/make-good at the end of the lease.
Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset, and are 
periodically reduced by impairment losses where the carrying value exceeds future benefits.  Right-of-use assets are 
recognised as a separate category within plant and equipment in Link Group's consolidated statement of financial 
position. 

Right-of-use lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of future lease payments, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease, or Link Group's incremental borrowing rate.  Right-of-use lease liabilities are 
subsequently measured using the effective-interest method, with lease payments applied as repayments of the liability, 
and periodic interest expense recognised in finance costs.  Right-of-use lease liabilities are recognised in interest-
bearing loans and borrowings in Link Group's consolidated statement of financial position 

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets 
Link Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a term of 
12 months or less, and leases of low value assets.  Link Group recognises the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

As a lessor 
Link Group is not currently a lessor under any contract. 

(b) Effect of revised accounting policies
Link Group initially applied AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 using the full retrospective restatement method.  As a 
result, the information presented for comparative periods has been restated in accordance with Link Group's revised 
accounting policies.  Link Group has presented a third consolidated statement of financial position as at the beginning of 
the comparative period as required under Australian Accounting Standards when retrospective changes in accounting 
policy have a material effect on information presented in that statement. 
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The following tables summarise the impact of the transition to AASB 16 on the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2019 and the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position as at 1 July 2018 and 30 June 2019: 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 

AS 
REPORTED 

$’000 

AASB 16 
APPLICATION 

$’000 

AS 
REPORTED 
APPLYING 

AASB 16 
$’000 

Expenses: 
Occupancy expenses (60,964) 38,019 (22,945) 
Administrative and general expenses (225,340) 1,423 (223,917) 
Depreciation expense (20,076) (33,939) (54,015) 
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 105,392 2,057 107,449 
Finance costs (27,038) (11,158) (38,196) 
Profit before tax 417,487 (3,598) 413,889 
Tax expense (97,263) 1,514 (95,749) 
Profit for the year 320,224 (2,084) 318,140 

EARNINGS PER SHARE CENTS PER 
SHARE 

CENTS PER 
SHARE 

CENTS PER 
SHARE 

Basic earnings per share 59.98 (0.39) 59.59 
Diluted-earnings per share 59.69 (0.39) 59.30 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2019 AS AT 1 JULY 2018 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS 
REPORTED 

$’000 

AASB 16 
APPLICATION 

$’000 

AS 
REPORTED 
APPLYING 

AASB 16 
$’000 

AS 
REPORTED 

$’000 

AASB 16 
APPLICATION 

$’000 

AS 
REPORTED 
APPLYING 

AASB 16 
$’000 

Total current assets 1,828,458 – 1,828,458 1,185,838 – 1,185,838 
Plant and equipment 74,819 194,113 268,932 91,734 203,791 295,525 
Deferred tax assets 48,037 3,939 51,976 59,069 2,741 61,810 
Total non-current assets 3,087,365 198,052 3,285,417 2,769,010 206,532 2,975,542 
Total assets 4,915,823 198,052 5,113,875 3,954,848 206,532 4,161,380 
Trade and other payables 267,937 (6,609) 261,328 293,081 (7,140) 285,941 
Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings 23 30,015 30,038 530 31,991 32,521 

Total current liabilities 1,320,801 23,406 1,344,207 980,939 24,851 1,005,790 
Trade and other payables 82,299 (53,055) 29,244 73,268 (56,283) 16,986 
Interest bearing loans and 
borrowings 1,153,536 239,980 1,393,515 821,907 249,225 1,071,132 

Provisions 42,768 (2,853) 39,915 49,758 (3,999) 45,759 
Total non-current liabilities 1,434,239 184,071 1,618,310 1,068,461 188,943 1,257,404 
Total liabilities 2,755,040 207,477 2,962,517 2,049,399 213,795 2,263,194 
Net assets 2,160,783 (9,425) 2,151,358 1,905,451 (7,263) 1,898,186 
Reserves 15,366 (110) 15,256 17,434 (32) 17,402 
Retained earnings 233,054 (9,315) 223,739 10,439 (7,231) 3,208 
Total equity attributable to 
equity holders of the parent 2,157,560 (9,425) 2,148,135 1,903,411 (7,263) 1,896,148 

Total equity 2,160,783 (9,425) 2,151,358 1,905,449 (7,263) 1,898,186 
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OPERATING RESULTS 

4. OPERATING SEGMENTS

(a) Reportable segments
From 1 July 2019 Link Group realigned its operating model and organisation structure to best achieve its strategic goals 
and leverage the benefits of being an international organisation.  As a result, Link Group now has five reportable 
segments described below, which are Link Group’s operating divisions.  Each of the divisions offer different products and 
services and are managed separately because they require different technology and business strategies to service their 
respective markets and comply with relevant legislative or other requirements.  Financial information for each division is 
provided regularly to Link Group’s Managing Director (the chief operating decision maker).  The following summary 
describes the operations in each of Link Group’s reportable segments: 

• Retirement & Superannuation Solutions (“RSS”) – provides core member and employer administration services,
combined with a full range of value-added services including an integrated clearing house, financial planning and
advice, direct investment options and trustee services.

• Corporate Markets (“CM”) – provides a uniquely integrated range of corporate markets capabilities including
shareholder management and analytics, stakeholder engagement, share and unit registry, employee share plans,
company secretarial support, as well as various specialist offerings such as insolvency solutions.

• Banking & Credit Management ("BCM") – provides loan origination and servicing, debt work-out, compliance and
regulatory oversight services to a range of clients including retail banks, investment banks, private equity funds and
other investors.

• Fund Solutions ("FS") – provides authorised fund manager / management company, third-party administration and
transfer agency services to asset managers and a variety of investment funds.

• Technology & Operations (“T&O”) – provides core services of development and maintenance of proprietary IT
systems and platforms, back office support functions, and value-added services of data analytics, digital solutions
and digital communications. T&O supports Link Group's other segments, as well as a number of external clients.

As required by Australian Accounting Standards, comparative information has been restated to align to the new 
reportable segments. 

Corporate & Private Client Services ("CPCS"), which was Link Group's finance and accounting, entity management, 
trust and company services (including inter-generational transfers) business, was sold on 28 June 2019. Whilst not a 
reportable segment under the Link Group’s current structure, the results are included in the comparative segment 
information. 
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Revenues from external clients, revenues from transactions with other segments, measure of profit or loss (Operating EBITDA and Operating EBIT) and total assets are 
presented below for each reportable segment.  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
RSS 

$’000 
CM 

$’000 
BCM 
$’000 

FS 
$’000 

T&O 
$’000 

CPCS 7 
$’000 

TOTAL 
REPORTABLE 

SEGMENTS 
$’000 

HEAD 
OFFICE 

$’000 

TOTAL LINK 
GROUP 

$’000 

Segment revenue 518,598 357,978 165,656 172,980 372,237 – 1,587,449 – 1,587,449 

Inter-segment eliminations – (5,715) – (114) (351,219) – (357,048) – (357,048) 
Revenues from external clients 518,598 352,263 165,656 172,866 21,018 – 1,230,401 – 1,230,401 

Operating EBITDA 78,406 83,255 21,969 29,981 91,102 – 304,713 (10,919) 293,794 

Operating EBIT 65,436 61,658 8,165 22,107 34,179 – 191,545 (11,826) 179,719 

Impairment expense – (107,751) – – – – (107,751) – (107,751) 

Total assets at 30 June 2020 495,213 850,121 371,946 1,202,639 323,432 – 3,243,351 1,096,101 4,339,452 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 - 
RESTATED 8 

RSS 
$’000 

CM 
$’000 

BCM 
$’000 

FS 
$’000 

T&O 
$’000 

CPCS10 
$’000 

TOTAL 
REPORTABLE 

SEGMENTS 
$’000 

HEAD 
OFFICE 

$’000 

TOTAL LINK 
GROUP 

$’000 

Segment revenue 550,793 368,774 168,749 162,734 333,961 140,703 1,725,714 – 1,725,714 

Inter-segment eliminations – (4,389) – (885) (309,659) (7,316) (322,249) – (322,249) 

Revenues from external clients 550,793 364,385 168,749 161,849 24,302 133,387 1,403,465 –  1,403,465 

Operating EBITDA 121,510 101,499 23,333 31,756 87,616 40,725 406,439 (11,806) 394,633 

Operating EBIT 108,325 79,943 11,960 26,450 44,947 31,916 303,541 (12,066) 291,475 

Total assets at 30 June 2019 9 517,834 990,828 354,672 1,586,692 323,556 – 3,773,582 1,340,293 5,113,875 

7 The Corporate & Private Client Services ("CPCS") business was sold on 28 June 2019.
8 Comparative information has been restated to align to the new reportable segments. 
9 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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(b) Reconciliation of reportable segments
A reconciliation of information provided on reportable segment measures of profit or loss to the consolidated net profit 
after tax is provided below.  

2020 
 $’000  

2019 10

 $’000  

Operating EBITDA 293,794 394,633 

Significant items / One-off costs: 
• Global transformation costs (31,321) (38,685) 
• Business combination/acquisition & divestment costs (13,566) (18,341) 
• Other one-off costs (2,592) (788) 

Total significant items (47,479) (57,814) 
Depreciation expense (55,397) (54,015) 
Intangibles amortisation expense – non-acquisition related (57,199) (44,750) 
Intangibles amortisation expense – acquisition related (52,934) (54,414) 
Contract fulfilment costs amortisation expense (6,738) (5,281) 
(Loss)/Gain on financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss (23,179) 177,981 
Share of profit of equity-accounted investees (excluding acquired amortisation), net of tax 19,204 787 
Share of acquired amortisation of equity-accounted investees, net of tax (30,589) (13,244) 
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 48 107,449 
Impairment expense (107,751) – 
Finance income 2,009 753 
Finance expense (35,190) (38,196) 
(Loss)/profit before tax (101,401) 413,889 
Income tax expense (12,497) (95,749) 
Net (loss)/profit after tax (113,898) 318,140 

(c) Geographic information
Link Group had total revenue and non-current assets attributed to the following geographic locations. 

REVENUE NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

2020 
 $’000  

2019 
 $’000  

2020 
 $’000  

2019 10

 $’000  

Australia and New Zealand 679,642 717,718 1,642,791 1,698,609 
United Kingdom and Channel Islands 326,916 409,145 1,277,574 1,370,727 
Ireland 134,203 160,866 41,765 33,689 
Other countries 89,640 115,736 48,709 79,067 

1,230,401 1,403,465 3,010,839 3,182,092 

In presenting the geographic information, revenue and non-current assets are allocated based on the country in which 
the legal entity is domiciled. Non-current assets allocated by country include plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
equity‑accounted investments and other assets. 

10 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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(d) Major clients
Link Group had one (2019: one) major client in the RSS segment, which generated revenues of $129.0 million (2019: 
$146.8 million). 

Segment reporting 
Segment results that are reported to Link Group’s Managing Director (the chief operating decision maker) include items 
directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. 

5. REVENUE

Revenue 
Revenue is recognised as performance obligations are satisfied over time. Clients obtain control of services as they are 
delivered, and revenue is recognised over time as those services are provided. Invoices are generally issued on 
a monthly basis and are payable within 7 to 30 days. As such, there is not considered to be any significant financing 
component within each contract. 

Where Link Group has a right to consideration from a client in an amount that corresponds directly with the value 
of performance completed to date (for example, a service contract billed for a fixed amount for each hour of service 
provided), Link Group recognises revenue in the amount to which it has a right to invoice to client. 

Link Group may also recognise revenue derived at a point in time, generally when Link Group’s performance obligation 
is linked to a particular event. Revenue is recognised when Link Group has an unconditional right to payment under the 
terms of the contract. 

Contract fulfilment costs 
Costs directly related to a contract that generate or enhance Link Group’s resources to satisfy performance obligations 
in the future, and that are expected to be recovered, are recognised as an asset. Contract fulfilment costs are amortised 
on a straight line basis over the expected life of the contract. 

Any recoveries of those contract fulfilment costs from client are classified as contract liabilities and amortised over the 
same period where they do not relate to a separate performance obligation. 
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(a) Disaggregation of revenue
Revenue has been disaggregated by primary geographic location. The tables below also include a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue with Link Group’s 
reportable segments. 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 
RSS 

$’000 
CM 

$’000 
BCM 
$’000 

FS 
$’000 

T&O 
$’000 

CPCS 11 
$’000 

TOTAL 
REPORTABLE 

SEGMENTS 
$’000 

INTER-
SEGMENT 

ELIMINATIONS 
$’000 

TOTAL LINK 
GROUP 

$’000 

Geographic location 
Australia and New Zealand 516,685 129,874 – 18,282 293,716 – 958,557 (278,915) 679,642 
United Kingdom and Channel Islands 1,913 163,758 32,194 130,297 55,863 – 384,025 (57,109) 326,916 
Ireland – 4,380 105,417 24,397 19,117 – 153,311 (19,108) 134,203 
Other countries – 59,966 28,045 4 3,541 – 91,556 (1,916) 89,640 
Revenues from contracts with clients 518,598 357,978 165,656 172,980 372,237 – 1,587,449 (357,048) 1,230,401 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 - RESTATED 12 

Geographic location 
Australia and New Zealand 550,793 125,741 – 18,524 258,799 – 953,857 (236,139) 717,718 
United Kingdom and Channel Islands – 181,813 35,951 119,273 55,559 82,635 475,231 (66,086) 409,145 
Ireland – 3,857 118,751 24,933 19,210 13,325 180,076 (19,210) 160,866 
Other countries – 57,363 14,047 4 393 44,743 116,550 (814) 115,736 
Revenues from contracts with clients 550,793 368,774 168,749 162,734 333,961 140,703 1,725,714 (322,249) 1,403,465 

11 The Corporate & Private Client Services ("CPCS") business was sold on 28 June 2019.
12 Comparative information has been restated to align to the new reportable segments. 
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(b) Contract balances
The following table provides information about contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with clients. 

2020 
 $’000  

2019 
 $’000  

Contract assets (included in trade and other receivables) – – 
Contract liabilities – current (included in trade and other payables) (28,400) (15,861) 
Contract liabilities – non-current (included in trade and other payables) (7,688) (9,062) 

(36,088) (24,923) 

Contract assets primarily relate to Link Group’s rights to consideration for work completed but not billed at the reporting 
date. Contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when Link Group’s contractual entitlement to the consideration 
becomes unconditional. This usually occurs when Link Group has a contractual right to issue an invoice to the client.  

Contract liabilities primarily relate to consideration received in advance from client for services for which revenue is 
recognised over time. 

(c) Unsatisfied performance obligations
The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting from client contracts. 

2020 
 $’000  

2019 
 $’000  

Aggregate amount of revenue allocated to client contracts that are partially or fully 
unsatisfied as at year end, which will be recognised on a straight line basis consistent with 
the length of each client contract. 

1,349,952 1,332,516 

Link Group expects that approximately 36% of revenue allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as at 30 June 2020 (2019: 
34%) will be recognised during the next financial year. The majority of the remaining 64% (2019: 66%) will be recognised 
as revenue between 1 July 2021 and 30 June 2025 (2019: 1 July 2020 and 30 June 2024). 

As permitted under AASB 15, revenue allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations is not disclosed for contracts that 
are for periods of one year or less. Unsatisfied performance obligations also excludes client contracts entered into 
subsequent to 30 June 2020 or any future contract renewals that may occur. 

6. ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES

2020 
 $’000  

2019 13

 $’000  

Costs recharged to clients (88,919) (86,843) 
Professional & consulting expenses (52,079) (49,153) 
Office expenses (12,236) (14,386) 
Insurance costs (15,878) (17,279) 
Travel expense (8,574) (12,832) 
Other expenses (46,925) (43,424) 

(224,611) (223,917) 

13 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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7. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Ordinary shares on issue have been 
adjusted for the bonus element of new shares issued at a discount to market value during the year. 

2020 
 $’000  

2019 14

 $’000  

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (115,996) 316,892 

NUMBER OF 
SHARES 15 

’000  

NUMBER OF 
SHARES 15 

’000  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning of the financial year 533,576 529,543 
Effect of allotments, issuances and buybacks (2,082) 2,299 
Effect of treasury shares acquired 234 (66) 
Effect of bonus entitlement offer on ordinary shares – 4 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) 531,728 531,780 

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit and loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which 
comprise Performance Share Rights (PSRs) granted to employees. Dilutive securities have been adjusted for the bonus 
element of new shares issued at a discount to market value during the year. 

2020 
 $’000  

2019 14

 $’000  

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (115,996) 316,892 

NUMBER OF 
SHARES 15 

’000  

NUMBER OF 
SHARES 15 

’000  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 
Basic weighted average number of ordinary shares 531,728 531,780 
Effect of dilutive PSRs 3,463 2,622 
Effect of bonus entitlement offer on dilutive PSRs – – 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 535,191 534,402 
Basic earnings per share (cents) (21.81) 59.59 
Diluted earnings per share (cents) (21.67) 59.30 

14 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
15 The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the Basic and Diluted earnings per share calculation for the current and comparative year were 

adjusted retrospectively in accordance with AASB 133 Earnings per Share following the issue of new shares at a discount to market value during the 
year. When new shares are issued at a discount to market value (“bonus element”), there is a resulting theoretical dilution of existing ordinary shares 
on issue, leading to a decrease in basic and diluted earnings per share. 
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8. TAXATION

(a) Income tax expense
2020 

 $’000  
2019 16

 $’000  

Current tax expense 
Current year (22,635) (59,730) 
Adjustment for prior years (405) 1,942 

(23,040) (57,788) 
Deferred tax (expense)/benefit 
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 13,882 (36,474) 
Adjustment for prior years (3,339) (1,487) 

10,543 (37,961) 
Tax expense (12,497) (95,749) 
(Loss)/profit before income tax (101,401) 413,889 
Prima facie income tax expense calculated at 30% on operating profit from 
ordinary activities: 30,420 (124,167) 

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (9,199) 14,126 
Non-deductible expenses (33,742) (14,455) 
Non-assessable income 3,066 26,091 
Recognition/(de-recognition) of previously unrecognised/(recognised) tax losses 702 2,200 
(Under)/over provision of tax in respect of prior years (3,744) 456 
Income tax expense (12,497) (95,749) 
Movement in temporary differences (13,882) 36,474 
Utilisation of recognised tax losses 2,507 6,827 
Income tax payable on current year profits (23,872) (52,448) 

(b) Effective tax rates for Australian and overseas operations
2020 2019 16

PROFIT/ 
(LOSS)  

BEFORE 
 TAX 
$’000 

INCOME  
TAX  

EXPENSE  
$’000 

EFFECTIVE 
TAX RATE 

PROFIT  
BEFORE  

TAX 
$’000 

INCOME  
TAX  

EXPENSE 
$’000 

EFFECTIVE 
TAX RATE 

Australian operations 35,471 (10,279) 28.98% 269,439 (85,275) 31.65% 
Overseas operations (136,872) (2,218) (1.62%) 144,450 (10,474) 7.25% 
Link Group (101,401) (12,497) (12.32%) 413,889 (95,749) 23.13% 

The effective tax rate for the year ended 30 June 2020 for overseas operations and for Link Group was impacted by the 
following material factors: 
• Loss before tax of $107.8 million related to goodwill impairment expense (Note 15), which did not give rise to an

income tax benefit;
• Loss before tax of $23.0 million relating to the fair value of Link Group’s investment in Leveris Limited (Note 20(a))

which did not give rise to an income tax benefit; and
• Income tax expense of $5.2 million relating to the change of future United Kingdom tax rate from 17% to 19%.
After adjusting for the above factors, overseas operations had and effective tax rate of 17.85%, and Link Group had an 
effective tax rate of 25.01%. 

16 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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(c) Tax recognised in other comprehensive income and equity
2020 2019 17

BEFORE  
TAX 

$’000 

TAX 
EXPENSE 

$’000 

NET OF  
TAX 

$’000 

BEFORE  
TAX 

$’000 

TAX 
BENEFIT 

$’000 
NET OF TAX 

$’000 

Foreign Currency  
Translation Reserve (2,452) 173 (2,279) 23,599 (2,830) 20,769 

(2,452) 173 (2,279) 23,599 (2,830) 20,769 

(d) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 

2020 
 $’000  

2019 17

 $’000  

Deferred tax asset: 
Provisions & accruals 31,359 31,041 
Other 16,231 15,479 
Tax losses 8,882 5,456 

56,472 51,976 

Deferred tax liability: 
Intangible assets (73,826) (74,193) 
Plant, equipment & software (7,606) (11,504) 
Other (64,003) (64,653) 

(145,435) (150,350) 

BALANCE AT 
1 JULY 
2019 17

$’000 

ACQUIRED IN 
BUSINESS 

COMBINATION 
$’000 

RECOGNISED 
IN PROFIT 
OR LOSS 

$’000 

RECOGNISED 
IN OCI 
$’000 

BALANCE 
AT 30 JUNE 

2020 
 $’000  

Deferred tax asset: 
Provisions & Accruals 31,041 – 373 (55) 31,359 
Other 15,479 – (327) 1,079 16,231 
Tax losses 5,456 – 4,073 (647) 8,882 

51,976 – 4,119 377 56,472 
Deferred tax liability: 
Intangible assets (74,193) (1,306) 2,171 (498) (73,826) 
Plant, equipment & software (11,504) – 3,819 79 (7,606) 
Other (64,653) – 435 215 (64,003) 

(150,350) (1,306) 6,425 (204) (145,435) 

17 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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BALANCE AT 
1 JULY 
2018 18

$’000 

AASB 15 
TRANSITION 

ADJUSTMENT 
$’000 

ACQUIRED IN 
BUSINESS 

COMBINATION 
$’000 

RECOGNISE
D IN PROFIT 
OR LOSS 18 

$’000 

RECOGNISED 
IN OCI 18 

$’000 

SOLD ON 
DISPOSAL OF 
SUBSIDIARIES 

$’000 

BALANCE 
AT 30 JUNE 

2019 18

 $’000  

Deferred tax asset: 
Provisions 
& Accruals 33,416 – – (1,846) 126 (655) 31,041 

Other 16,495 366 250 (1,364) (268) – 15,479 
Tax losses 11,533 – – (6,290) 213 – 5,456 

61,444 366 250 (9,500) 71 (655) 51,976 
Deferred tax liability: 
Intangible assets (89,515) – – 11,091 (2,836) 7,067 (74,193) 
Plant, equipment 
& software (17,836) – – 5,986 – 346 (11,504) 

Other (7,208) (3,207) (1,620) (52,365) (65) (188) (64,653) 
(114,559) (3,207) (1,620) (35,288) (2,901) 7,225 (150,350) 

(e) Unrecognised tax losses
As at 30 June 2020 Link Group had carried forward tax losses unrecognised for deferred tax purposes, available to offset 
against taxable income in future years, in the following jurisdictions: 
• Australian tax losses of $193.0 million (2019: $198.8 million);
• UK tax losses of $6.3 million (2019: $ Nil million); and
• Other jurisdiction tax losses of $0.6 million (2019: $2.1 million).

The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect 
of these losses because it is not probable that conditions will permit their utilisation in the foreseeable future. 

Significant accounting estimate and judgement 
Judgement is required in determining whether it is probable future conditions will permit utilisation of carried 
forward tax losses. Deferred tax assets in respect of Link Group’s carried forward tax losses have not been 
recognised to the extent it is not probable that conditions will permit their utilisation in the foreseeable future. 

(f) Franking credits
2020 

 $’000  
2019 

 $’000  

Amount of franking credits available to shareholders for subsequent financial years 3,065 11,759 

The ability to use the franking credits is dependent on the ability to declare dividends. The Company seeks to maintain 
a surplus franking credit balance at 30 June each year by considering the amount of current year income tax related 
payments when determining the franking of dividends. 

18 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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Current tax 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income for the current year, using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is not recognised for the following temporary differences: 
• the initial recognition of goodwill;
• the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination and that affects neither

accounting nor taxable profit; and
• differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities to the extent it is probable that they

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow the manner in which Link Group 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they 
reverse, based on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. A deferred tax asset 
is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

On 11 March 2020 the United Kingdom government reversed its decision to decrease the corporation tax rate from 19% 
to 17% from 1 April 2020. The United Kingdom corporation tax rate will remain 19%. Deferred tax balances in respect of 
Link Group’s United Kingdom subsidiaries previously calculated assuming 17% have been adjusted to reflect the tax rate 
expected to be applicable when the temporary difference is reversed. 

Offsetting deferred tax balances 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, 
and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, 
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will 
be realised simultaneously. 

Tax consolidation or grouping 
Australia 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries are part of a tax consolidated group. As a consequence, 
all members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within the tax consolidated group 
is Link Administration Holdings Limited. Members of the Australian tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax 
sharing agreement that requires wholly-owned subsidiaries to make contributions to the head entity for current tax 
liabilities. Under the tax funding agreement, the subsidiaries reimburse the Company for their portion of Link Group’s 
current tax liability and recognise this payment as an inter-entity payable/receivable in their financial statements. The 
Company reimburses the subsidiaries for any deferred tax asset arising from unused tax losses and/or tax credits. 

Overseas 
The Company also has wholly-owned subsidiaries in the following foreign jurisdictions which have made the following 
elections with the relevant local taxation authority: 
• United Kingdom and Jersey subsidiaries have elected to apply tax grouping rules to share tax losses and/or tax

payments in the United Kingdom and Jersey; and
• Other countries subsidiaries have elected to form a tax group (or adopt fiscal unity) in relevant European countries.
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OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 
 $’000  

2019 
 $’000  

Trade receivables 167,966 170,622 
Less: Expected credit losses (5,008) (2,736) 

162,958 167,886 
Investment management debtors 67,130 67,922 
Contract assets – – 
Other debtors 8,849 9,022 

238,937 244,830 

Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised costs less provision for 
doubtful debts. Trade receivables are generally due after 7 to 30 days. Link Group has no significant concentration of 
credit risk. Trade and other receivables are spread across a large number of different clients. 

As at 30 June 2020, management have assessed the expected credit losses for trade and other receivables. A provision 
for credit losses has been made for the expected non-recoverable trade receivable amounts arising from services 
provided. As at 30 June 2020, the expected credit losses relating to recoverability of trade and other receivables have 
been assessed in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on the economic conditions of the industries in 
which Link Group’s clients operate. 

Investment management debtors consist of amounts due from authorised funds, receivable by Link Fund Solutions 
Limited (the Authorised Corporate Director) in respect of managing these authorised funds.
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10. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2020 
 $’000  

2019 19

 $’000  

Current 
Trade creditors 38,518 30,458 
Investment management creditors 102,096 88,392 
Deferred consideration 8,173 3,571 
Accrued operational expenses 54,611 58,379 
Contract liabilities 28,400 15,861 
IT related creditors 9,589 16,656 
Indemnified payables 3,942 – 
Other creditors and accruals 29,825 48,011 

275,154 261,328 
Non-current 
Deferred consideration – 4,504 
Indemnified payables – 15,678 
Contract liabilities 7,688 9,062 
Other creditors 895 – 

8,583 29,244 

Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Investment management creditors consist of amounts due to authorised funds, payable by Link Fund Solutions Limited 
(the Authorised Corporate Director) in respect of managing these authorised funds. 

11. FUND ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2020 
 $’000  

2019 
 $’000  

Fund assets 
Fund receivables 616,982 985,900 

616,982 985,900 

Fund liabilities 
Fund payables (614,883) (985,633) 

(614,883) (985,633) 

Fund assets and liabilities 
These balances relate to investors’ purchase or redemption of units in authorised funds of which Link Fund Solutions 
Limited (Link Asset Services’ collective investment scheme administration business) is the Authorised Corporate Director. 
Link Fund Solutions Limited acts in the role of principal in the transactions, and the balances are due to and from the 
investors and investment funds. As at 30 June 2020, $2.1 million ($617.0 million assets net of $614.9 million liabilities) of net 
cash was due from investors and investment funds. The net receivable position arose because Link Fund Solutions Limited 
was yet to receive settlement from some investors and/or funds. The majority of funds need to be settled within a 4-day 
settlement period.

19 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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12. PROVISIONS

2020 
 $’000  

2019 20

 $’000  

Current 
Provisions 18,391 14,765 

Non-current 
Provisions 48,074 39,915 

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of each material class of provisions is set out below: 

CLAIMS  
 $’000  

INTEGRATION  
 $’000  

ONEROUS 
CONTRACTS 

$’000 
OTHER  

 $’000  
 TOTAL  

 $’000  

Balance at 1 July 2019 20 43,185 4,049 1,709 5,737 54,680 
Incurred/acquired through business 
combinations – – – – – 
Provisions made during the year  10,545 3,211 6,392 8,279 28,427 
Provisions used during the year  (8,446) (2,132) (756) – (11,334) 
Provisions reversed during the year  (3,528) (391) (923) (16) (4,858) 
Foreign exchange translation difference (85) (98) (169) (98) (450) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 41,671 4,639 6,253 13,902 66,465 
Current 9,400 2,864 2,059 4,068 18,391 
Non-current 32,271 1,775 4,194 9,834 48,074 

Significant accounting estimate and judgement 
Judgement is required in determining the expected outflow of economic benefits required to settle provisions. 
Provisions are based on expected obligations at reporting date under current legal and contractual requirements 
and using estimates based on past experience. 

Provisions 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, Link Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is treated 
as a finance expense. 

Claims: Link Group recognises a provision for claims arising from processing errors and other corporate events 
associated with the handling of administration activities for and on behalf of clients and investors. Provisions are 
measured at the cost that Link Group expects to incur in settling the claim. The provision also includes an estimate of 
claims that have been incurred but are not yet reported. 

Integration: The integration provision includes restructuring costs. The restructuring provision is based on estimates 
of the future costs associated with redundancies. The provision calculation includes assumptions around the timing and 
costs of redundancies. A provision for restructuring is recognised when Link Group has approved a detailed and formal 
restructuring plan and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating costs 
are not included in the provision.  

20 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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Onerous contracts: A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by Link 
Group from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision 
is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost 
of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, Link Group recognises any impairment loss on the 
assets associated with that contract. 

Other: Other provisions are for contractual obligations relating make-good obligations and remediation costs. Make good 
provisions relate to Link Group’s future obligation to remove fixtures and fittings or reinstate leaseholds back to original 
condition. Remediation cost provisions relate to contractual obligations under client contracts to remediate errors on 
claims.  

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

2020 
 $’000  

2019 
 $’000  

Current 
Employee entitlements 38,650 44,670 

Non-current 
Employee entitlements 5,450 5,286 

Long-term employee benefits 
Link Group’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs. That benefit is discounted 
to determine its present value and the fair value of any related assets is deducted. 

Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for employee benefits for wages, salaries, and annual leave represent present obligations resulting from 
employees’ services provided to reporting date and are calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration 
wage and salary rates that Link Group wholly expects to pay as at the reporting date including related on-costs, such as 
workers compensation insurance and payroll tax (where applicable).
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14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

$’000 

FIXTURES 
AND 

FITTINGS 
$’000 

RIGHT-OF-
USE 

$’000 
TOTAL 

$’000 

Cost 
Balance at 1 July 2019 81,355 73,198 263,326 417,879 
Acquisitions through business combinations 16 50 – 66 
Additions 10,508 15,853 13,548 39,909 
Effects of movements in exchange rates (1,088) (482) (2,532) (4,102) 
Transfers to assets held for sale (1,802) (216) (1,142) (3,160) 
Disposals/write offs (619) (1,679) (1,914) (4,212) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 88,370 86,724 271,286 446,380 
Depreciation and impairment losses 
Balance at 1 July 2019 (48,623) (31,111) (69,213) (148,947) 
Depreciation charge for the year (12,358) (7,998) (35,041) (55,397) 
Effects of movements in exchange rates 543 157 1,281 1,981 
Transfers to assets held for sale 1,496 165 539 2,200 
Disposals/write offs 619 1,679 1,914 4,212 
Balance at 30 June 2020 (58,323) (37,108) (100,520) (195,951) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 30,047 49,616 170,766 250,429 

PLANT & 
EQUIPMENT 

$’000 

FIXTURES 
AND 

FITTINGS 
$’000 

RIGHT-OF-
USE 21 

$’000 
TOTAL 

$’000 

Cost 
Balance at 1 July 2018 79,004 76,432 258,505 413,941 
Acquisitions through business combinations 179 156 – 335 
Additions 4,336 1,624 53,814 59,774 
Effects of movements in exchange rates 564 320 1,813 2,697 
Disposals/write offs (2,728) (5,334) (50,806) (58,868) 
Balance at 30 June 2019 81,355 73,198 263,326 417,879 
Depreciation and impairment losses 
Balance at 1 July 2018 (38,888) (24,814) (54,714) (118,416) 
Depreciation charge for the year (11,574) (8,502) (33,939) (54,015) 
Effects of movements in exchange rates (160) (71) (670) (901) 
Disposals/write offs 1,999 2,276 20,110 24,385 
Balance at 30 June 2019 (48,623) (31,111) (69,213) (148,947) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 32,732 42,087 194,113 268,932 

Recognition and measurement 
Items of plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Purchased software that is integral 
to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.  

21 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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The expected useful life and the depreciation methods are listed below: 

ITEM USEFUL LIFE DEPRECIATION METHOD 

Office equipment 3–8 years Straight-line 
Fixture and fitting 2–10 years Straight-line 
Leased plant and equipment 3–10 years Straight-line 
Right-of-use assets Non-cancellable lease period Straight-line 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the reporting date. 

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

GOODWILL 
$’000 

CLIENT  
RELATIONSHIPS 

$’000 
SOFTWARE  

$’000 

BRAND 
NAMES 

$’000 
TOTAL 

$’000 

Cost 
Balance at 1 July 2019 1,565,738 505,834 613,177 4,543 2,689,292 
Acquisitions through business combinations – 6,872 – – 6,872 
Additions – – 73,131 – 73,131 
Effects of movements in exchange rates (5,998) (2,421) (3,321) (23) (11,763) 
Transfers to assets held for sale (480) – (866) – (1,346) 
Disposals/Assets written off – – (3,735) – (3,735) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 1,559,260 510,285 678,386 4,520 2,752,451 
Amortisation and impairment losses 
Balance at 1 July 2019 (2,512) (167,313) (327,801) (2,730) (500,356) 
Amortisation charge – (43,659) (66,126) (348) (110,133) 
Impairment expense (107,751) – – – (107,751) 
Effects of movements in exchange rates 596 1,639 1,310 22 3,567 
Transfers to assets held for sale – – 732 – 732 
Disposals/Assets written off – – 3,735 – 3,735 
Balance at 30 June 2020 (109,667) (209,333) (388,150) (3,056) (710,206) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 1,449,593 300,952 290,236 1,464 2,042,245 

GOODWILL 
$’000 

CLIENT 
RELATIONSHIPS 

$’000 
SOFTWARE  

$’000 

BRAND 
NAMES 

$’000 
TOTAL 

$’000 

Cost 
Balance at 1 July 2018 1,783,496 544,024 538,662 4,466 2,870,648 
Acquisitions through business combinations 19,796 5,797 1,887 – 27,480 
Additions – – 76,631 – 76,631 
Effects of movements in exchange rates 28,326 7,945 3,274 77 39,622 
Disposals/Assets written off (265,880) (51,932) (7,277) – (325,089) 
Balance at 30 June 2019 1,565,738 505,834 613,177 4,543 2,689,292 
Amortisation and impairment losses 
Balance at 1 July 2018 (2,512) (132,295) (276,410) (2,357) (413,574) 
Amortisation charge – (44,611) (54,219) (334) (99,164) 
Effects of movements in exchange rates – (1,226) (494) (39) (1,759) 
Disposals/Assets written off – 10,819 3,322 – 14,141 
Balance at 30 June 2019 (2,512) (167,313) (327,801) (2,730) (500,356) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2019 1,563,226 338,521 285,376 1,813 2,188,936 

93



03 Notes to the Financial Statements 

Goodwill 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over Link 
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. 
Subsequent to initial measurement, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Client relationships 
Client relationships acquired in business combinations are recognised initially at fair value, and are subsequently 
amortised according to the expected useful life of these relationships.  

Software 
Link Group capitalises in-house developed software that meets business and client needs and enables operational 
efficiencies to be achieved.  

Development expenditure is capitalised only if development costs are directly attributable, can be measured reliably, the 
product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable and Link Group 
intends to, and has sufficient resources to, complete development and to use or sell the asset. Other software 
development costs are expensed as incurred. 

Brand Names 
Brand names acquired in business combinations are recognised initially at fair value, and are subsequently amortised 
according to the expected useful life of the brand name.  

Amortisation 
Amortisation is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, except when another 
systematic basis measuring the pattern in which the economic benefits of a software asset are consumed can be reliably 
measured. In such cases, amortisation is charged on that systematic basis over the estimated useful life of that asset. 
The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

ITEM USEFUL LIFE AMORTISATION METHOD 

Software 2–5 years Straight-line 
Client relationships 3–20 years Straight-line 
Brand Names 5–10 years Straight-line 

(a) Impairment testing for CGUs containing goodwill
On 1 July 2019, Link Group revised its Operating Segments (refer Note 4). For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to Link Group’s cash-generated units (“CGUs”). Each of Link Group’s Operating Segments is 
considered a CGU, except for Corporate Markets, which is split between APAC and EMEA CGUs.  The aggregate 
carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each CGU are as follows:

CGUS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 
2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Retirement & Superannuation Solutions 279,266 n/a 
Corporate Markets APAC 254,494 n/a 
Corporate Markets EMEA 221,519 n/a 
Banking & Credit Management 246,394 n/a 
Fund Solutions 354,103 n/a 
Technology & Operations 93,817 n/a 

Fund Administration n/a 279,267 
Corporate Markets Australia & New Zealand n/a 252,318 
Corporate Markets Overseas n/a 54,289 
Technology & Innovation n/a 39,275 
Link Asset Services n/a 938,077 
Total goodwill 1,449,593 1,563,226 

The carrying amounts of Link Group’s goodwill and intangible assets are tested annually for impairment. 
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For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. The goodwill and 
any other intangible assets with indefinite lives acquired in a business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, 
is allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

An impairment loss is recognised in profit and loss if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit (group of units) 
on a pro rata basis. 

The recoverable amounts of CGUs were determined through value in use calculations. The value in use calculations 
applied a post-tax discounted cash flow model, based on five-year cash flow forecasts endorsed by the Board and an 
appropriate terminal value. Management has considered the economic conditions and uncertainty due to the COVID-19 
pandemic when determining the cash flow forecasts. The forecast assumptions are based on the information available as 
at 30 June 2020.  While operations across Link Group were impacted to varying degrees during the second half of the 
financial year, Link Group has, in the main, remained resilient to date. Cash flows after the fifth year were projected at 
growth rates of: 

CGUS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 2020 2019 

Retirement & Superannuation Solutions 2.5% n/a 
Corporate Markets APAC 2.7% n/a 
Corporate Markets EMEA 2.0% n/a 
Banking & Credit Management 2.0% n/a 
Fund Solutions 2.1% n/a 
Technology & Operations 2.4% n/a 
Fund Administration n/a 2.5% 
Corporate Markets Australia & New Zealand n/a 2.5% 
Corporate Markets Overseas n/a 3.1% 
Technology & Innovation n/a 2.5% 
Link Asset Services n/a 2.0% 

The value in use calculations employed a range of pre-tax discount rates from 8.47% to 10.06% (2019: 8.76% to 
11.80%). These rates relate to the risks in the respective segments and countries in which they operate. The discount 
rate used reflects management’s estimate of the time value of money and Link Group’s weighted average cost of capital 
(WACC), which is calculated separately for each CGU. 

Corporate Markets EMEA CGU impairment 
The Corporate Markets EMEA CGU comprises of Link Group’s Corporate Markets business in the UK and Channel 
Islands, Ireland and Germany. South Africa has been excluded given it is currently held for sale, refer to Note 26. 

An impairment expense of $107.8 million was recognised in relation to the Corporate Markets EMEA CGU as a result of 
the value in use calculations and in relation to specific businesses. The value in use of the Corporate Markets EMEA 
CGU, determined as $454.9 million using a pre-tax discount rate of 8.47% (2019: no comparative under prior year CGU 
structure), has reduced following a reduction in forecast cash flows. The Corporate Markets EMEA CGU has felt the 
impact of COVID-19 more than other CGUs due to its higher percentage of non-recurring revenue and exposure to 
market based related demand for revenue streams such as corporate actions, share trading income. The impairment 
expense has been allocated against goodwill. 
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Sensitivity analysis 
The carrying amount of the Corporate Markets EMEA CGU is equivalent to its value in use after a total impairment 
charge of $107.8 million. Any adverse change to the following key assumptions would result in the carrying amount 
exceeding the value in use: 

• discount rate;
• five-year cash flow forecast; and
• terminal growth rate.
Management considered the following reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions, leaving all other 
assumptions unchanged. The sensitivity analysis presented is prepared on the basis that the reasonably possible 
change in each key assumption would not have a consequential impact on other assumptions. The associated impact on 
the impairment assessment is presented in the table below. 

CM EMEA 
 $’000  

Discount rate +0.5% (36,780) 
Discount rate -0.5% 43,233 

Five-year cash flow forecast +5% 22,743 
Five-year cash flow forecast -5% (22,743) 

Terminal growth rate +0.5% 35,429 
Terminal growth rate -0.5% (30,184) 

Management is of the opinion that the above reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions on which the 
recoverable amount of Link Group’s other CGUs are based would not cause their carrying amounts to exceed their value 
in use. 

Significant accounting estimate and judgement 
Judgement is required in estimating recoverable amounts of cash generating units (CGUs) to which intangible 
assets with an indefinite useful life (goodwill) are allocated. All key assumptions applied in value in use calculation 
were determined using the past experiences of Link Group and an assessment of current economic conditions. 
Where possible, assumptions were validated against external sources of information. 
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16. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash inflow from operating activities
2020 
$’000 

2019 22

$’000 

Net (loss)/profit after income tax (113,898) 318,140 

Add/(less) non-cash items 
Depreciation expense 55,397 54,015 
Intangibles amortisation expense 110,133 99,164 
Contract fulfilment costs amortisation expense 6,738 5,281 
Loss/(gain) on financial assets held at fair value through profit & loss 23,179 (177,981) 
Share of loss of equity-accounted investees, net of tax 11,385 12,457 
Profit on disposal of subsidiaries (48) (107,449) 
Impairment expense 107,751 – 
Equity-settled share based payment expense 1,655 2,434 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss (1,269) 223 
Unwinding discount on provisions and deferred consideration 427 30 
Borrowing cost amortisation 1,520 1,501 
Loss on disposal/write off of plant and equipment – 10 
Net cash inflow from operating activities before changes in assets and liabilities 202,970 207,825 
Change in operating assets and liabilities 
Change in trade and other receivables 4,886 28,248 
Change in other assets (8,397) (13,320) 
Change in fund assets and fund liabilities (790) (12,704) 
Change in trade and other payables 19,125 859 
Change in employee benefits (5,809) (1,905) 
Change in provisions 9,809 (5,729) 
Change in current and deferred tax balances (32,186) 26,520 
Net cash inflow from operating activities 189,608 229,794 

(b) Reconciliation of movement in liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities

NON-CASH 

30 JUNE 
2019 22

$’000 

FINANCING 
CASH 

FLOWS 
$’000 

BORROWING 
COST 

AMORTISATION 
$’000 

OTHER 
NON-

FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 

$’000 

FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE 
MOVEMENT  

$’000 
30 JUNE 2020 

$’000 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings – Current 30,038 6,704 – (199) (598) 35,945 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings – Non-current 1,393,515 (166,352) 1,520 13,181 (14,912) 1,226,952 

Total liabilities from financing 
activities 1,423,553 (159,648) 1,520 12,982 (15,510) 1,262,897 

22 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, FINANCING AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

17. INTEREST BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2020 
$’000 

2019 23

$’000 

Current 
Lease liabilities 35,945 30,038 

35,945 30,038 

Non-current 
Lease liabilities 215,301 239,979 
Loans 1,011,651 1,153,536 

1,226,952 1,393,515 

FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS 

FACILITY 
NOTIONAL 

CURRENCY 

INTEREST 
RATE AT 30 

JUNE 2020 (P.A.) 
2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Total facilities available: 

Non-amortising term loan facility AUD 1.9% – 2.3% 550,000 550,000 
Working capital facility AUD 1.7% – 1.9% 30,000 30,000 
Non-amortising term loan facility GBP 1.8% 832,438 840,116 
Working capital facility GBP 1.7% – 1.8% 35,804 36,134 

1,448,242 1,456,250 

Facilities utilised at reporting date: 

Non-amortising term loan facility AUD 1.9% – 2.3% 305,000 317,000 
Working capital facility AUD 1.7% 12,903 13,194 
Non-amortising term loan facility GBP 1.8% 709,452 840,116 
Working capital facility GBP 1.7% 190 190 

1,027,545 1,170,500 

Facilities not utilised at reporting date 

Non-amortising term loan facility AUD 0.7% – 0.9% 245,000 233,000 
Working capital facility AUD 0.7% 17,097 16,806 
Non-amortising term loan facility GBP 0.7% 122,986 – 
Working capital facility GBP 0.7% 35,614 35,944 

420,697 285,750 

Facilities utilised at reporting date includes $13.1 million (2019: $13.4 million) of guarantees provided to external parties, 
which have not been drawn down. Refer to Note 19.

23 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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Link Group made pre-emptive drawdowns from its available facilities in March ($113.8 million) and April 2020 ($81.5 
million) in response to economic volatility due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and to ensure Link Group had sufficient cash 
to meet operating requirements and to complete the Pepper European Services acquisition (refer Note 25), which at 30 
June 2020 was still subject to regulatory approval.  

As at 30 June 2020, the terms of the facilities under the Syndicated Loan Agreement were as follows: 
• $275 million of the AUD non-amortising term loan facility available to 25 January 2024;
• $275 million of the AUD non-amortising term loan facility available to 25 January 2024;
• $30 million AUD working capital facility to 25 January 2024;
• £465 million GBP non-amortising term loan facility available to 2 November 2022; and
• £20 million working capital facility available to 2 November 2022.

Link Group also has access to an uncommitted facility of $250.0 million under the Syndicated Loan Facility until 2 
November 2022, provided the facility is established prior to 2 November 2020. This is an uncommitted revolving credit 
facility for general corporate purposes to fund acquisitions permitted under the facility (and related advisory fees, costs 
and expenses) and growth capital expenditure and to refinance existing debt of an acquired target. 

18. FINANCE COSTS

2020 
$’000 

2019 24

$’000 

Loan interest expense (23,283) (24,618) 
Lease liabilities interest expense (10,467) (11,158) 

Amortisation of capitalised borrowing costs (1,520) (1,501) 

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 521 (801) 

Other (441) (118) 

(35,190) (38,196) 

24 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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19. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Link Group has granted bank guarantees, letters of credit and performance guarantees in the favour of: 

TYPE/COUNTERPARTY BENEFICIARY REASON 
2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Bank guarantee – 
Westpac 

Pacific Custodians Pty Limited Regulatory financial licence 10,000 10,000 

Letter of credit – Westpac STRATE Limited Regulatory financial licence 753 878 
Letter of credit – Westpac Railway Pension Nominees 

Limited 
Property lease 630 795 

Bank guarantee – 
Westpac 

ASX Settlement & Transfer Corp Contractual obligation 500 500 

Bank guarantee – 
Westpac  

GESB Superannuation Contractual obligation 1,000 1,000 

Letter of credit – Westpac Australian Securities & 
Investments Commission 

Contractual obligation 20 20 

Bank guarantee – HSBC Kryalos Societa di Gestione del 
Risparmio S.p.A 

Property lease 190 190 

Australian Financial Services Licence (AFSL) Performance Bond 
A Guarantee for $10 million (2019: $10 million) is held with Westpac on behalf of a subsidiary of Link Group, Pacific 
Custodians Pty Limited, as a requirement of the subsidiary’s Australian Financial Services Licence (AFSL) requirements 
(AFSL Performance Bond).  

Other contingent liabilities 
There are 3 outstanding claims that have been made upon Link Market Services (South Africa) Pty Limited relating to the 
issuance/non-issuance of replacement share certificates. The maximum amount of these claims is the equivalent 
of approximately $2.7 million, however Link Group is defending these matters and believes, based on its legal advice, 
that it has a solid basis for such defence and any liability is both uncertain and not possible to quantify. 

Other 
From time to time, Link Fund Solutions (LFS) receives enquiries, complaints or claims from investors or third parties in 
relation to the funds for which it acts, or has acted, as authorised corporate director (ACD) (in relation to authorised 
funds) or operator (in relation to unregulated funds).  As disclosed on 18 June 2019, the Financial Conduct Authority 
(FCA) notified LFS that it was commencing an investigation into LFS as ACD to the LF Woodford Equity Income Fund, 
now known as the LF Equity Income Fund (Fund).  As the FCA investigation is an ongoing and confidential process, Link 
Group cannot speculate or make any further comment on it.  As at the date of these consolidated financial statements 
there has been no enquiry, complaint or claim received by LFS regarding its role in relation to any funds, including the 
Fund, which should be disclosed as a contingent liability in these consolidated financial statements.  LFS continues to act 
in the best interests of investors in the Fund as the orderly wind-up of the Fund progresses. 
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20. INVESTMENT AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Investments
2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Listed equity securities – at fair value through profit or loss 2,907 3,150 
Unlisted investments – at fair value through profit or loss 90,291 48,199 

93,198 51,349 

The equity securities have been designated at fair value through profit or loss because they are managed on a fair value 
basis and their performance is actively monitored. 

During the year Link Group paid £40.0 million in relation to its strategic global partnership and investment in Smart 
Pension. £37.0 million ($69.4 million) was allocated an investment in Smart Pension Limited (Smart), and £3.0 million 
($5.6 million) was allocated to the purchase of Smart Pension Administration Limited in a business combination (see note 
25). Link Group’s total ownership of Smart is 17.4%. The investment in Smart is carried within unlisted investments at 
a fair value with gains or losses recognised through profit or loss given Link Group does not have significant influence 
over Smart. As at 30 June 2020, the investment had a fair value of $66.2 million after accounting for foreign exchange 
fluctuations. 

Link Group continues to account for its 13.1% (2019: 13.1%) ownership interest in Leveris Limited (Leveris) within 
unlisted investments at a fair value, with gains or losses recognised through profit or loss given Link Group does not have 
significant influence over Leveris. During the year Link Group revalued its initial investment of €25.0 million ($39.7 
million) down to €10.1 million ($16.7 million) based on an independent expert valuation and management’s assessment 
of fair value as at 30 June 2020. The revaluation takes into account the current economic environment and the impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. As at 30 June 2020, the investment had a fair value of $16.7 million (2019: $39.7 million) after 
accounting for the revaluation and foreign exchange fluctuations. 

(b) Financial Risk Management Overview
Link Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments: 
• credit risk
• liquidity risk
• market risk

Risk Management Framework 
The Company’s Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk 
management framework. 

Link Group has established risk management policies that identify and analyse the risks faced by Link Group, 
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly. 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to Link Group if a client or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The carrying amount of financial assets less any provisions for impairment represents 
Link Group’s maximum credit exposure. 

Link Group’s exposure to credit risk arises predominantly through its cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, and fund assets. 
• Cash and cash equivalent amounts as well as transactions involving derivative financial instruments are all held

or maintained by banks and financial institutions with high credit ratings.
• Trade Receivables are monitored in line with Link Group’s credit policy. The credit quality of clients is assessed

by taking into account their financial position, past experience and other relevant factors. Based on the above
process, Link Group considers that all unimpaired trade and other receivables are collectible in full.
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• Fund assets relate to investors’ purchase or redemption of units in investment funds of which Link Fund Solutions
Limited (Link Group’s collective investment scheme administration business) is an Authorised Corporate Director.
Link Group has a limited exposure to credit risk as fund assets and fund liabilities are usually settled within
four business days. Link Group has rights regarding net settlement, enabling uncollectable balances to be
recovered, refer to Note 11.

The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 

2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Neither past due nor impaired 211,880 224,254 
Past due 1–30 days 14,082 10,588 
Past due 31–60 days 6,538 4,536 
Past due over 61 days 6,437 5,452 

238,937 244,830 

Movements in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and other receivables during the year are disclosed in 
Note 9. 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that Link Group will encounter difficulties in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Link Group manages its liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate cash reserves and available committed credit lines combined with continuous monitoring of actual 
and forecast cash flows on a short, medium and long term basis. See Note 17 for details of Link Group’s unused facilities 
at year end. 

Remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of financial liabilities, including estimated interest 
payments were as follows. The amounts include both interest and principal cash flows undiscounted and based on 
contractual maturity (without reference to the repricing schedule) and therefore the totals will differ from those disclosed 
in the statement of financial position. It is noted that the interest repayments are based on forward interest rates and as 
such these amounts could vary, however it is not expected that they will do so significantly from the amounts stated 
below. 

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

$’000 
TOTAL  

$’000 
< 1 YEAR  

$’000 
1–2 YEARS 

$’000 
2–5 YEARS 

$’000 
> 5 YEARS 

$’000 

30 June 2020 
Non-interest bearing 
Trade and other payables 283,737 283,737 275,154 3,603 4,341 639 
Fund liabilities 614,883 614,883 614,883 – – – 
Interest bearing 
Loans and borrowings  1,262,897 1,374,752 69,705 64,809 1,129,068 111,170 
Total non-derivative liabilities 2,161,517 2,273,372 959,742 68,412 1,133,409 111,809 
30 June 2019 
Non-interest bearing 
Trade and other payables 25 290,572 290,572 261,328 24,740 4,504 – 
Fund liabilities 985,633 985,633 985,633 – – – 
Interest bearing 
Loans and borrowings 25 1,423,553 1,568,329 66,009 67,518 1,295,011 139,791 
Total non-derivative liabilities 25 2,699,758 2,844,534 1,312,970 92,258 1,299,515 139,791 

The Company and a number of the subsidiaries are guarantors to Link Group’s loans and borrowings. 

25 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 
affect Link Group’s income or carrying value of its holdings of financial instruments as at the year end. 

Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the carrying value or future cash flows associate with a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

(a) Specific foreign currency items
On 2 November 2017, Link Group drew down from its £465 million non-amortising term loan facility (refer Note 17), and 
Link Group designated the term loan facility as a hedge of the net investment in its UK subsidiaries. The fair value and 
carrying amount of the term loan facility at 30 June 2020 was $709.5 million (2019: $840.1 million). A foreign exchange 
gain of $13.6 million (2019: loss of $14.8 million) on translation of the term loan facility to AUD at the end of the financial 
year is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve on 
consolidation. The hedge was considered 100% effective throughout the year. 

(b) Other foreign currency items
In addition to the specific items mentioned above, entities within Link Group typically enter into transactions and 
recognise assets and liabilities that are denominated in their functional currency. Whilst a number of entities within Link 
Group hold financial instruments in a currency which is not their local functional currency, these balances are not 
considered material and do not expose Link Group to significant foreign currency risk. 

Link Group is exposed to foreign currency risk when net investments in foreign subsidiaries are translated to Link 
Group’s reporting currency, the Australian Dollar (AUD). The effects of any exchange rate movements in respect of the 
net investment in foreign subsidiaries are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve on consolidation. 

Sensitivity testing was performed by flexing the value of the AUD against foreign currencies to which Link Group is 
exposed by 10% (2019: 10%). The assumed 10% change was chosen based on historical and reasonably possible 
movements of official exchange rates. 

PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX NET ASSETS 

2020 
 $’000  

2019 26

 $’000  
2020 

 $’000  
2019 26

 $’000  

AUD +10%/GBP 10,182 (13,567) (26,508) (60,466) 
AUD -10%/GBP (10,182) 13,567 26,507 60,102 

AUD +10%/EUR 4,562 862 (32,990) (36,010) 
AUD -10%/EUR (4,562) (862) 32,990 35,926 

AUD +10%/Other currencies (167) (604) (6,483) (5,613) 
AUD -10%/Other currencies 167 604 6,497 5,572 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of 
financial instruments. Link Group is exposed to interest rate risk attaching specifically to Link Group’s financial assets 
and liabilities as well as through the maintenance of paying agent and escrow bank accounts administered on behalf of 
clients. Link Group’s primary financial assets impacted by changes in variable interest rates include cash and cash 
equivalents. Link Group’s primary financial liabilities impacted by interest rate movements include interest bearing loans 
and borrowings. 

A sensitivity analysis was performed to assess the impact interest rates have on Link Group’s statement of financial 
performance, including the impact of hedging and escrow bank accounts. Sensitivity testing was performed by increasing 
interest rates by 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) as at reporting date which would result in a favourable impact on Link Group’s 
loss/profit before tax of $1.7 million (2019: favourable impact of $1.9 million 26). A decrease of 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) would 
have an adverse impact on Link Group’s profit before tax of $0.2 million (2019: adverse impact of $0.1 million 26). The 
assumed 0.5% (2019: 0.5%) change was chosen based on historical and reasonably possible movements of official 
interest rates. The method of calculation has not changed from the prior period. 

26 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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Price risk 
Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. Link Group’s exposure to price risk arises primarily from the listed and unlisted equity securities it holds, 
which have been designated at fair value through profit or loss. 

A 5% increase/(decrease) (2019: 5%) in the fair value of Link Group’s listed and unlisted investments would 
increase/(decrease) Link Group’s profit before tax by $4.7 million (2019: $2.6 million). The assumed 5% change was 
chosen based on historical and reasonably possible movements in equity markets.  

(c) Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a capital base so as to provide shareholder and other stakeholder confidence and to 
sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of total equity less amounts accumulated in equity in relation 
to cash flow hedges, dividend reserves and other reserves. 

Link Group monitors the ratio of net financial indebtedness to operating earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation, (Operating EBITDA). Net debt is calculated as interest bearing liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. 
Link Group also monitors the interest cover ratio, which is calculated by dividing Operating EBITDA by interest expense. 

(d) Fair value of financial instruments
The following table details Link Group’s fair value amounts of financial instruments categorised by the following levels: 
• Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

LEVEL 1 
$’000 

LEVEL 2 
$’000 

LEVEL 3 
$’000 

TOTAL 
$’000 

30 June 2020 
Assets 
Derivative financial assets – 693 – 693 
Listed investments designated at fair value through profit 
and loss 2,907 – – 2,907 
Unlisted equity securities designated at fair value through 
profit and loss – 1,631 88,660 90,291 

2,907 2,324 88,660 93,891 
30 June 2019 
Assets 
Listed investments designated at fair value through profit 
and loss 3,150 – – 3,150 

Unlisted equity securities designated at fair value through 
profit and loss – 3,023 45,176 48,199 

3,150 3,023 45,176 51,349 

There have been no assets transferred between levels during the year (2019: none). 

Level 1 investments consist of financial instruments traded in active markets, and are valued based on quoted market 
prices at the end of the reporting period. 

Level 2 investments consist of unlisted managed investment schemes and derivative financial instruments. Unlisted 
managed investment schemes are valued based on daily quoted unit redemption prices derived using observable market 
data. Derivative financial instruments are valued using quoted forward exchange rates at the reporting date and present 
value calculations based on high credit quality yield curves in the respective currencies. 

Level 3 investments include unlisted investments held by Link Group, the valuation for which is deemed to have one or 
more significant inputs which are not based on observable market data. 

Significant increases or decreases in future cash flows would increase or decrease, respectively, the fair value of the 
investments. 
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2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Reconciliation of movements in level 3 investments 

Opening level 3 investments at the beginning of the financial year 45,176 136,622 
Acquisitions 69,983 40,299 
Fair value (Loss) / Gain recognised in profit or loss (22,996) 177,998 
Investments reclassified to equity-accounted investments – (310,268) 
Foreign currency retranslation (3,503) 525 
Closing level 3 investments at the end of the financial year 88,660 45,176 

Significant accounting estimate and judgement 
Judgement is required in measuring level 3 investments at fair value. All key assumptions applied in fair value 
measurements were determined using the past experiences of Link Group and management. Where possible, 
assumptions were validated against external sources of information such as independent arms-length transactions, 
or independent expert valuations. 

The following table sets out the carrying amount and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities: 

FAIR VALUE VS CARRYING AMOUNTS 

2020 2019 27

FAIR VALUE 
$’000 

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

$’000 
FAIR VALUE 

$’000 

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

$’000 

Assets 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss 
Derivative financial assets 693 693 – – 
Investments 93,198 93,198 51,349 51,349 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
Cash and cash equivalents 264,092 264,092 560,176 560,176 
Trade and other receivables 238,937 238,937 244,830 244,830 
Fund assets 616,982 616,982 985,900 985,900 

1,213,902 1,213,902 1,842,255 1,842,255 
Liabilities 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
Trade and other payables 283,737 283,737 290,572 290,572 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 1,262,897 1,262,897 1,423,553 1,423,553 
Fund liabilities 614,883 614,883 985,633 985,633 

2,161,517 2,161,517 2,699,758 2,699,758 

The fair values of interest bearing loans and borrowings are not materially different to their carrying amounts since the 
interest payable on those borrowings is floating at current market rates. 

Financial instruments – Recognition/derecognition 
A financial instrument is recognised when Link Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised if Link Group’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire or if 
Link Group transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all the risks and rewards 
of the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if Link Group’s obligations specified in the contract expire 
or are discharged or cancelled. 

27 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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Measurement 
Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through profit or loss, 
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial instruments are measured as 
described below. 

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income under “gains or losses on financial assets held at fair value through profit and loss”. 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
Other financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

Trade and other payables and interest-bearing loans and borrowings are classified as financial liabilities. Trade and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents are classified as financial assets. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
balances and call deposits. 

Impairment 
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is 
impaired. Any impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

21. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

2020 
 $’000  

2019 
 $’000  

Issued and paid-up capital 
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,909,140 1,875,538 
Equity bought back and cancelled (19,387) – 
Equity issued under dividend reinvestment plan – 33,569 
Equity raising and share buy-back costs, net of tax (20) 33 
Balance at the end of the year 1,889,733 1,909,140 

2020 
‘000  

2019 
‘000 

Number of shares issued: 
Balance at the beginning of the year 533,951 529,543 
Equity bought back and cancelled (3,623) – 
Equity issued under dividend reinvestment plan – 4,408 
Balance at the end of the year 530,328 533,951 

Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any related income tax benefit. 

Ordinary shares 
The Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its issued shares. All issued shares are fully 
paid. Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one 
vote per share at shareholders’ meetings. 
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22. RESERVES

CONSOLIDATED 

SHARE 
COMPEN-

SATION  
RESERVE 

$’000 

TREASURY 
SHARE 

RESERVE 
$’000 

DISTRI-
BUTABLE 
PROFITS 

RESERVE 
$’000 

FOREIGN 
CURRENCY 

TRANSLATION 
RESERVE 

$’000 

ACQUISITION 
RESERVE 

$’000 

DEFINED 
BENEFIT 

RESERVE 
$’000 

PRE- 
ACQUISITION 

PROFITS PAID 
RESERVE 

$’000 
TOTAL 

$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2019 28 10,022 (2,698) 114,487 37,071 (12,552) (1,341) (129,733) 15,256 
Other comprehensive income – – – (2,071) – (12) – (2,083) 
Transfer from retained earnings to reserves – – 104,173 – – – – 104,173 
Transactions with shareholders 
Dividends declared from distributable profits reserve – – (101,248) – – – – (101,248) 
Equity settled share based payments (1,807) 2,774 – – – – – 967 
Treasury shares acquired – (396) – – – – – (396) 
Balance at 30 June 2020 8,215 (320) 117,412 35,000 (12,552) (1,353) (129,733) 16,669 

CONSOLIDATED 

SHARE 
COMPEN-

SATION  
RESERVE 

$’000 

TREASURY 
SHARE 

RESERVE 
$’000 

DISTRI-
BUTABLE 
PROFITS 

RESERVE 
$’000 

FOREIGN 
CURRENCY 

TRANSLATION 
RESERVE 28 

$’000 

ACQUISITION 
RESERVE 

$’000 

DEFINED 
BENEFIT 

RESERVE 
$’000 

PRE- 
ACQUISITION 

PROFITS PAID 
RESERVE 

$’000 
TOTAL 28 

$’000 

Balance at 1 July 2018 8,458 – 132,088 16,338 (8,572) (1,177) (129,733) 17,402 
Other comprehensive income – – – 20,733 – (164) – 20,569 
Transfer from retained earnings to reserves – – 96,462 – – – – 96,462 
Transactions with shareholders 
Dividends declared from distributable profits reserve – – (114,063) – – – – (114,063) 
Equity settled share based payments 1,564 769 – – – – – 2,333 
Treasury shares acquired – (3,467) – – – – – (3,467) 
Non-controlling interest on acquisition of subsidiaries – – – – (3,980) – – (3,980) 
Balance at 30 June 2019 10,022 (2,698) 114,487 37,071 (12,552) (1,341) (129,733) 15,256 

28 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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Share compensation reserve  
The reserve for own shares represents the cost of ordinary shares held by an equity compensation plan that will be 
issued to settle entitlements under share based payment plans. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the 
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. 

Treasury share reserve 
The treasury share reserve comprises the cost of the Company’s shares held by Link Group. Treasury shares are carried 
at cost and held for the purposes of the settling share-based payment arrangements at a future date, refer Note 24. 
At 30 June 2020, Link Group held 62,582 (2019: 375,000) of the Company’s shares. 

Distributable profits reserve 
The distributable profits reserve is available to enable the payment of future dividends. 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of Link 
Group. Where Link Group hedges foreign currency risk on net investments in foreign subsidiaries, foreign exchange 
gains/losses on translation of the hedging instrument are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the foreign currency translation reserve on consolidation. 

Acquisition reserve 
The acquisition reserve represents the purchase of non-controlling interests where there is no change in control. 
The accounting standards prescribe that the value of such acquisitions should be accounted for as equity transactions 
instead of accounting for them as an adjustment to goodwill. 

Defined benefit reserve 
The defined benefit reserve represents the re-measurement of the net defined benefit liability and comprises the actuarial 
gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if any, excluding 
interest). 

Pre-acquisition profits paid reserve 
The pre-acquisition profits paid reserve represents dividends paid on consolidation from pre and post-acquisition profits 
in a prior period. 

Dividends 
2020 INTERIM 2019 FINAL 2019 INTERIM 2018 FINAL 

Dividend cents per share 6.5 12.5 8.0 13.5 
Franking percentage 100% 100% 100% 100% 
Total dividend ($’000) 34,504 66,744 42,575 71,488 
Record date 05.03.2020 05.09.2019 25.02.2019 23.08.2018 
Payment date 09.04.2020 10.10.2019 09.04.2019 10.10.2018 

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared. The final 2020 dividend has not been 
declared at the reporting date and therefore is not reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 

On 27 August 2020, the Directors approved a final dividend of $18,561,496, which equates to 3.5 cents per share, 
franked at 50% in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2020. The record date for determining entitlements to the 
dividend is 2 September 2020. Payment of the dividend will occur on 25 September 2020. 
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23. RETAINED EARNINGS

2020 
$’000 

2019 29

$’000 

Retained earnings at the beginning of the financial year 29 223,739 3,208 
Net profit attributable to equity holders (115,996) 316,892 
Transfer from retained earnings to distributable profits reserve (104,173) (96,462) 
Gain on settlement of dividend reinvestment plan recognised in retained earnings 5 – 
Gain on settlement of equity settled share based payments recognised in retained earnings 688 101 
Retained earnings at the end of the year 4,263 223,739 

24. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

The fair value of the share based payments is determined at grant/service commencement date and is recognised 
as an expense, with a corresponding increase in reserves, over the vesting period. The amount expensed is adjusted 
based on the related service and non-market performance conditions which are expected to be met, resulting in the 
amount recognised being based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non-market performance 
conditions at the vesting date. The impact of any changes to the estimates of non-market vesting conditions are adjusted 
each reporting period to reflect the most current expectation of vesting. 

(a) Description of share-based payment arrangements
At 30 June 2020, Link Group had the following shared-based payment arrangements. 

Omnibus equity plan 
The Omnibus equity plan (OEP) entitles Executive KMPs, Senior Executives and Senior Leaders to receive Performance 
Share Rights (PSRs) which, subject to the satisfaction of service-based conditions and performance hurdles, will, if 
vested, allow participants to receive fully paid ordinary shares in the Company. During the financial year and in 
accordance with the OEP, LTI PSRs were granted to Executive KMPs, Senior Executives and Senior Leaders on 18 
December 2019. The PSRs are divided into 2 tranches of 75% and 25% and subject to testing against an operating 
earnings-per-share (EPS) target and relative total shareholder return (relative TSR) respectively. 

The terms and conditions of the PSRs granted during the financial year ended 30 June 2020 were as follows. 

GRANT DATE/EMPLOYEES 
ENTITLED 

NUMBER 
OF PSRS VESTING CONDITIONS CONTRACTUAL LIFE OF PSRS 

LTI issued to Executive 
KMPs, Senior Executives 
and Senior Leaders on 
18 December 2019 

1,758,204 75% against an EPS target and 
25% against relative TSR for the 
three-year performance period 
commencing 1 July 2019. 

Seven years, with last exercise 
occurring September 2026 (unless the 
PSRs lapse earlier in accordance with 
the terms of the invitation). 

The number of PSRs issued to each participant was calculated with reference to the 5-day Volume Weighted Average 
Price (VWAP) following the release of the 2019 full year results and accounted for at fair value in accordance with 
accounting standards from grant date. 

The expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in relation to the 
LTI PSRs during the year ended 30 June 2020 was $1.2 million (2019: $1.5 million). 

29 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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Broad-based employee share plan 
All Australian based qualifying employees of Link Group are entitled to participate in the Tax Exempt Share Plan (Exempt 
Plan), which gives the employees the right to be issued up to $1,000 worth of fully paid ordinary shares for $nil financial 
consideration. The Exempt Plan enables qualified employees to receive ordinary shares free of income tax provided 
conditions in the current Australian tax legislation are satisfied. These shares cannot be sold until the earlier of three 
years after the date of issue or the time the employee ceases employment with Link Group. The plan operates at the 
discretion of the Board and is subject to Link Group performance, and was not offered to employees during the year 
ended 30 June 2020. 

The expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in relation to the 
Exempt Plan during the year ended 30 June 2020 was $Nil (2019: $2.2 million). 

(b) Measurement of grant date fair values

Significant accounting estimate and judgement 
Judgement is required in determining the fair value of PSRs, which was determined at grant date based upon 
an independent valuation. The amount expensed is adjusted based on the related service and non-market 
performance conditions which are expected to be met. 

The following inputs were used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the LTI PSRs issued during the 
year ended 30 June 2020: 

18 DECEMBER 2019 

Fair value at grant date: 
i. EPS tranche at grant date $5.01 
ii. TSR tranche fair value at grant date $2.80 

Share price at grant date $5.67 
Exercise price – 
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility) 25% 
PSR life (expected weighted average life) 3 years 

Holding lock discount: 
i. 1 year 5% 
ii. 2 years 7.5% 

Expected dividends 3.53% 
Risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds) 0.74% 

The fair value of services received in return for LTI PSRs is based on the fair value of LTI PSRs granted, measured using 
a Monte Carlo valuation model. Expected volatility is estimated taking into account historic average share price volatility 
of the Company and certain other ASX listed companies. 

(c) Reconciliation of performance share rights
The number of performance share rights on issue during the financial year ended 30 June 2020 was as follows: 

LTI PSRS STI DEFERRAL PSRS 

2020 
‘000  

2019 
‘000  

2020 
‘000  

2019 
‘000  

On issue at beginning of the year 3,116 1,915 6 – 
Granted during the year 1,758 1,501 – 111 
Lapsed during the year (409) (300) – – 
Vested during the year (353) – – (105) 
On issue at the end of the year 4,112 3,116 6 6 
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GROUP STRUCTURE 

25. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

In addition to organic growth, Link Group seeks to grow through acquisitions and leverage the existing systems, skillsets 
and processes to improve client satisfaction and obtain synergies to drive positive returns for shareholders. 

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Judgement is applied in determining 
the acquisition date and determining whether control is transferred from one party to another. 

Link Group measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including the recognised amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured as at the acquisition date. 

Consideration transferred includes the fair values of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, including liabilities 
incurred by Link Group to the previous owners of the acquiree and equity interests issued by Link Group. Consideration 
transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration and share-based payment awards of the acquiree 
that are replaced mandatorily in the Business Combination. 

Significant accounting estimate and judgement 
Judgement is required in measuring the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed for each 
acquisition. All key assumptions applied in fair value measurements were determined using the past experiences 
of Link Group and management. Where possible, assumptions were validated against external sources of information. 

Acquisitions 
On 1 January 2020 Link Group acquired 100% of Link Pension Administration Limited (formerly Smart Pension 
Administration Limited), a pension administration business based in the UK. The acquisition formed part of a broader 
transaction in which Link Group also acquired a non-controlling interest in Smart Pension Limited (refer Note 20), 
enabling Link Group to enter the UK pension administration market. The acquisition of Link Pension Administration 
Limited was valued at £3.0 million ($5.6 million). 

Provisional acquisition accounting 
The fair values of the following assets and liabilities have been recognised on a provisional basis as at 30 June 2020, 
whereby the accounting balances for the acquisition may be revised in accordance with AASB 3 Business Combinations: 
• intangible assets (excluding goodwill), predominantly client relationships, have been determined provisionally

pending completion of fair value calculations; and
• the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired may be impacted by the completion of the newly acquired

subsidiaries 30 June 2020 financial statement audits and tax returns.

Where new information obtained within one year of the acquisition about the facts and circumstances that existed at the 
date of acquisition identifies adjustments to the above amounts, or any additional provisions that existed at the date 
of acquisition, the accounting for the acquisition will be revised. 
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The provisional acquisition accounting has been accounted for in the consolidated financial statements as follows: 

LINK PENSION 
ADMINISTRATION 

$’000 

Consideration on settlement 5,634 

Less: fair value of net identifiable assets acquired (5,634) 
Goodwill – 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed: 
Trade and other receivables 33 
Other assets 17 
Plant and equipment 66 
Client relationships 6,872 
Trade and other payables (48) 
Deferred tax liabilities (1,306) 
Net assets 5,634 

Prior year provisional acquisition accounting 
The fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired in the FlexFront B.V., Nationaal Hypotheek Loket B.V. and TSR 
Darashaw Consultants Private Limited business combinations were recognised on a provisional basis as at 30 June 
2019. No new information was obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of the acquisitions, 
meaning no adjustments to any amounts recognised or the accounting for the acquisitions were required. The 
measurement period for these business combinations is now closed. 

Pending acquisitions 
On 31 January 2020, Link Group announced it had entered into a binding agreement to acquire Pepper European 
Servicing (PES) from Pepper Group for an upfront consideration of $277 million, with a further €35 million deferred 
consideration payable dependent on PES meeting certain Assets under Management thresholds and growth milestones. 
PES provides end-to-end loan servicing, advisory and asset management services across both residential and 
commercial segments in the UK, Ireland and continental Europe. The transaction is subject to mandatory regulatory 
approvals and is expected to complete in the second half of calendar 2020. 
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26. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

On 26 August 2019 Link Group entered into a binding agreement to sell its 74.85% interest in Link Market Services 
South Africa (LMSSA) to JSE Limited for a cash free, debt free consideration of ZAR 224.5 million ($18.9 million). As at 
30 June 2020, the transaction is subject to mandatory regulatory approvals, which are expected to be achieved in the 
first half of financial year 2021. Accordingly, LMSSA assets and liabilities associated with the sale have been presented 
as a disposal group held for sale as at 30 June 2020. 

(a) Assets and liabilities of disposal group held for sale
30 JUNE 2020 

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 1,967 
Trade and other receivables 1,919 
Current tax assets 321 
Other assets 28 
Plant and equipment 960 
Intangible assets 614 
Deferred tax assets 122 
Assets held for sale 5,931 
Trade and other payables 1,004 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings 618 
Employee benefits 60 
Current tax liabilities 23 
Deferred tax liabilities 89 
Liabilities held for sale 1,794 
Net assets held for sale 4,137 

No gain or loss has been recognised in Link Group’s Statement of Profit or Loss, and there is no cumulative income or 
expenses included in other comprehensive income relating to the disposal group. LMSSA is included within the 
Corporate Markets reportable segment. 

27. CONTROLLED ENTITIES

SUBSIDIARIES
COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION

% OWNERSHIP 
INTEREST 

CONSOLIDATED 
2020 

% OWNERSHIP 
INTEREST 

CONSOLIDATED 
2019 

Australia and New Zealand 
Link Administration Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Digital Solutions Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
Link Market Services Group Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Market Services Holdings Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Market Services Limited Australia 100 100 
Pacific Custodians Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link MS Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Share Plans Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Orient Capital Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Corporate File Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Open Briefing Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Australian Administration Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
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SUBSIDIARIES
COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION

% OWNERSHIP 
INTEREST 

CONSOLIDATED 
2020 

% OWNERSHIP 
INTEREST 

CONSOLIDATED 
2019 

AAS Superannuation Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Group Technology Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
Atune Financial Solutions Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Primary Superannuation Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
The Superannuation Clearing House Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Complete Corporate Solutions Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Company Matters Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
The Australian Superannuation Group (WA) Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Link DigiCom Pty Limited  Australia 100 100 
Link Business Services Pty Ltd Australia 100 100 
Link Administration Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Advice Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Super Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
P.S.I Superannuation Management Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Empirics Marketing Pty Limited Australia 51.3 51.3 
FuturePlus Financial Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Property Holdings Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Property Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
FuturePlus Legal Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Accrued Holdings Pty Limited Australia 51.3 51.3 
Synchronised Software Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Administration Support Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Superpartners Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Administration Resource Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Fund Solutions Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Adviser Network Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Land Registry Services Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
WO Nominees A/C Non Taxable Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
WO Nominees A/C Company Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
WO Nominees A/C Fund Pty Limited Australia 100 100 
Link Administration Holdings Employee Share Trust 30 Australia – – 
Link Market Services (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand 100 100 
Pacific Custodians (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand 100 100 
United Kingdom and Channel Islands 
Link Group Administration Limited (formerly Link Market 
Services (EMEA) Limited) United Kingdom 100 100 

Link Group Service Company Limited (formerly Link 
EMEA Service Company Limited) United Kingdom 100 100 

D.F. King Ltd United Kingdom 100 100 
Orient Capital Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Group Corporate Director Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Group Corporate Secretary Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Asset Checker Limited United Kingdom 50 50 
Crown Northcorp Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Jessop Fund Managers Limited United Kingdom 100 100 

30 Link Group has determined it controls the employee share trust that administers its share based payment arrangements (refer Note 24), despite having 
no ownership interest in the entity. 
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SUBSIDIARIES
COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION

% OWNERSHIP 
INTEREST 

CONSOLIDATED 
2020 

% OWNERSHIP 
INTEREST 

CONSOLIDATED 
2019 

LFI (Nominees) Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Alternative Fund Administrators Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Asset Services (Holdings) Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Asset Services (London) Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Asset Services (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Company Matters Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Financial Group Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Financial Investments Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Fund Administrators Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Fund Solutions Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Market Services Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Market Services Trustees (Nominees) Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Market Services Trustees Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Mortgage Services Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Share Plan Services Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Link Treasury Services Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Northern Registrars Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Personal Pension Management Ltd United Kingdom 100 100 
Rooftop Mortgages Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Sinclair Henderson Fund Administration Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Stentiford Close Registrars Limited United Kingdom 100 100 
Whale Rock Accounting Limited (dissolved 18 February 
2020) United Kingdom – 100 

Whale Rock Company Secretariat Limited (dissolved 18 
February 2020) United Kingdom – 100 

Whale Rock Directors Limited (dissolved 18 February 
2020) United Kingdom – 100 

Whale Rock Secretaries Limited (dissolved 18 February 
2020) United Kingdom – 100 

Link Pension Administration Limited (acquired 1 
January 2020) United Kingdom 100 – 

Financial Administrators (Guernsey) Limited Guernsey 100 100 
Link Market Services (Guernsey) Limited Guernsey 100 100 
Link Nominees 1 Limited Guernsey 100 100 
Link Nominees 2 Limited Guernsey 100 100 
Link Market Services (Jersey) Limited Jersey 100 100 
Link Market Services (Isle of Man) Limited Isle of Man 100 100 
Europe 
Link Market Services GmbH Germany 100 100 
Link Market Services (Frankfurt) GmbH Germany 100 100 
Link Asset Services GmbH Germany 100 100 
Orient Capital GmbH (effective 18 June 2020) Germany 100 – 
Link ASI Limited Ireland 100 100 
Link CTI Limited Ireland 100 100 
Link Fund Administrators (Ireland) Ltd Ireland 100 100 
Link Fund Manager Solutions (Ireland) Limited Ireland 100 100 
Link IRG (BC) Limited Ireland 100 100 
Link Registrars Limited Ireland 100 100 
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SUBSIDIARIES
COUNTRY OF 

INCORPORATION

% OWNERSHIP 
INTEREST 

CONSOLIDATED 
2020 

% OWNERSHIP 
INTEREST 

CONSOLIDATED 
2019 

Link Group Administration Pty Limited (incorporated 17 
January 2020) Ireland 100 – 

Link Group Service Company Pty Limited (incorporated 
20 February 2020) Ireland 100 – 

Link Fund Solutions (Luxembourg) S.A. Luxembourg 100 100 
Link Asset Services B.V. Netherlands 100 100 
Link Asset Services (Netherlands) B.V. Netherlands 100 100 
FlexFront B.V. Netherlands 100 100 
Nationaal Hypotheek Loket B.V. (merged 30 June 2020) Netherlands – 100 
Link Asset Services (France) SAS (incorporated 6 
November 2019) France 100 – 

Other countries 
Link Investor Services Pty Limited South Africa 74.9 74.9 
Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Limited South Africa 74.9 74.9 
Pacific Custodians (Nominees) (RF) Pty Limited South Africa 74.9 74.9 
Link Intime India Private Limited India 100 100 
Sharex Dynamic (India) Pvt Ltd India 100 100 
TSR Darashaw Consultants Private Limited India 75 75 
Link Administration Services Private Limited 
(incorporated 11 February 2020) India 100 – 

PNG Registries Pty Limited Papua New 
Guinea 100 100 

Link Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty Limited Hong Kong 100 100 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control exists when Link Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date 
that control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed on acquisition when necessary to align 
them with the policies adopted by Link Group. 

28. EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS

Equity accounted investments are those over which Link Group has significant influence, but not control. Set out below 
are the equity-accounted investments of Link Group as at 30 June 2020. 

EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTMENTS 
PLACE OF 
BUSINESS 

% 
OWNERSHIP 

INTEREST 
2020 

% 
OWNERSHIP 

INTEREST 
2019 

2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Torrens Group Holdings Pty Ltd (formerly LMC 
BidCo Pty Ltd) Australia 44.2 44.2 691,228 702,613 
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(a) Summarised financial information for equity-accounted investments

The following table summarises the financial information of Torrens Group Holdings Pty Ltd (PEXA’s parent entity) as 
included in its own consolidated financial statements, adjusted for fair value adjustments at acquisition and differences in 
accounting policies. The table also reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of Link 
Group’s interest in Torrens Group Holdings. The information for 2019 includes the results of Torrens Group Holdings only 
for the period from 16 January 2019 to 30 June 2019, the period for which Torrens Group Holdings was classified as an 
associate of Link Group. 

PEXA SUMMARY BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 

2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 70,199 42,444 

Other current assets 33,297 13,512 

Non-current assets 1,659,693 1,693,177 

Current liabilities (34,318) (29,949) 

Non-current liabilities (164,212) (128,754) 

Net Assets (100%) 1,564,659 1,590,430 

Link Group’s share of net assets (44.2%) 691,226 702,611 

Elimination of unrealised downstream transactions 2 2 

Carrying value of equity-accounted investment 691,228 702,613 

PEXA SUMMARY STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Revenue 155,587 54,199 

Depreciation expense (2,364) (280) 

Intangibles amortisation expense – non-acquisition related (3,363) 399 

Intangibles amortisation expense – acquisition related (56,664) (25,568) 

Finance income 2,501 1,373 

Income tax expense (16,919) (4,412) 

Profit/(loss) for the year (25,771) (28,202) 

Other comprehensive income for the year – – 

Total comprehensive income for the year (25,771) (28,202) 

Link Group’s share of comprehensive income (44.2%) (11,385) (12,459) 

Elimination of unrealised downstream transactions – 2 

Link Group’s share of comprehensive income (11,385) (12,457) 

(b) Reconciliation of movements in carrying values

2020 
$’000 

2019 
$’000 

Carrying value at beginning of the year 702,613 – 

Acquisition – 715,070 

Share of loss of equity-accounted investees, net of tax (11,385) (12,457) 

Share of other comprehensive income – – 

Less dividends/distributions received – – 

Carrying value at the end of the year 691,228 702,613 
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29. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these consolidated financial statements present the results of the 
consolidated entity only. As at, and throughout, the financial year ended 30 June 2020 the ultimate parent entity of Link 
Group was Link Administration Holdings Limited. 

2020 
$’000

2019 
$’000

Result of parent entity 
Profit for the year  104,173 96,462 
Other comprehensive income – – 
Total comprehensive income for the year 104,173 96,462 

Financial position of parent entity at year end 
Current assets  13,689 4,013 
Total assets  1,947,268 1,972,716 

Current liabilities 109 7,962 
Total liabilities  109 7,962 

Total equity of the parent entity comprising of: 
Contributed equity  1,889,733 1,909,140 
Share compensation reserve 8,215 10,022 
Distributable profits reserve 117,412 114,487 
Accumulated losses (68,201) (68,895) 
Total equity 1,947,159 1,964,754 

The parent entity has net current assets of $13.5 million (2019: deficiency of $3.9 million), primarily due to the $10.3 
million income tax receivable (2019: $7.9 million provision for income tax) it carries as head of the Link Administration 
Holdings tax consolidated group. The current tax asset/liability is funded by other members of the tax consolidated group, 
shown as inter-company receivables in non-current assets. Link Group has $188.9 million (2019: $484.3 million 31) net 
current assets and $264.1 million (2019: $560.2 million) cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June 2020. 

Other than those disclosed in Note 19, the parent entity has no contingent liabilities, contractual commitments or 
guarantees with third parties as at 30 June 2020 (2019: none). 

31 Prior period comparative information has been restated following initial application of AASB 16 Leases. Refer to Note 3. 
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OTHER DISCLOSURES 

30. RELATED PARTIES

Key Management Personnel compensation 
The aggregate Key Management Personnel (“KMP”) compensation comprised the following: 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Short term employee benefits 5,962,222 5,496,608 
Post-employment benefits 213,288 206,922 
Other long term benefits 58,974 127,478 
Share based payments 1,142,500 298,680 
Termination benefits – 625,585 

7,376,984 6,755,273 

31. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

2020 
 $  

2019 
 $  

Audit of the financial statements 
Auditor of the Company – KPMG Australia 941,091 1,028,536 
Other network firms – KPMG international 1,105,481 1,319,995 

Assurance related services 
Auditor of the Company – KPMG Australia 604,629 576,606 
Other network firms – KPMG international 311,794 292,443 

Other services 
Auditor of the Company – KPMG Australia 415,000 256,385 
Other network firms – KPMG international 260,918 52,241 

3,638,913 3,526,206 

“Other services” includes accounting and other services provided during the financial year. 

Auditor’s remuneration relating to entities acquired in a business combination during the financial year is disclosed only 
in respect of the period those entities were controlled by Link Group. 
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32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

PEXA capital return 
In July 2020, Torrens Group Holding’s Board (i.e. the PEXA Holdco Board) approved a $950 million capital return 
financed by shareholder debt (Link Group’s 44.2% share is approximately $420 million).  This will result in a loan 
receivable being recognised by Link Group in FY2021 (and corresponding reduction in the value of its equity accounted 
investment).  Interest income will accrue on the loan (offsetting the interest expense Torrens Group will recognise). 
Torrens Group is expected to commence refinancing its debt in FY2021 such that it will raise the first tranche external 
debt in order to repay shareholder debt, presently scheduled to be completed by the end of the 2020 calendar year. 

On-market share buy-back 
On 26 August 2020 the Directors resolved to cease the on-market share buy-back announced to the ASX on 29 August 
2019. 

Impact of COVID-19 on post balance date trading 
Whilst the Directors note the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact global markets, including jurisdictions that 
Link Group operates in, Link Group has shown resilience and has been proactive in response to these challenges. The 
future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic remains uncertain.  

Retirement of Managing Director 
On 7 August 2020 Link Group announced that John McMurtrie will retire as Managing Director of Link Group in early 
2021 and will be succeeded by Vivek Bhatia as Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer. Vivek Bhatia, currently 
QBE Chief Executive Officer, Australia Pacific, was the standout candidate from an extensive international executive 
search as part of a planned succession process. John will work with Vivek over the coming months to ensure a smooth 
transition. 

Other than the matters described above, in the opinion of the Directors, there has not arisen in the interval between the 
end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, 
in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, to affect significantly the operations of Link Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of Link Group, in future financial years. 

33. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED

The following new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2020 have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. None of these new 
standards are expected to be relevant to Link Group, and Link Group does not intend to adopt these standards early. 

• Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards;
• Definition of a Business (Amendments to AASB 3);
• Definition of Material (Amendments to AASB 101 and AASB 108); and
• AASB 17 Insurance Contracts.
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04 Directors’ Declaration 

1. In the opinion of the Directors of Link Administration Holdings Limited (the Company):

(a) the consolidated financial statements and notes that are set out on pages 67 to 120 and the Remuneration 
Report on pages 38 to 62 in the Directors’ Report are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of Link Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance for 
the financial year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

2. The Directors have been given the declarations required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 from the 
Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

3. The Directors draw attention to Note 2(a) to the consolidated financial statements, which includes a statement
of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

Michael Carapiet John McMurtrie 
Chair Managing Director 

Dated 27 August 2020 at Sydney. 
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